SOIL BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONING AND RECOVERY IN SOILS DISTURBED FROM BAKKEN OIL AND

GAS ACTIVITIES

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Zachary John Bartsch

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

> Major Department: Soil Science

> > March 2022

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

SOIL BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONING AND RECOVERY IN SOILS DISTURBED FROM BAKKEN OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES

By

Zachary John Bartsch

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this *disquisition* complies with North

Dakota State University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the

degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Thomas DeSutter Chair

Dr. Caley Gasch

Dr. Francis Casey

Dr. Miranda Meehan

Approved:

March 29, 2022 Date Francis Casey Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Oil and gas activity-related soil disturbances can alter soil properties and reduce microbial function, which is crucial for nutrient cycling and proper soil function. The goal of this research was to investigate effects of remediation techniques on soil biological property recovery following various types of oil and gas disturbances. A series of studies evaluating microbial abundance, crop growth, and biological properties were conducted on crude oil-contaminated subsoils remediated either with thermal desorption or land farming. Thermally desorbed subsoil achieved similar yields to non-contaminated topsoil after four years. Additionally, biological properties in blended soil (1:1 topsoil to subsoil) were studied using two biostimulant inoculant products. Overall, biostimulant amendment improved microbial responses and plant growth over the control. While blended subsoil and/or remediated subsoil could replace topsoil during instances of topsoil scarcity and can facilitate soil biological property recovery similar to topsoil, biostimulants improved biological metrics regardless of soil blend.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This thesis is the culmination of time, support, and guidance of many individuals whom without I would not be writing this. First, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my advisor Dr. Tom DeSutter, for his mentorship, friendship, patience, and relentless belief in me- thank you. Further, I am extremely grateful for the contributions of Dr. Caley Gasch, who was instrumental in laboratory and data analysis, and helped me grow as a writer. Similarly, someone who I cannot forget to acknowledge is my boss, Matt Retka, who has demonstrated great understanding as I worked under him while also completing my thesis. I would also like to express my appreciation for my additional committee members, Drs. Frank Casey and Miranda Meehan, and the many faculty and staff members in the other programs of the School or Natural Resource Sciences.

In the lab or in the field, this thesis would not have been possible without the vast experience and insight of the SNRS research specialists; including, the wonderful Kevin Horsager for his guidance and stories throughout all phases of my research projects, and Joel Bell, and his assistance in preparing materials for lab work. To my fellow graduate students at NDSU, thank you for the comradery, friendship, and mental support!

Finally, I need to thank my parents, sisters, and friends, for their unwavering emotional support and encouragement from start to finish. And last but not at all least, Becki, thank you for your steadfast love and support throughout my master's (and meals while I was working on this thesis).

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES	x
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
THESIS ORGANIZATION	3
CHAPTER 1. CREATIVE USE OF BIOSTIMULANTS TO IMPROVE SOIL BIOLOGICAL PROPERTY RECOVERY IN RECLAIMED SOILS: A REVIEW	4
Abstract	4
Introduction	4
Biostimulants Types and Effects on Soil Biological Properties	7
Humic Substances	7
Seaweed Extracts	9
Organic and Inorganic Wastes	11
Microbial Inoculants	13
Conclusion	15
Literature Cited	15
CHAPTER 2. PLANT GROWTH, SOIL PROPERTIES, AND MICROBIAL COMMUNITY FOUR YEARS AFTER THERMAL DESORPTION ¹	27
Abstract	27
Introduction	27
Materials and Methods	
Study Site Description	
Crop Production and Sorghum Sampling	31
Soil Sampling	
Quantification of Mycorrhizal Colonization	
Microbial Biomarker Analysis	34

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Gram+ and Gram- Bacteria	35
Statistical Analyses	35
Results and Discussion	
Sorghum Yield and Biomass	
AMF Root Colonization	
Total Microbial Abundance	42
Saprophytic Fungi	45
Soil Bacteria	46
Actinomycetes	
Conclusions	
Literature Cited	
CHAPTER 3. MICROBIAL ACTIVITY AND HARD RED SPRING WHEAT GROWTH IMPROVEMENT FOLLOWING BIOSTIMULANT APPLICATION	
Abstract	59
Introduction	59
Material and Methods	61
Soil Site Description and Soil Physical Properties	61
Experimental Design	62
Cumulative CO ₂ Efflux	63
Wheat Production	64
Biomass and Root Sampling	65
Soil Sampling	65
Microbial Biomarker Analysis	66
Quantification of Mycorrhizal Colonization	66
Statistical Analysis	67
Results and Discussion	67
Soil Properties	67
Biological Properties	73

Cumulative Soil CO ₂ Efflux	74
AMF Colonization	76
AMF Community Composition	77
Total Microbial Abundance	80
Soil Bacteria (Non-Filamentous)	81
Eukaryotes	82
Saprotrophic Fungi	83
Actinomycetes	83
Conclusions	
Literature Cited	84
OVERALL CONCLUSIONS	97
APPENDIX	

LIST OF TABLES

Tal	ble	Page
1.	Effect (positive "+", negative "-", or not significant "ns") of humic substance amendment on selected soil biological metric relative to the control treatment; studies are grouped according to study setting, author, humic ingredient (and source), and the metric.	8
2.	Common compounds or chemicals in seaweed extracts used as biostimulant products	10
3.	Growing season air temperature and rainfall 30-yr averages (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Regional Climate Centers xmACIS, 2020). The 18-yr potential evapotranspiration (PET) and 2019 rainfall was collected from the Ross, ND reporting station within the North Dakota Agricultural Weather Network (NDAWN, 2020).	31
4.	Characteristics of the soil treatments and composted manure used in this study. Total carbon (TC), Total nitrogen (IN), phosphorus (Olsen-P), potassium (K ₂ O), Calcium (Ca), Magnesium (Mg), Zinc (Zn), Sulfur (S), and Sodium (Na).	33
5.	Mean values (with standard deviation) of sorghum grain yield, aboveground biomass (AGB), AMF root colonization percentages, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) abundance, and soil organic carbon (SOC) for each treatment in 2019. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).	38
6.	Mean values (with standard deviation) of saprophytic fungi, actinomycetes, Gram positive (Gram+) bacteria, Gram negative (Gram-) bacteria, and eukaryotic biomarker abundances for each treatment in 2019. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).	44
7.	Characteristics of the soil mixes used in this study. Soil organic carbon (OC), total carbon (TC), Nitrate-N (NO ₃ -N), phosphorus (Olsen-P), potassium (K), electrical conductivity (EC), and gravimetric water content at field capacity (FCOg).	62
8.	Biostimulant product ingredient breakdown composition	63
9.	ANOVA of selected soil properties (with standard deviation) for each treatment.	69
10.	ANOVA of biological properties (with standard deviation) for each treatment	70
11.	Correlation coefficients for Nitrogen (N), Phosphorus (P), Potassium (K), Soil Organic Carbon (SOC), Dry Biomass, Recoverable Root Biomass, Total Microbial Abundance, <i>absolute</i> abundances of AMF, Percent Colonization (via AMF), <i>and absolute</i> abundances of Actinomycetes, Gram+ Bacteria (Gram+), Gram- Bacteria (Gram-), Eukaryotes, Saprotrophic Fungi, and CO ₂ efflux (Cumulative).	71
12.	Mean microbial group percent composition (and standard deviation) of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), saprophytic fungi, actinomycetes, gram-positive bacteria, gram-negative bacteria, and eukaryotes.	79

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig	ure	<u>Page</u>
1.	Principle component analysis of biological and soil chemical data with loadings identified by arrow and text annotation. Amount of variance explained is 49.3% (component 1) and 20.1% (component 2). Samples are identified by soil treatments, which are native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA). [Note] Actino-Actinomycetes, AMF- Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, Eukary- Eukaryotes, Fungi- Saprophytic fungi, Gram Gram negative bacteria, Gram+ - Gram positive bacteria, AGB- Aboveground dry biomass, SOC- soil organic carbon.	39
2.	Total microbial PLFA biomarker abundance (microbial abundance; x-axis) plotted against grain sorghum aboveground dry biomass yields from 2019. Data is from one growing season. Difference symbols indicate different soil treatments. The linear regression line (dashed black line) is displayed along with R ² value and p-value from linear model. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).	45
3.	Gram positive (Gram+) and Gram negative (Gram-) bacteria ratios for the year 2019. Different letters within each pane indicate differences between soil types identified by Tukey's HSD test at α =0.05. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).	47
4.	Nitrate-N (NO3 ₃ -N; panel A), Phosphorus (Olsen-P; panel B), Total Microbial Abundance (panel C), and Cumulative CO ₂ efflux across all biostimulant treatments and clustered according to soil blend ratio with error bars. Different letters indicate significant differences between values between biostimulant treatment Control, SSB [®] , or ProGanics [™] in each soil blend. Soil Treatments are: topsoil control, TS100; topsoil and subsoil mixed 1:1 by volume, TS50; topsoil and subsoil mixed 3:1 by volume, TS25; topsoil and subsoil mixed 7:1 by volume, TS12.5; and 100% subsoil, TS0. Biostimulant treatments are: No biostimulant Control, Liventia SSB [®] , and Profile ProGanics [™] .	72

LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

Table	<u>Page</u>
A1. List of fatty acid chain biomarkers used for Gram positive (Gram+) and Gram negative	
(Gram-) bacteria abundances and the Gram+ : Gram- ratio	98

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Soil is an invaluable resource that provides many services to the ecosystem and humanity but is experiencing oil and gas (O&G) related disturbances for extraction and transportation infrastructure development. Commonly, O&G disturbances involve topsoil stripping, stockpiling, and accidental contamination of soil which disrupt soil aggregates, reduce soil organic matter, and mix topsoil and subsoil, lowering biological activity and soil health, necessitating contaminant removal and/or reclamation to ensure ecosystem health. In the Great Plains of the United States O&G resources are abundant but often reside beneath the soil surface where crops are being grown (Conant et al., 2018), and present potential issues for landowners that depend on soil productivity for their livelihood such as crop or livestock production.

Because the greatest inhibitor of soil reclamation success is soil microbial community recovery, due to microbial driven nutrient cycling and plant growth promotion, more holistic reclamation methods must be chosen or developed (Croat et al., 2020), and may or may not require adding or altering current industry practices. Biological recovery may be achieved by conserving impacts to native topsoil, introducing sources of organic matter, and minimizing abiotic stress and may also include the use of a range of novel living and non-living organic materials made into soil amendments called "biostimulants." However, some reclamation and remediation methods' effects on long-term soil biological recovery are not yet thoroughly studied. For example, thermal desorption allows for crude oil contaminants to be neutralized while allowing soil materials to have reduced concentrations of hydrocarbons, but alters soil properties and microbial communities.

Additionally, soil-mixing is an inevitable outcome of soil handling processes which introduces subsoil to topsoil and disrupts soil aggregation (Wick et al., 2009). Notably, subsoils can contain different chemical levels compared to topsoil (i.e. Na, CaCO₃) that diminish topsoil quality and/or chemical properties, potentially affecting future plant productivities. Although chemical amendments have been observed to combat these changes to an extent, such as gypsum used to displace Na, or inorganic fertilizers to boost crop yield, mixed soils generally continue to display reduced organic matter concentrations, and lower microbial diversity and abundance decades following reclamation (Taylor et al.,

2002; Viall et al., 2014). Therefore, further studies on novel methods to enhance biological property recovery following soil disturbances and reclamation are needed.

THESIS ORGANIZATION

This thesis contains three chapters organized in manuscript format. Chapter 1 is a literature review of biostimulants and their utilization in soil reclamation focusing on the main ingredient types, and their observed effects on plant growth, soil nutrients, and soil microbiological communities. Due to the new attention on biostimulants, the majority of peer-reviewed papers available that have investigated biostimulants are in strictly agricultural or horticultural settings. Therefore, Chapter 1 utilizes some agricultural research and connects findings to its potential in soil reclamation. The second chapter is a field and lab study titled "Plant Growth, Soil Properties, and Microbial Community Four Years After Thermal Desorption" and investigates crop growth and soil microbial communities four years after crude oil contaminated soil was thermally desorbed. This chapter has been accepted within *Agronomy Journal*. Chapter 3, "Microbial Activity and Hard Red Spring Wheat Growth Improvement Following Biostimulant Application," is an exploratory study on using two different types of biostimulant products to improve plant growth and microbial activity in blended soils in a greenhouse. The totality of this research provides information that is primarily focused on recovery, functionality, and improvement of soil biological metrics following Q&G-related disturbances.

CHAPTER 1. CREATIVE USE OF BIOSTIMULANTS TO IMPROVE SOIL BIOLOGICAL PROPERTY RECOVERY IN RECLAIMED SOILS: A REVIEW

Abstract

Dating back to ancient civilizations, organically-derived amendments, or "biostimulants", have been used to improve crop growth and yields, and are widely studied in agricultural and horticultural settings. Following soil disturbances, overall soil function and productivity is lowered, and challenges reclamation success and biological recovery. As a result, there has been growing interest and marketing for using biostimulants in reclamation to improve reclamation success. However, there have not been adequate peer reviewed studies documenting their use or benefits in reclamation. Thus, studies describing their influence on soil reclamation is needed to determine if biostimulant products and/or application methods could be efficiently implemented in the field. This review details available research on biostimulant products and their ingredients' uses for improving soil biological property metrics in soil reclamation settings. In some instances, inadequate literature was available for a given biostimulant ingredient, and was supplemented by papers with a setting in degraded soils. Broadly, all potential ingredients contained positive effects on biological metrics such as crop growth, abiotic stress tolerance, and increased microbial abundance, but the reported responses heavily depended on the type of biostimulant applied. Overall, the literature reviewed suggest biostimulants can be tools for enhancing reclamation and could be considered for use by reclamation professionals with further studies.

Introduction

Disturbance of soil resources for oil and gas infrastructure development is necessary for safe and economical extraction and transportation of target fossil fuels (Martínez-Palou et al., 2011; Fernando and Stika, 2021). The disturbances may include well pad and access road construction, pipeline installation, or soil contamination from accidental releases of crude oil or produced water, and will all require remediation or reclamation at some point to ensure future land productivity and public health and safety (O'Brien et al., 2017). For example, over 23,000 acres of land in western North Dakota were converted from farmland to well pad and access roads and had 200 m³ of uncontained crude oil spills on soil from June 2018 through June 2019 (Croat et al., 2020; Fernando and Stika, 2021). Regardless of the disturbance type or subsequent soil remediation, reclamation, or restoration method, these disturbances

disrupt soil microaggregation and pore networks, reduce microbial activity, and risk soil organic carbon (SOC) loss via mineralization or erosion (Ingram et al., 2005; Anderson et al., 2008; Wick et al., 2009, Gasch et al., 2014). Ultimately, this degraded soil can inhibit soil biological recovery and future plant yields without chemical fertilizer or additional SOC inputs (Croat et al., 2020), further threatening soil salinization (Shrivastava and Kumar, 2015), soil erosion (Brindle, 2003), or reduced SOC accumulation. Because soil biological properties participate in soil physical and chemical property recovery, identifying novel reclamation strategies that mitigate impacts to soil biological properties is imperative.

Although different processes, oil and gas disturbances can degrade soil in a similar fashion to conventional agricultural practices, such as how tillage disrupts porosity, reduces microbial activity and nutrient availability, and potentially salinizes soil (Caolderón et al., 2001; Grandy and Robertson, 2007). Due to the increasing interest in alleviating the effects of conventional agricultural practices on soil and surrounding environments (tillage, chemical fertilizers, and herbicides), biostimulant products have held increased relevance in the ag sector and in scientific literature (Calvo et al, 2014; Rouphael and Colla, 2018; Karapouloutidou and Gasparatos, 2019). Biostimulants are products applied in agricultural or horticultural settings with the purpose to enhance SOC accumulation, improve vegetative function and stress tolerance, or to promote microbiological nutrient cycling (du Jardin, 2015). While the effects of biostimulants on soil biological function in agricultural settings are well-reported (du Jardin, 2015; Tejada et al., 2011; Desoky et al., 2018), literature examining the potential of biostimulants in enhancing recovery of biological properties in disturbed/degraded soils is lacking (Tuttobene et al., 2009). Due to the vast number of products and brands available, further studies are needed.

Despite the number of products on the market being advertised to reclamation professionals, and a projected global market of value of \$4.5 billion by 2027 (Business Wire, 2020), biostimulants are not actively regulated by the United States government, with only draft guidance available (US EPA, 2020). Thus, independent studies reporting if (or how) different biostimulants can enhance reclamation in disturbed soil is vital. Biostimulant ingredient sources range from various organic materials such as, humic substances (HS), seaweed extracts, manure, industrial wastes, compost, and living microbial cultures (Tejada et al., 2006; Brown and Sea, 2015). However, each ingredient or specific sources of

materials may influence plants and the soil ecosystem differently, and numerous questions remain pertaining to ideal application rates, timing, method, or plant growth stages (Rouphael and Colla, 2018).

Some HS have been reported to benefit soil aggregation and potential accumulation of recalcitrant SOC (Piccolo, 2002), while improving microbiological activity and plant growth (Rose et al., 2014). On the other hand, seaweed products used as foliar sprays or soil amendments have been reported to increase plant stress tolerance through various avenues, but were also applied with HS (Rayirath et al., 2009; Battacharyya et al., 2015), and may confound exact interpretations. Other seaweeds can contain the major growth regulating hormones, and have doubled root or shoot growth (Zhang et al., 2003; Neily et al., 2010; Zhang et all, 2010; Spann and Little, 2011; Lötze and Hoffman, 2016; Lötze and Hoffman, 2017). Additionally, microbial communities are necessary for soil functioning and organic matter decomposition, but provide different benefits to soil biological properties if symbiotes are applied to host plants (Kuimei et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2019), and may display more positive results with specific host species than what is actually grown (Janoušková et al., 2013; Gu et al., 2020). In the end, comparing products to other products is complicated due the variety of sources for formulation, but also due to private companies keeping ingredients as proprietary information to protect their business. Therefore, without continued or consistent synthesis of data on biostimulants in reclamation settings, it may be difficult to determine what products, if any, are more valuable in recovering soil biological function after disturbances.

Thus, this review aims to identify the broad sources and ingredients commonly used as or used in biostimulants. A single ingredient that is commonly used as a biostimulant amendment will be introduced and discussed before introducing a new ingredient type. Discussion will focus on an ingredient's reported effects on plant or soil properties, beneficial or not. However, determining specific physiological mechanisms is beyond the scope of this review, as this topic has been discussed in preceding studies and is naturally highly spatially variable. Studies describing their use in agriculture is plentiful, but the use of biologicals in reclamation is not. Therefore, when studies in reclamation were not available, studies on highly degraded or marginal soil were included, and are directed to potential uses in reclamation. Finally, the general conclusions will include practical implications pertaining to using biostimulants as a

reclamation tool, and will outline precautions for potential hurdles for utilizing biostimulants on a largescale.

Biostimulants Types and Effects on Soil Biological Properties

Humic Substances

Humic substances are partially decomposed and disordered organic compounds (mostly carboxyls, phenolic and alcoholic hydroxils, and more) derived from plant tissues and microbial biomass, and can constitute >50% of soil organic matter (Stevenson, 1994; Brookes et al., 2008; Park et al., 2015). Humic substances are synthesized during humification, but are considered more labile than fully humified soil (Tate, 1992). Thus, its natural production and value as a commercial product is entirely dependent on soil properties. Due to the natural heterogeneity and scale of soil ecosystems (Zanin et al., 2019), exact structures or concentrations in HS for comparison are difficult to determine (Table 1; Dell'Abate et al., 2002; Fong and Mohamed, 2007). For example, areas with high C plant residue addition and anaerobic conditions can increase the C content of the humic fraction, whereas HS in upland aerobic areas can contain different components from different decomposition or nutrient cycles (Olk et al., 2006). Generally, HS are extracted from the soil using alkaline solutions in order to produce a solution of humic material, and are known commercially as humic and fulvic acids.

Numerous studies suggest that humic and fulvic acids positively influence plant and root growth in reclaimed, disturbed, or saline soil, and can improve some contaminant degradation rates (Canellas and Olvares, 2014; Kandil et al., 2016). Application of these biostimulants is achieved via dispersal into soil in a solution, or as a foliar spray (Kandil et al., 2016). Generally, HS are paired with gypsum or Ca, or other biostimulants when applied to saline soil (Türkmen et al., 2007; Nan et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2019; Abourayya et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2020). In other instances, HS may be applied as solids, such as leonardite, where application in a crude-oil-contaminated soil enhanced degradation rates due to their sorptive nature as well as stimulating soil enzymatic activity compared to the control (Turgay et al., 2009). In addition, Rose et al. (2014) conducted a meta-analysis showing a 22% increase in root and shoot dry weights in response to HS applications. Similarly, field-grown potato yields increased 13 to 17% following HS application compared to the control treatments (Verlinden et al., 2009).

Table 1. Effect (positive "+", negative "-", or not significant "ns") of humic substance amendment on selected soil biological metric relative to the control treatment; studies are grouped according to study setting, author, humic ingredient (and source), and the metric.

Author	Ingredient (Source)	Metric	Effect (+/-)
Saline Soils			
Türkmen et al., 2007	Humic acid (polymeric	-Seed germination	+
	polyhydroxy acid)	-Root biomass	+
		-Shoot biomass	+
Nan et al., 2016	Humic acid (Lignite coal)	-Bulk density	+
		-SOM	+
		-Soil aggregation	+
Live at al. 0040		One in a sind of	
Liu et al., 2019	Humic acid (unidentified)	-Grain yield	+
		-Rool biomass	+
		-Shoot biomass	+
			+
		-SOW -Bacterial diversity	ne
		-Euncal diversity	+
		a ungar unversity	
Liu et al., 2020	Humic acid (unidentified)	-SOM	+
		-Soil aggregation	+
		-EC	-
		-N	+
Agricultural Soils			
Haider et al., 2015	Humic acid (commercial	-Total plant biomass	ns
	product)		
Wagas et al. 2014	Humic acid (Lignite coal)	-Grain vield	+
Wayas et al., 2014	Hume acid (Lighte coal)		
Dincsov and	Humic acid (unidentified)	-Grain vield	+
Sönmez, 2019	(, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	,	
Soil Contamination			
Turgay et al., 2010	Humic substance	-Semivolative	+
	(leonardite coal)	hydrocarbon	
		degradation	
		-Heavy petroleum	+
		hydrocarbon	
		degradation	
		-Urease activity	+

However, some specific modes of action are still not fully understood for plant enhancement and contaminant degradation (Shah et al., 2018). Due to different charges and random molecular structures resulted from the disordered humic material, HS can form supramolecules via hydrogen bonds, and chelate nutrients, digestive enzymes, sugars, or plant hormones (Tahir et al., 2012). For example, auxin is a plant hormone that stimulants plant cell elongation and growth (Canellas et al., 2015). Due to the

abundance of auxin and auxin-like molecules (Ferro et al., 2006) that exist in soil, they may be present in humic acids used as biostimulants.

While microbial activity responds positively with HS addition (Tejada et al., 2011), and may aid in soil aggregation (Zanin et al., 2019; Mosa et al, 2020;), the supramolecular humic networks can also help build aggregation (Piccolo, 2002) through binding to soil particles and prevent of soil organic matter leaching through the soil profile. Over time, the recovery of soil aggregates improves moisture retention, and erosion resistance (Wick et al., 2009; Costa et al., 2018). Additionally, chelated nutrients and phenolic compounds that occur in HS are important sources of C, N, and other nutrients necessary for microbial activity, nutrient cycling, and soil fertility (Canellas et al., 2015; Vaccaro et al., 2015; Zanin et al., 2019). Naturally, HS can be solubilized from SOM and transported through soil to root zones, depositing nutrients for both microbial activity and plant uptake (Vaccaro et al., 2015). Solubilization of O-, N-, and S-containing functional groups can also help form stable complexes with metal micronutrients, such as Fe. This relationship suggests that HS can help hold micronutrients in solution, reducing leaching and increasing bioavailability (Senesi, 1992; Tipping, 2002). Although biostimulant amendments are intended for terrestrial ecosystems, their sources may include marine ecosystems.

Seaweed Extracts

Seaweed has been utilized in agriculture for centuries (Khan et al., 2009), and may be undervalued as a biostimulant amendment for reclamation. These multicellular macroalgae are essential pieces in marine ecosystems, and may contain over 10,000 different species (Battacharyya et al., 2015). The three main types of seaweed used are brown, green, and red, which contain unique substances valuable in regards to plant physiology (Khan et al., 2009; Matysiak et al., 2011; Battacharyya, et al., 2015). Specifically, the natural biologically active compounds are thought to influence numerous plant properties such as abiotic stress tolerance, plant growth and yield, and increased root/shoot ratio (Battacharyya et al., 2015). Common constituents in extracts are shown in Table 2.

Extract	Ingredient (Source)	Author
Inorganic nutrients (Such as N, P, K, Ca ²⁺ , Fe ³⁺ , Zn, Na ⁺ , and	Brown seaweed powder (Ascophyllum nodosum)	Rayirath et sl., 2009
S)		Abdel-Fattah and Merwad, 2016
Lipophilic components	Brown seaweed powder (<i>Ascophyllum nodosum</i>)	Abdel-Fattah and Merwad, 2016
Polysaccharides	Brown seaweed powder (Ascophyllum nodosum)	Abdel-Fattah and Merwad, 2016
	Brown seaweed (<i>Laminaria digitata</i>)	Mercier et al., 2001
Amino Acids	Green seaweed (Ulva armoricanai)	Fleurence,1999
	Green seaweed (Ulva Pertusa)	Fuhiwara-Arasaki et al., 1984
	Red seaweed (Palmaria palmata)	Galland-Irmouli et al., 1999
	Red seaweed (Porphyra tenra)	Fowden et al., 1954
Cytokinin	Brown algae powder (<i>Ascophyllum nodosum</i>)	Abdel-Fattah and Merwad, 2016
Indoleacetic acid	Unknown (Extract spray)	Roshdy, 2014
Abscisic acid	Unknown (Extract spray)	Roshdy, 2014
Phytin	Brown algae powder (Ascophyllum nodosum)	Abdel-Fattah and Merwad, 2016

Table 2. Common compounds or chemicals in seaweed extracts used as biostimulant products.

Similar to HS, seaweed biostimulants may be applied in different forms, and may be processed into biostimulant products using a wide range of proprietary extraction processes. However, the method of application and species of seaweed affects the effectiveness, or plant response (Matysiak et al., 2011). For example, green seaweed (*U.* ohnoi) mixed with compost was applied to the soil for sugarcane production and resulted in a sevenfold biomass increase from the low-seaweed treatment (3 g dry weight) and high-seaweed treatment (20.8 g dry weight; Cole et al., 2016). Additionally, the two composts with the greatest proportion of green seaweed were most effective at lowering C:N ratios below 20:1.

Importantly, soil application of seaweed can enhance soil bacterial diversity and activity of enzymes involved with C and N cycling. Wang et al. (2018) reported fermented seaweed application increased dehydrogenase activity, an indicator of SOM decomposition, by an average of 120%. Meanwhile, enzymes crucial to the N cycle, protease (r = 0.328) and urease (r = 0.374), were positively associated with total bacterial community composition. In another study, brown algae species *Ecklonia maxima* and *Saragassum* spp. improved seed germination 16.3-18.8% relative to the control and humic acid treatments via soaking, but only the *Saragassum* sp. significantly increased maize shoot biomass. When the same treatments were used for foliar application, plant growth was only improved by the seaweed by approximately 29.7% (Matysiak et al., 2011). Therefore, investigating biostimulant products

for redundancies in plant effects may be beneficial for improving the cost-efficiency of soil reclamation professionals by reducing the need for additional fertilizer inputs.

Soil disturbances in drought-prone or salt-stressed areas can further complicate reclamation activities whether the goal of reclamation is to revegetate the area with perennial vegetation or produce agricultural crops (O'Brien, 2017). During a drought-stress study, seaweed extracts increased water content in soybeans (*Glycine max*) by 50% (Shukla et al., 2017). In citrus trees, Neily et al. (2010) reported that a foliar-applied brown seaweed (*A. nodosum*) treatment was also successful in maintaining tree root and shoot growth rates under 50% deficit irrigation, possibly due to the product containing plant growth hormones, and an enhanced stress response from phenolics or betaines, which can be found in seaweeds. Similarly, various seaweeds can contain high levels of the plant growth-stimulating primary metabolite- auxin (Tarakhovskaya et al., 2007; Zhao, 2010; Lötze and Hoffman, 2016; Lötze and Hoffman, 2017). Although there have been few studies until recently on using seaweed extracts strictly in reclamation settings, these findings suggest utilization of processed seaweeds could improve reclamation success through enhancing plant growth. In turn, if plant biomass is improved with seaweed extract, plant residues can then enter the soil system, and be decomposed by soil microbes helping to restore SOC and sustainable soil functioning.

Organic and Inorganic Wastes

Manure, or animal waste, is a well-documented organic fertilizer and nutrient source for plants and microbial communities. However, the opposite is true about the advantage of using waste materials like wood pulps, industrial or sewage sludges, or food processing wastes obtained from industrial processes for use as biostimulants (Charmley et al., 2006). Some materials, such as sewages, require microbial-driven anaerobic digestion prior to use in order to reduce odors, pest attraction, waste volume, pathogens, or unintended secondary environmental impacts (US EPA, 2015). For more benign materials, little-to-no pre-application treatment is required. An example is orange peel waste that was used as organic fertilizer in the Mediterranean, which had been experiencing losses of soil fertility from intensive agriculture (Tuttobene et al., 2009). In a two-year study, different rates of orange waste (4 and 8 kg m⁻²) high in organic C was applied as fertilizer; the authors reported a 400% increase in plant biomass compared to mineral fertilizer while producing similar grain yields (Tuttobene et al., 2009). The greatest

rate of orange waste was observed to decrease wheat yields in that same timeframe, and ultimately suggests some lower rates of waste can supplement or replace mineral fertilizers for two-years while increasing biomass growth and potential SOC formation via plant litter before a potential new waste source is needed.

In addition to containing high amounts of organic C, industry wastes have been observed to act as sources of other nutrients for microorganisms and could provide additional reclamation benefits in disturbed soil. According to d'Errico et al., (2013), composted vegetable waste encouraged soil bioremediation of eutrophic waste lagoon sediments via a soil priming effect that increased degradation of organic-rich molecules, thereby potentially increasing organic matter turnover (Christofoletti et al., 2013). Though some industrial wastes are approved to be land applied, their intentional use as biostimulants for reclaiming disturbed soils would provide greater benefits to the overall recovery of the soil ecosystem than on agricultural soils with adequate topsoil amounts but may require creative problem solving (Larney and Angers, 2012). One such breakthrough was the use of green compost, paper mill sludge, and thermally treated soil contaminated by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons used to grow rye and alfalfa (Séré et al., 2008). Plots were constructed in layers mimicking soil horizons with the mentioned components and produced greater total biomass (0.92 kg m⁻²) relative to the control (0.59 kg m⁻²; Séré et al., 2008).

Often, reclamation may require contaminated soil to be deposited at landfills and for foreign replacement soil to be brought in. Likewise, many food (and industrial) wastes are lost as a resource to landfills (US EPA, 2015). Another approach to utilize otherwise discarded industrial byproducts is spent lime (calcium carbonate; CaCO₃) used to refine sugar beets (*Beta vulgaris* L.) in the Red River Valley of North Dakota and Minnesota (DeSutter and Godsey, 2010), where its use as a soil treatment spent lime was reported to lower %Na by 35% (Breker et al., 2018), and increase microbial activity >50% in saline soil, and >430% in thermally desorbed soil (Kruger et al., 2020). Additionally, spent beet lime was observed to achieve 33% and 46% greater root and aboveground biomass, respectively, than other available commercial lime products while increasing soil pH (DeSutter and Godsey, 2010). These observations demonstrating spent lime's potential to facilitate microbial recovery, and ameliorating disagreeable soil properties. Together, Séré et al. (2008), and the other authors cited above provide a

possible resolution to disposing of soils and byproducts, where industrial waste and remediated soil are utilized together to conserve soil resources and deserves greater consideration when designing reclamation and waste-stream studies.

Microbial Inoculants

Soil microbiology is often undervalued during reclamation processes, but is important to consider for their role in nutrient cycling, soil formation, and plant interactions, and are potentially the largest determiner of reclamation success (Vaill et al., 2014; Sheoran et al., 2015; Thavamani et al., 2017). Using beneficial microbes for agricultural or horticultural purposes is a long-standing practice, such as inoculating legume seeds with *Rhizobia* spp. (Deaker et al., 2004; O'Callaghan, 2016), or to improve pest resistance (Valenzuela-Soto et al., 2009). Despite the documented studies of beneficial microbes and crop growth improvement, there has been comparably fewer studies on the potential of microbial biostimulants on enhancing reclamation, especially in regions with adverse or challenging climates. Under standard reclamation practices soil microbial biomass and microbial-derived SOC levels decrease and may require >30 yrs to return to pre-disturbance levels (Mummey et al., 2002; Dangi et al., 2014; Vaill et al., 2014). Thus, biostimulants containing live microbial inoculants may be a tool that shortens the reclamation timeline and recovery of microbial biomass.

Understandably, inoculating reclaimed soils is expected to improve reclamation by encouraging microbial decomposition of organic matter, and plant-microbe mutualistic symbiosis through increasing the abundance of symbiotic soil microbes (Bago et al., 2000). Non-symbiotic bacteria and fungi are decomposers, breaking down organic matter into bioavailable compounds that can increase plant function and nutrition without directly associating with them (Sahain et al., 2007). Oppositely, symbiotic microorganisms such as rhizobacteria or mycorrhizal fungi help plants obtain nutrients (Rouphael and Colla, 2018) by forming mutualistic relationships, where microbes access nutrients, or by producing digestive enzymes to breakdown organic matter into plant available forms. By introducing symbiotes or reclaiming soil with microbial properties in mind, revegetation success may be enhanced through improving plant nutrition (Ingram et al., 2005; Boldt-Burisch, 2018). As an example, Sahain et al. (2007) determined that a commercial biostimulant with 60 soil microbial species improved leaf N, P, and K, increasing fruit weight by 7.5%, while total bacteria, fungal, and actinomyces abundance increased 1-2-

fold each, relative to the control following amendment in reclaimed calcareous soil in Egypt. At the same time, if N-fixing bacteria *Rhizobacteria* spp. are present in the inoculation, there may be an increase in the rate of atmospheric N fixation and conversion to ammonia, supporting plant growth and SOC (Hayat et al., 2010; Pagano and Miransari, 2016).

In addition to N, P uptake in most terrestrial plant roots can be increased with symbiotic relationships to arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF; Schüßler et al., 2001). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi form arbuscules (nutrient exchange sites) and vesicles (nutrient storage site) in host plant roots. The hyphal network produced by AMF in and around the rhizosphere act as an extension of the plant roots, increasing the total surface area for P acquisition through enzymatic activity. The N and C pools in reclaimed soil can also be positively influenced with AMF (Kuimei et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2019). In the presence of AMF, SOC and ammonium (NH₄⁺) was significantly increased, while also reducing soil salinity levels, known to affect plant growth (Zhang et al., 2019). Similarly, Kuimei et al. (2012) observed that AMF were positively associated with SOC increases in reclaimed mining soil versus soils without AMF, indicating AMF's role in potential SOC accumulation in disturbed soil. However, AMF alone may not be enough to significantly improve reclamation in severely disturbed landscapes, such as mine tailings (Boldt-Burisch, 2017), as there is evidence microbially diverse soils are more successful in improving plant growth and microbial recovery (Colla et al., 2015; Rouphael and Colla, 2018; Gu et al., 2020), suggesting that the greater diversity of species in products will allow for greater microbial resilience.

As climatic regimes are expected to change globally, abiotic stressors may become more prevalent and extreme in coming years (Begum et al., 2019). Water is essential for microbial activity and for plant function to produce biomass, however, reclaimed soil in semi-arid regions experience frequent water shortages that threaten biomass production and microbial populations. Fortunately, studies have reported plant-AMF associations can increase water-use efficiency and grain yield significantly greater than non-inoculated soil, due to the increased soil exploratory capabilities of hyphal networks (Al-Karaki et al., 1998; Yildirim et al., 2006; Afshar et al., 2014), improved stomatal conductance (Augé et al., 2015), or manipulating enzymatic antioxidant levels (Li et al., 2019). The association between AMF and plants can also significantly reduce plant stress resulting from salinity (Sylvia et al., 1993; Begum et al., 2019; El-Shazly, 2020). Although salt accumulation in soil can occur naturally, it may transpire unnaturally in

irrigated croplands (Shehzad et al., 2020), reclaimed areas where subsoils with salts are mixed with topsoil (Wick et al., 2009), or when deep-rooted native vegetation is cleared and replaced with shallow-rooted annual vegetation which mobilizes salts upwards with the water table (Hatton et al., 2003; Wong et al., 2008). In induced drought stress, Yildirim et al. (2006) compared six different microbial plant biostimulants to observe salinity tolerance in squash, and reported all treatments containing either bacteria or fungi produced significantly greater growth than the control, and helped reduce Na uptake by the plant while maintaining adequate K:Na ratios within plants. By reducing stress, plant growth can be improved and provide greater root and shoot biomass that can return to the soil for microbial decomposition. This relationship can be explored easily by reclamation professionals as numerous companies have inoculation products in mulches, sprays, or other materials, that may improve reclamation success in regions with environmental conditions that challenge soil reclamation.

Conclusion

Ultimately, soil biological properties are necessary to restore to rebuild nutrient pools, SOC, and soil functioning. Biostimulants offer promises for the agricultural sector, but could be more studied in largescale reclamation studies. From the available research, it seems hopeful that the organic amendments outlined can enhance soil reclamation from myriad disturbances, and may display synergistic properties when applied together. Specifically, foliar application of biostimulants may be more successful in quickening reclamation timelines when applied with microbial inoculants and industrial waste. However, this literature review process demonstrated some biostimulant products are difficult to transparently report and compare evenly due to technological copyrights, or incomplete ingredient lists, and rarely were more than one product examined at a time. Therefore, there is a need for further studying the effect of these products when- two or three products are used together, which may help determine efficient waste streams and partners for reclamation in the regions the disturbances are occurring.

Literature Cited

Abdel-Fattah, M.K., and A.M.A. Merwad. 2016. Approach for reclamation and improving fertility of saline-sodic soils. Egyptian Journal of Soil Science. 56(4):573-588. doi:10.21608/ejss.2016.3330
Abourayya, M.S., N.E. Kaseem, T.S.M. Mahmoud, A.M. Rakha, R.A. Eisa, and O.A. Amin. 2020. Impact of soil application with humic acid and foliar spray of Milagro bio-stimulant on vegetative growth

and mineral nutrient uptake of Nonpareil almond young trees under Nubaria conditions. Bulletin if the National Research Centre. 44:38. doi:10.1186/s42269-020-00296-x

- Afshar, R.K., M.A. Jovini, M.R. Chaichi, and M. Hashemi. 2014. Grain sorghum response to arbuscular mycorrhiza and phosphorus fertilizer under deficit irrigation. Agronomy, Soils, & Environmental Quality. 106(4):1212-1218. doi:10.2134/agronj13.0589
- Al-Karaki, G.N. 1998. Benefit, cost, and water-use efficiency of arbuscular mycorrhizal durum wheat grown under drought stress. Mycorrhiza. 8:41-45. doi:10.1007/s0055720050209
- Anderson, J.D., L.J. Ingram, and P.D. Stahl. 2008. Influence of reclamation management practices on microbial biomass carbon and soil organic carbon accumulation in semiarid mined lands in Wyoming. Applied Soil Ecology. 387-397. doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2008.06.008.
- Augé, R.M., H.D. Toler, and A.M. Saxton. 2014. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis alters stomatal conductance of host plants more under drought than under amply watered conditions: a metaanalysis. Mycorrhiza. 25:13-24. doi:10.1007/s00572-014-0585-4
- Bago, B., P.E. Pfeffer, and Y. Shachar-Hill. 2000. Carbon metabolism and transport in arbuscular mycorrhizas. Plant Physiology. 124:949-957. doi:10.1104/pp.124.3.949
- Battacharyya, D., M.Z. Babgohari, P. Rathor, and B. Prithiviraj. 2015. Seaweed extracts as biostimulants in horticulture. Scientia Horticulturae. 196: 39-48. DOI: 10.1016/j.scientia.2015.09.012.
- Boldt-Burisch, K., M.A. Naeth, U. Schneider, B. Schneider, and R. Hüttl. 2018. Plant growth and arbuscular mycorrhizae development in oil sands processing by-products. Science of the Total Environment. 621:30-39. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.188.
- Breker, M.B., T.M. DeSutter, A. Chatterjee, and A.F. Wick. 2018. Microbial response to sodic soil amendments: Ifue-gas gypsum, by-product lime, and langbeinite. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis. 49:22. 2894-2904. doi:10.1080/00103624.2018.1547391
- Brindle, F.A. 2003. Use of native vegetation and biostimulants for controlling soil erosion on steep terrain.
 Transportation Research Record 1819. Oregon Department of Transportation, 355 Capitol Street
 NE, Room 301, Salem, OR, 97301-3871. doi:10.3141/1819a-30

- Brookes, P.C., M.L. Cayuela, M. Contin, M. De Nobili, S.J. Kemmitt, and C. Mondini. 2008. The mineralization of fresh and humified soil organic matter by the soil microbial biomass. Waste Management. 28(4):716-722. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2007.09.015
- Brown, P., and S. Sea. 2015. Biostimulants in agriculture. Frontiers in Plant Science. 6:671. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2015.00671
- Business Wire. 2020. Global Plant Biostimulants Market Report 2020: \$4.5 Billion Trajectory & Analytics
 2012-2027 ResearchAndMarkets.com. Available at:
 https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20201222005359/en/Global-Plant-Biostimulants Market-Report-2020-4.5-Billion-Trajectory-Analytics-2012-2027---ResearchAndMarkets.com
- Calderón, F.J., L.E. Jackson, K.M. Scow, and D.E. Rolston. 2001. Short-term dynamics of nitrogen, microbial activity, and phospholipid fatty acids after tillage. Soil Science Society of America Journal. 65(1):118-126. doi:10.2136/sssaj2001.651118x
- Calvo, P., L. Nelson, and J.W. Kloepper. 2014. Agricultural uses of plant biostimulants. Plant and Soil. 383:3-41. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2131-8
- Canellas, L.P., and F.L. Olivares. 2014. Physiological responses to humic substances as plant growth promoter. Physiological responses to humic substrates as plant growth promoter. 1: 3. doi:10.1186/2196-5641-1-3
- Canellas, L.P., F.L. Olivares, N.O. Aguiar, D.L. Jones, A. Nebbioso, P. Mazzei, and A. Piccolo. 2015. Humic and fulvic acids as biostimulants in horticulture. Scientia Horticulturae. 196: 15-27. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2015.09.013
- Charmley, E., Nelson, D. and Zvomuya, F. 2006. Nutrient cycling in the vegetable processing industry: Utilization of potato by-products. Can. J. Soil Sci. 86: 621?629
- Christofoletti, C. A., J. P. Escher, J. E. Correia, J. F. U Marinho, and C. S. Fontanetti. 2013. Sugarcane vinasse: environmental implications of its use. Waste Manage. 33, 2752–2761. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2013.09.005
- Cole, A.J., D.A. Roberts, A.L. Garside, R. de Nys, and N.A. Paul. 2016. Seaweed compost for agricultural production. Journal of Applied Phycology. 28(1):629-642. doi:10.1007/s10811-015-0544-2

- Colla, G., Y. Rouphael, E. Di Mattia, C. El-Nakhel, and M. Cardarelli. 2015. Co-inoculation of Glomus intraradices and Trichoderma atroviride acts as a biostimulant to promote growth, yield and nutrient uptake of vegetable crops. J. Sci. Food Agric. 95, 1706–1715. doi:10.1002/jsfa.6875.
- Croat, S.J., P.L. O'Brien, C.K. Gasch, F.X.M. Casey, and T.M. DeSutter. 2020. Crop production on heavily disturbed soils following crude oil remediation. Agronomy, Soils, & Environmental Quality. 112:130-138.
- Costa, O.Y.A., J.M. Raaijmakers, and E.E. Kuramae. 2018. Microbial extracellular polymeric substances: ecological function and impact on soil aggregation. Frontiers in Microbiology. 9:1636. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.01636
- Dangi, S.R., P.D. Stahl, A.F. Wick, L.J. Ingram, and J.S. Buyer. 2012. Soil microbial community recovery in reclaimed soils on a surface coal mine site. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 76:915-924. doi:10.2136/sssaj 2011.0288.
- Dinçsoy, M., and F. Sönmez. 2019. The effect of potassium and humic acid applications on yield and nutrient contents of wheat (Triticum aestivum L. var. Delfii) with same soil properties. Journal of Plant Nutrition. 42(20):2757-2772. doi:10.1080/01904167.2019.1658777
- Deaker, R., R.J. Roughley, and I.R. Kennedy. 2004. Legume seed inoculation technology. Soil Biology & Biochemistry. 36(8):1275-1288. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.11.037
- Dell'Abate, M.T., A. Benedetti, A. Trinchera, and C. Dazzi. 2002. Humic substances along the profile of two Typic Haploxerert. Geoderma. 107(3-4):281-296. doi:10.1016/S0016-7061(01)00153-7
- Desoky, E.S.M., A.R.M. Merwad, and M.M. Rady. 2018. Natural biostimulants improve saline soil characteristics and salt stressed-sorghum Performance. Communications in soil science and plant analysis. 49(8):967-983. doi:10.1080/00103624.2018.1448861
- DeSutter, T.M., and C.B. Godsey. 2010. Sugar-beet-processing lime as an amendment for low pH soils. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis. 41:1789-1796. doi:10.1080/00103624.2010.492065
- d'Errico, G., D. Giovannelli, C. Montano, V. Minanovic, M. Ciani, and E. Manini, 2013. Bioremediation of high organic load lagoon sediments: Compost addition and priming effects. Chemosphere. 91(1):99-104. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.11.037

- du Jardin, P. Plant Biostimulants: Definition, concept, main categories and regulation. Scientia Horticulturae. 196:3-14. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2015.09.021
- El-Shazly, M.M. 2020. Effect of using mycorrhizae and biostimulants on productivity of canola under salt stress. Plant Archives. 20:8303-8314.
- Fernando, F.N., and J.A. Stika. 2021. Exploration of unconventional oil and gas (UOAG) development on farmland: Findings from the Bakken shale of North Dakota. The Extractive Industries and Society. 8(1):400-412. doi:10.1016/j.exis.2021.01.001
- Fong, S.S., and M. Mohamed. 2007. Chemical characterization of huic substances occurring in the peats of Sarawak, Malaysia. Organic Geochemistry. 38(6):967-976. doi:10.1016/j.orggeochem.2006.12.010
- Ferro, N., P. Bultinck, A. Gallegos, H. Jacobsen, R. Carbo-Dorca, T. Reinard. 2007. Unrevealed structural requirements for auxin-like molecules by theoretical and experimental evidences. Phytochemistry. 62(2):237-250. doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.10.006
- Fleurence, J. 2018. Seaweed proteins: biochemical, nutritional aspects and potential uses. Proteins in Food Processing. 10:245-262. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-100722-8.00010-3
- Gasch, C., S. Huzurbazar, and P. Stahl. 2014. Measuring soil disturbance effects and assessing soil restoration success by examining distribution of soil properties. Applied Soil Ecology. 76:102-111. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.12.012.
- Grandy, A., and G. Robertson. 2007. Land-use intensity effects on soil organic carbon accumulation rates and mechanisms. Ecosystems. 10:58-73. doi:10.1007/s10021-006-9010-y
- Gu, Y., K. Dong, S. Geisen, W. Yang, Y. Yan, D. Gu, et al. 2020. The effect of microbial inoculant origin on the rhizosphere bacterial community composition and plant growth-promotion. 2020. Plant and Soil. 452(1-2): 105-117. doi:10.1007/s11104-020-0454-w
- Haider, G., H. Koyro, F. Azam, D. Steffens, C. Müller, and C. Kammann. 2015. Biochar but not humic acid product amendment affected maize yields via improving plant-soil moisture relations. Plant and Soil. 395(1-2):141-157. doi:10.1080/01904167.2019.1658777
- Hayat, R. S. Ali, and I. Ahmed. 2010. Soil beneficial bacteria and their role in plant growth promotion: a review. Annals of Microbiology. 60:579-598. doi:10.1007/s13213-010-0117-1

- Ingram, L.J., G.E. Schuman, P.D. Stahl, and L.K. Spackman. 2005. Microbial respiration and organic carbon indicate nutrient cycling recovery in reclaimed soils. Soil Science Society of American Journal. 69:1737-1745. doi:10.2136/sssaj2004.0371
- Janoušková, M., K. Krak, C. Wagg, H. Štorchová, P. Caklová, and M. Vosátka. 2013. Effects of inoculum additions in the presence of a preestablished arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 79(20):6507-6515. doi:10.1128/AEM.02135-13
- Khan, W., U.P. Rayirath, S. Subramanian, M.N. Jithesh, P. Rayorath, D.M. Hodges, et al. 2009. Seaweed extracts as biostimulants of plant growth and development. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation. 28:386-399. doi:10.1007/s00344-009-9103-x
- Kandil, A.A., E.M. Sharief, S.E. Seadh, and D.S.K Altai. 2016. Role of humic acid and amino acids in limiting loss of nitrogen fertilizer and increasing productivity of some wheat cultivars grown under newly reclaimed sandy soil. International Journal of Advanced Research in Biological Sciences. 3(4):123-136.
- Karapouloutidou, S., and D. Gasparatos. 2019. Effects of biostimulant and organic amendment on soil properties and nutrient status of *Lactuca Sativa* in a calcareous saline-sodic soil. Agriculture. 9:1-14. doi:10.3390/agriculture9080164
- Kruger, M., S. Sigdel, C. Gasch, T. DeSutter, J. Harmon, and A. Chatterjee. 2020. Soil carbon dioxide efflux from amended saline and thermally desorbed oil-contaminated subsoil. Agrosystems, Geosciences, & Environment. 3:1-11. doi:10.1002/agg2.20100
- Kuimei, Q, L. Wang, and N. Yin. 2012. Effects of AMF on soil enzyme activity and carbon sequestration capacity in reclaimed mine soil. International Journal of Mining Science and Technology. 22(4): 553-557. doi:10.1016/j.ijmst.2012.01.019
- Larney, F.J., and D.A. Angers. 2012. The role of organic amendments in soil reclamation: A review. Canadian Journal of Soil Science. 92:19-38. doi:10.4141/CJSS2010-064.
- Li, J., B. Meng, H. Chai, X. Yang, W. Song, S. Li, et al. 2019. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi alleviate drought stress in C₃ (Leymus chinensis) and C₄ (Hemarthria altissima) grasses via altering antioxidant enzyme activities and photosynthesis. Frontiers in Plant Science. doi:10.3389/fpls.2019.00499.

- Liu, M., C. Wang, F. Wang, and Y. Xie. 2019. Maize (Zea mays) growth and nutrient uptake following integrated improvement of vermicompost and humic acid fertilizer on coastal saline soil. Applied Soil Ecology. 142:147-154. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.04.024
- Liu, M., C. Wang, X. Liu, Y. Lu, and Y. Wang. 2020. Saline-alkali soil applied with vermicompost and humic acid fertilizer improved macroaggregate microstructure to enhance salt leaching and inhibit nitrogen losses. Applied Soil Ecology. 156:103705. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2020.103705
- Lötze, E., and E.W. Hoffman. 2016. Nutrient composition and content of various biological active compounds of three South African-based commercial seaweed biostimulants. Journal of Applied Phycology. 28:1379-1389. doi:10.1007/s10811-015-0644-z
- Lötze, E., and E.W. Hoffman. 2017. Erratum to: Nutrient composition and content of various biological active compounds of three South African-based commercial seaweed biostimulants. Journal of Applied Phycology. 29:661. doi:10.1007/s10811-016-0870-z
- Martínez-Palou, R., M.L. Mosqueira, B. Zapata-Rendón, E. Mar-Juárez, C. Bernal-Huicochea, J.C.
 Clavel-López, et al. 2011. Transportation of heavy and extra-heavy crude oil by pipeline: a review. Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering. 75(3-4):274-282.
 doi:10.1016/j.petrol.2010.11.020
- Matysiak, K., S. Kaczmarek, and R. Krawczyk. 2011. Influence of seaweed extracts and mixture of humic and fulvic acids on germination and growth of Zea mays L. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Agricultura. 10(1):33-45.
- Mercier, L., C. Lafitte, G. Borderies, X Briand, M.T. Esquerré-Tugayé, and J. Fournier. 2001. The algal polysaccharide carrageenans can act as an elicitor of plant defence. 149(1):43-51. doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2001.00011.x
- Mosa, A., A.A. Taha, amd M. Elsaeid. 2020. Agro-environmental applications of humic substances: a critical review. Egypt. J. Soil Sci. 60(3):211-229. doi:10.21608/ejss.2020.27425.1351
- Mummey, D.L., P.D. Stahl, and J.S. Buyer. 2002. Microbial biomarkers as an indicator of ecosystem recovery following surface mine reclamation. Appl. Soil Ecol. 21:251–259. doi:10.1016/S0929-1393(02)00090-2

- Nan, J., X. Chen, C. Chen, M.S. Lashari, J. Deng, and Z. Du. 2016. Impact of flue gas desulfurization gypsum and lignite humic acid application on soil organic matter and physical properties of a saline-sodic farmland soil in Eastern China. Journal of Soils and Sediments. 16(9):2175-2185. doi:10.1007/s11368-016-1419-0
- Neily, W., Shishkov, L., Nickerson, S., Titus, D., Norrie, J., 2010. Commercial extract from the brown seaweed Ascophyllum nodosum (Acadian (R)) improves early establishment and helps resist water stress in vegetable and flower seedlings. Hortscience 45, 105–106.
- O'Brien, P.L. 2017. Soil Functioning Following Remediation Using Ex Situ Thermal Desorption. Ph.D. Dissertation. North Dakota State University.
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, S.S. Ritter, F.X.M. Casey, A.F. Wick, E. Khan. 2017. Wheat growth in soils treated by ex situ thermal desorption. Journal of Environmental Quality. 46(4): 897-905. doi:10.2134/jeq2017.03.0115.
- O'Callaghan, M. 2016. Microbial inoculation of seed for improved crop performance: issues and opportunities. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 100:5729-5746. doi:10.1007/s00253-016-7590-9
- Olk, D.C. 2006. A chemical fractionation for structure-function relations of soil organic matter in nutrient cycling. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 70:1013-1022. doi:10.2136/sssaj2005.0108
- Pagano, M.C., and M. Miransari. 2016. Abiotic and biotic stresses in soybean production. Soybean Production. 1:1-26. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-801536-0.00001-3
- Park, H.J., N. Cahe, W.J. Sul, B.Y. Lee, Y.K. Lee, and D. Kim. 2015. Temporal changes in soil bacterial diversity and humic substances degradation in subarctic tundra soil. Microb Ecol 69, 668–675. doi:10.1007/s00248-014-0499-x
- Piccolo, A. 2002. The supramolecular structure of humic substances: a novel understanding of humus chemistry and implication in soil science. Advances in Agronomy. 75:57-134. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(02)75003-7
- Rayirath, P., B. Benkel, D.M. Hodges, P. Allan-Wojtas, S. MacKinnon, A.T. Critchley, and B. Prithiviraj.
 2009. Lipophilic components of the brown seaweed, *Ascopyllum nodosum*, enhance freezing
 tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Planta- an International Journal of Plant Biology. 230: 135-147.
 DOI: 10.1007/s00425-009-0920-8.

- Rose, M.T., Patti, A.F., Little, K.R., Brown, A.L., Jackson, W.R., Cavagnaro, T.R., 2014. A meta-analysis and review of plant-growth response to humic substances: practical implications for agriculture.
 In: Sparks, D.S. (Ed.), Advances in Agronomy, Vol. 124, pp. 37–89.
- Roshdy, K. 2014. Effect of spraying silicon and seaweed extract on growth and fruiting of grandnaine banana. Egyptian Journal of Agricultural Research. 92(3):979-991. doi:10.21608/ejar.2014.156427
- Rouphael, Y., and G. Colla. 2018. Synergistic biostimulatory action: designing the next generation of plant biostimulants for sustainable agriculture. Frontiers in Plant Science. 9:1655. doi:10.3389/fpls.2018.01655
- Sahain, M.F.M., E.Z.A. El Motty, M.H. El-Shiekh, and L.F. Hagagg. 2007. Effect of some biostimulant on growth and fruiting of anna apple trees in newly reclaimed areas. Research Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences. 3(5):422-429.
- Schüßler, A., D. Schwarzott, and C. Walker. 2002. A new fungal phylum, the *Glomeromycota*: phylogeny and evolution. Mycology Research. 105(12): 1413-1421. doi:10.1017/S0953756201005196
- Senesi, N. 1992. "Metal-Humic substance complexes in the environment. Molecular and mechanistic aspects by multiple spectroscopic approach," in Biogeochemistry of Trace Metals, ed. D. M. Adriano (Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers), 429–495.
- Séré, G., C. Schwartz, S. Ouvrard, C., Sauvage, J.C. Renat, J.L. Morel. 2008 Soil Construction: A step for ecological reclamation of derelict lands. Journal of Soils and Sediments. 8:130-136. doi:10.1065/jss2008.03.277
- Shehzad, I., G. Sarwar, M.Z. Manzoor, A. Zafar, S. Muhammad, and G. Murtaza. 2020. Effect of saline water irrigation on chemical properties and fertility status of soil. Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Research. 33(3):527. doi:10.17582/journal.pjar/2020/33.3.527.534
- Sheoran, V., A.S. Sheoran, and P. Poonia. 2010. Soil reclamation of abandoned mine land by revegetation: a review. International Journal of Soil, Sediment and Water. 3(2):13.
- Shrivastava, P., and R. Kumar. 2015. Soil Salinity: A serious environmental issue and plant growth promoting bacteria as one of the tools for its alleviation. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences. 22:123-131. doi:10.1016/j.sjbs.2014.12.001.

- Shukla, P.S., K. Shotton, E. Norman, W. Neily, A.T. Critchley, and B. Prithiviraj. 2017. Seaweed extract improve drought tolerance of soybean by regulated stress-response genes. The Annals of Biology Plants. 10(1):plx051. dio:10.1093/aobpla/plx051
- Shah, Z.H., H.M. Rehman, T. Akhtar, H. Alsamadany, B.T. Hamooh, T. Mujtaba, et al. 2018. Humic substances: determining potential molecular regulatory processes in plants. Fron. Plant Sci. 9:263. doi:10.3389/fpls.2018.00263
- Spann, T.M., and H.A. Little. 2011. Applications of a commercial extract of the brown seaweed *Ascophyllum nodosum* increases drought tolerance in container-grown 'Hamlin' sweet orange nursery trees. HortScience. 46(4)577-582. doi:10.21273/hortsci.46.4.577
- Stevenson, F.J. 1994. F.J. Humus Chemistry: Genesis, Composition, Reactions (4th ed), Wiley, New York, U.S.A.
- Sylvia, D.M., L.C. Hammond, J.M. Bennett, J.H. Haas, and S.B. Linda. 1993. Field response of maize to a VAM fungus and water management. Agronomy Journal. 85(2):193-198. doi:10.2134/agronj1993.00021962008500020006x
- Tahir, M.M., M. Khurshid, M.Z. Khan, M.K. Abbasi, and M.H. Kazmi. 2011. Lignite-derived humic acid effect on growth of wheat plants in different soils. Pedosphere. 21(1):124-131. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(10)60087-2
- Tate, K.R. 1992. Assessment, based on a climosequence of soils in tussock grasslands, of soil carbon storage and release in response to global warming. Journal of Soil Science. 43(4):697-707. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.1992.tb00169.x
- Tarakhovskaya, E.R., Y.I. Maslov, and M.F. Shishova. 2007. Phytohormones in algae. Russian Journal of Plant Physiology. 54(2):163-170. doi:10.1134/S1021443707020021
- Tejada, M., C. Benítez, Isidoro Gómez, and J. Parrado. 2011. Use of biostimulants on soil restoration: Effects on soil biochemical properties and microbial community. Applied Soil Ecology. 49:11-7. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2011.07.09
- Tejada, M., C. Garcia, J.L. Gonzalez, and M.T. Hernandez. 2006. Use of organic amendment as a strategy for saline soil remediation: Influence on the physical, chemical and biological properties of soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 38:1413-1421. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.10.017

- Thavamani, P., R.A. Samkumar, V. Satheesh, S.R. Subashchandrabose, K. Ramadass, R. Naidum et al. 2017. Microbes from mined sites: harnessing their potential for reclamation of derelict mine sites. Environmental Pollution. 230: 495-505. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2017.06.056
- Tipping, E. 2002. Cation binding by humic substances. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1–434.
- Turgay, O.C., E.E. Erdogan, and A. Karaca. 2009. Effect of humic deposit (leonardite) on degradation of semi-volatile and heavy hydrocarbons and soil quality in crude-oil-contaminated soil. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 170:45-58. doi:10.1007/s10661-009-1213-1
- Türkmen, Ö., A. Dursun, M. Turan, and Ç. Erdinç. 2004. Calcium and humic acid affect seed germination, growth, and nutrient content of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum L.) seedlings under saline soil conditions. Soil and Plant Science. 54(3):168-174. doi:10.1080/09064710310022014
- Tuttobene, R., G. Avola, F. Gresta, and V. Abbate. Industrial orange waste as organic fertilizer in durum wheat. Agronomy for Sustainable Development. 29: 557-563. doi:10.1051/agro/2009014.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency [US EPA]. 2015. Anaerobic Digestion and its Applications. Office of Research and Development. NRMRL/LRPCD.
- Vaccaro, S., A. Ertani, A. Nebbioso, A. Muscolo, S. Quaggiotti, A. Piccolo, and S. Nardi. 2015. Humic substances stimulate maize nitrogen assimilation and amino acid metabolism at physiological and molecular level. Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture. 2:5. doi:10.1186/s40538-015-0033-5
- Valenzuela-Soto, J., M. Estrada-Hernández, E. Ibarra-Laclette, and J.P. Délano-Frier. 2010. Inoculation of tomato plants (*Solanum lycopersicum*) with growth-promoting Bacillus subtilis retards whitefly Bemisia tabaci development. Planta. 231(2):397-410. doi:10.1007/s00425-009-1061-9
- Verlinden, G., B. Pycke, J. Mertens, F. Debersaques, K. Verheyen, G. Baert, et al. 2009. Application of humic substances results in consistent increases in crop yield and nutrient uptake. Journal of Plant Nutrition. 32(9): 1407-1426. doi:10.1080/01904160903092630
- Viall, E.M., L.F.Gentry, D.G. Hopkins, A.C. Gangulli, and P. Stahl. 2014. Legacy effects of oil road reclamation on soil biology and plant community composition. Restoration Ecology. 22(5):625-632. doi:10.1111/rec.12115

- Waqas, M., B. Ahmad, M. Arif, F. Munsif, A.L. Khan, M. Amin, et al. 2014. Evaluation of humic acid application methods for yield and yield components of mungbean. American Journal of Plant Sciences. doi:10.1080/01904167.2019.1658777
- Wang, M., L. Chen, Y. Li, L. Chen, Z. Liu, X. Wang, et al. 2018. Responses of soil microbial communities to a short-term application of seaweed fertilizer revealed by deep amplicon sequencing. Applied Soil Ecology. 125:288-296. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2018.02.013
- Wong, V.N.L., R.C. Dalal, amd R.S.B. Greene. 2008. Salinity and sodicity effects on respiration and microbial biomass of soil. Biology and Fertility of Soils. 44(7):943-953. doi:10.1007/s00374-008-0279-1
- Wick, A.F., P.D. Stahl. L.J. Ingram, and L. Vickland. Soil aggregation and organic carbon in short-term stockpiles. Soil Use and Management. 25: 311-319. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2009.00227.x.
- Yildirim, E., A.G. Taylor, and T.D. Spittler. 2006. Ameliorative effects of biological treatments on growth of squash plants under salt stress. Scientia Horticulturae. 111:1-6. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2006.08.003
- Zanin, L., N. Tomas, S. Cesco, Z. Varanini, and R. Pinton. 2019. Humic substances contribute to plant iron nutrition acting as chelators and biostimulants. Frontiers in Plant Science. 10:675. doi:10.3389/fpls.2019.00675
- Zhao, Y. 2010. Auxin biosynthesis and its role in plant development. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 61:49-64. doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-042809-112308
- Zhang, X., and E. Erwin. 2003. Physiological effects of liquid applications of seaweed extract and a humic acid on creeping bentgrass. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science. 128(4):492-496. doi:10.21273/jashs.128.4.0492
- Zhang, X., Wang, K., Ervin, E.H., 2010. Optimizing dosages of seaweed extract-based cytokinins and zeatin riboside for improving creeping bentgrass heat tolerance. Crop Sci. 50, 316-320.
- Zhang, W., C. Wang, M. Liu, and Y. Yu. 2019. Integrated reclamation of saline soil nitrogen transformation in the hyphosphere by earth worms and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. Applied Soil Ecology. 135: 137-146.
CHAPTER 2. PLANT GROWTH, SOIL PROPERTIES, AND MICROBIAL COMMUNITY FOUR YEARS AFTER THERMAL DESORPTION^{1 1}

Abstract

The effects of thermal desorption (TD) on soil physical and chemical properties after crude oil contamination are recently well-studied. However, there is limited field-scale studies on long-term soil biological property recovery such as microbial communities and plant growth, which are vital for meeting global agro-system demands and restoring ecosystem health. This study describes the status of soil biological properties after four years of crop production on oil-contaminated cropland remediated via TD and a modified land farming technique. Plots were constructed in 2015 with native, uncontaminated topsoil (A), TD-treated subsoil (TDU), untreated land-farmed subsoil (SP), TDU+A (TDA) and SP+A (SPA) where soil ratios were 1:1 by volume, and composted manure was applied at 40 Mg ha-1. After three years of crop production (2019) grain sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L.) was planted. Soil microbial community characteristics were assessed through phospholipid fatty acid analysis and by estimating mycorrhizal root colonization. Notably, inherent soil chemical and physical properties influenced the recovery of microbial communities in remediated soils. However, sorghum biomass production in TDU was 50 + 9% greater than SP, while the microbial abundance in these treatments remained similar. Mycorrhizal colonization variation likely reflected rhizosphere nutrient scarcity and not the interactions of either remediation strategy. Based on these results after four-years of cropping, TDU does not diminish soil microbial recovery and when possible, blending TDU materials with topsoil provides the greatest level of recovery relative to topsoil only.

Introduction

An increase in oil infrastructure development within agricultural lands has presented accidental crude oil releases that diminish soil function (i.e., physical, chemical, and biological properties). Crude oil

¹ Bartsch, Z.J., DeSutter, T.M., Gasch, C.K., and Caset, F.X.M. 2022. doi:10.1002/agj2.21008. Zachary Bartsch had primary responsibility formal analysis, investigation, and writing original draft. Tom DeSutter served as supervision, writing- review and editing. Caley Gasch was had primary responsibility over methodology, supervision. Francis Casey- Resources.

contains petroleum hydrocarbons (PHC's) that when exposed to soil or water, pose health risks to humans and livestock, alter soil chemical properties, reduce biological activity (Rowe et al., 1973; Townsend et al., 2003; Lopez et al., 2007; Klamerus-Iwan et al., 2015; O'Brien et al 2018; Croat et al., 2020b), and necessitate soil remediation in order to return the land back to productivity. In this paper, soil remediation describes the process of removing or stabilizing contaminants from soil, while reclamation involves the process of replacing remediated soil back and returning the land to natural or economical productivity. Numerous soil remediation strategies exist to reclaim soil after contamination, such as dig and hauling to a landfill, landfarming, TD, and others (Bekele et al., 2015; O'Brien et al. 2016; O'Brien et al., 2017b; Green et al., 2020), all which risk or exacerbate topsoil loss. Overall, the remediation and reclamation method chosen, and inherent soil characteristics will influence the time and cost to recover soil ecosystem function and land productivity.

Ex-situ TD is an effective method to remediate PHC contamination in a short amount of time (Khan et al., 2004), and is achieved by excavating and heating contaminated soils to temperatures ranging from 100 to >600°C, depending on organic contaminant type. Thermal desorption facilitates quicker remediation times than the land-farming or dig-and-haul methods while avoiding putting soil into landfills, but is more expensive due to the required machinery and energy inputs. Additionally, TD can drastically alter soil physical, chemical, and biological properties (Khan et al., 2004; Vidonish, et al., 2016; O'Brien et al., 2018). Changes in aggregation and porosity from excavation and soil handling have been reported (Guebert and Gardner, 2001; Wick et al., 2009; Gasch et al., 2014). Piña et al. (2002), Khan et al. (2004), and O'Brien et al. (2016) also observed significant reductions in soil organic carbon (SOC) and biological enzymatic activity, but some low-level TD treatments (<300°C) can be less harmful to soil properties (O'Brien et al., 2018). Regardless, the overall long-term effects of TD on soil function should not be ignored (Yi et al., 2016).

Despite recent progress in connecting the effects of TD to soil function (Cébron et al., 2011; O'Brien et al., 2016; Croat et al., 2020; Croat et al., 2020b), there has been limited field-scale opportunities to assess long-term plant and soil microbiological recovery from TD. Due to the growing pressure on food-agrosystems and the numerous soil properties benefitted by microbial processes, soil microbial recovery in disturbed lands is gaining interest worldwide. As one of the largest participants of

soil ecological processes, soil microbial communities are dynamic and change in response to weather, soil water content, vegetation community or crop, or the season of the year, and may be especially more variable in semiarid climates (Collins et al., 2005; Frank et al., 2006; Viall et al., 2014). Likewise, microbiota are sensitive indicators for environmental stressors (Schloter et al., 2018). For example, decomposers such as saprotrophic fungi are integral for carbon (C) cycling via decomposition of a variety of organic materials (cellulose, lignin; Deacon et al., 2006), but are sensitive to changes in environmental conditions such as pollutants, temperature regime, and physical disturbance (Cho et al., 2017). Other fungi such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) are crucial for providing phosphorus (P), water, and pathogen resistance to symbiotic plants, while also improving soil structure and soil organic matter retention (Ingram et al., 2005; Thavamani et al., 2017), and are still sensitive to environmental changes. Soil bacteria can fix nitrogen, improve plant health and stress resistance, and restore organic carbon (OC) into the soil system (Hayat et al., 2010), improving nutrient availability, and thus crop production (Pinto et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2019). Presently, reclamation success is generally measured relative to crop yield or vegetative cover, which ignores soil microbial recovery (Mummey et al., 2002; Dangi et al., 2012).

Because the goal of reclamation is to repair disturbed ecosystems (including plants, soil, and topography) to sustainable, healthy conditions, the long-term soil biological recovery after PHCremediation should be incorporated into the determination of reclamation success. Accordingly, using three treatments this study describes the recovery of various soil biological properties after crude-oil remediation and four years of crop rotation. The assessed treatments were a modified land farming technique, TD, and mixing remediated soils with native, non-contaminated topsoil (O'Brien et al., 2016; O'Brien et al., 2017b). The objectives of this study were to 1) evaluate treatment effects on grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) growth and associated soil properties across treatments; 2) quantify AMF colonization in grain sorghum roots and AMF abundance in soil among treatments, and 3) determine the abundances of soil microbial groups. Results from this study may assist in determining successful reclamation strategies that balance time, cost, and energy in order to enhance the physical, chemical, and biological properties of reclaimed or highly disturbed soils.

Materials and Methods

Study Site Description

In 2013, a pipeline released 21,000 barrels of Bakken crude oil (API gravity 42; sulfur < 0.2%) onto farmland surface and subsurface soils in Mountrail Co., ND (48.523804, -102.859061; O'Brien et al., 2018; Croat et al., 2020). The native topsoil was mapped as a Williams-Zahl loam complex (Williams: Fine-loamy, mixed, superactive, frigid Typic Argiustolls; Zahl: Fine-loamy, mixed, superactive, frigid Typic Calciustolls) (Soil Survey Staff, 2020). Williams series are economically important soils for crop production and is the representative state soil (Daigh et al., 2016). According to the Köppen-Geiger climate classification system, the study region is BSk cold semi-arid (Peel et al., 2007). Total growing season (May-October) precipitation received in 2019 was 655 mm where potential evapotranspiration (PET) was 836 mm during the same time period (NDAWN, 2020). Deviations from normal of air temperature, rainfall, and PET can be found in Table 3.

In 2015 contaminated non-contaminated topsoils were excavated and stockpiled to represent the expected handling of topsoil during oil and gas activity, and is assumed to be the control condition of disturbed soils used for crop production. Contaminated subsoil was excavated up to 15 m deep, homogenized, and treated using TD to decrease the total petroleum hydrocarbon (TPH) levels to 500 mg kg⁻¹ or less (Croat et al., 2020). Petroleum-contaminated subsoils were stockpiled and continuously mixed via agronomic field disk while awaiting thermal treatment for several months. The continuous mixing was done to homogenize the TPH levels prior to TD, which typically ranged, post-disking, to between 2,000 and 5,000 mg kg⁻¹, and was similar to land farming except for water or nutrient additions. While remediation was occurring, research plots were constructed in fall, 2015. Soil treatments were: noncontaminated topsoil (A; control); PHC-contaminated and stockpiled subsoil that was thermally desorbed (TDU); untreated, PHC-contaminated stockpiled and land farmed subsoil (SP), and added composted livestock bedding manure (m) applied at 40 Mg ha⁻¹ to the 0-15 cm depth to create the following paired treatments: A, A+m, SP, SP+m, TDU, TDU+m, SP+A, SPA+m, TDA, and TDA+m, where soil ratios were 1:1 by volume. Each plot was 17 m x 15 m x 0.9 m, with a surface area of 765 m² in a randomized complete block design and replicated three times (O'Brien et al., 2017a). Table 4 provides a description of soil and composted manure chemical data.

Month	30-yr average	2019 Growing Season	Departure from 30- yr average	
	Air Temperature (°C)			
May	12.8	9.44	-3.36	
June	17.8	16.7	-1.10	
July	21.1	18.9	-2.20	
August	20.6	17.8	-2.80	
Sept.	13.9	13.3	-0.60	
Oct.	6.67	2.22	-4.45	
	<u>Rainfall (mm)</u>			
May	53	21	-32	
June	71	208	137	
July	63	136	72.8	
August	42	73	31.2	
Sept.	31	203	172	
Oct.	26	15	11.0	
	<u>PET (18-yr; mm)</u>			
May	6.8	7.0	-0.2	
June	6.9	7.4	-0.5	
July	7.7	7.1	-0.6	
August	6.9	6.0	-0.9	
Sept.	5.0	3.2	-1.8	
Oct.	2.9	2.3	-0.6	

Table 3. Growing season air temperature and rainfall 30-yr averages (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Regional Climate Centers xmACIS, 2020). The 18-yr potential evapotranspiration (PET) and 2019 rainfall was collected from the Ross, ND reporting station within the North Dakota Agricultural Weather Network (NDAWN, 2020).

Crop Production and Sorghum Sampling

Starting in 2016, the four years of crop production were hard red spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) variety Barlow, field pea (*Pisum sativum* L., variety Birdsall) in 2017, hard red spring wheat in 2018 variety Glenn, and for this study, grain sorghum variety 419x124 in 2019. Crop rotations, and specifically grain sorghum, was chosen to match the surrounding crops being produced by the landowner. Additionally, there has been recent interest in growing grain sorghum in western ND due to its characteristically drier and warmer climate than other portions of the state. The plots were always maintained under no tillage. Agronomic details from 2016-2018 can be found in Croat et al. (2020), and in 2019 glyphosate herbicide was applied at a rate of 0.84 kg a.e. ha⁻¹ to control any volunteer vegetation in the spring before planting. On day of year (DOY) 188 granular urea (46-0-0) and mono-ammonium phosphate (11-52-0) were hand-broadcasted onto plots at normalized rates to reach 101 kg N ha⁻¹ and 90

kg P ha⁻¹ from soil samples from the 0-15 cm depth, and was incorporated less than 24 hours later from seeding. On day of year 189 an 85-day grain sorghum variety 419x124 was drilled to 25-cm row spacing at 9 kg seed ha⁻¹, a recommended seeding rate (Graham and Beck, 2019). On DOY 199 dicamba (3,6-dichloro-2-methoxybenzoic acid) and Starane [(4-Amino-3,5 dichloro-6-flouropyridin-2-yl)oxy]acetic acid was tank mixed and hand broadcast applied at concentrations of 2.5 mL L⁻¹ and 1.6 mL L⁻¹, respectively, and did not exceed 1.16 L a.i. ha⁻¹ and 0.47 L a.i. ha⁻¹. These mixing concentrations were recommended for control of kochia (*Kochia scorpia*), and other broadleaves, but most importantly, safe for grain sorghum at its present growth stage (Personal communication, K. Howatt, 2019). This was the second and final herbicide application of 2019.

On DOY 213, at the 3rd vegetative leaf stage, roots and approximately 1000 cm³ rhizospheric soil (10 cm x 10 cm x 10 cm) of three random plants from each plot, were collected with a shovel, sealed in plastic bags, and transported the same day in coolers with ice to NDSU where each sample was moistened to field capacity using DI water and then placed into a refrigerator. To ensure roots contained observable AMF colonization, roots were randomly sampled in plots and analyzed on DOY 193. Additionally, sorghum roots have been observed to be colonized by AMF within 40 days after planting (de Oliveira et al., 2020). Following a 24-hr refrigeration period, each subsample had soil 10 g of soil collected and combined according to plot ID (30 total soil samples), and frozen at -15 °C. Then, roots were carefully washed over a 2-mm screen until all visible residual soil was removed. Clean roots were cut from the plant and preserved in centrifuge tubes with formaldehyde-acetic-acid (FAA; by volume: 2-parts formaldehyde, 1-part glacial acetic acid, 10-parts 95% ethanol, and 7-parts deionized water) until ready to stain and examine under a microscope (Phillips and Hayman, 1970).

Aboveground plant material was hand harvesting from 1 m² quadrats from each plot occurred on DOY 290. Grain heads were first cut and placed into paper bags. Biomass samples were cut at the ground, kept in closed cloth bags, and weights recorded immediately after sampling. All samples were transported to NDSU on the same day and placed in a forced-air drying oven (60 °C, 168 hr), after which dry biomass was recorded. Grain heads were dried to below 12% moisture content, and were threshed (Agriculex SPT-1, Canada) to remove non-spike plant material. Finally, the grain was cleaned to remove chaff and immature seeds and final mass was recorded and adjusted for 12% moisture content.

Soil Sampling

Soil samples (0–15 cm) were taken following spring wheat harvest in fall 2018 using hand probes

and are discussed in Croat et al. (2020). Samples were air-dried and ground to pass through a 2-mm

sieve. Total C and total inorganic C were determined using a Primacs TOC Analyzer (Skalar Analytical

B.V., Breda, Netherlands). Soil organic carbon was then calculated as the difference between total C and

inorganic C. Soil nutrients were analyzed by a third-party laboratory (Agvise Laboratories, Northwood,

ND) where soil N was quantified as the sum of NO₃-N and NH₄-N determined by KCI extraction

(Mulvaney, 1996) and soil P was quantified by the Olsen method (Frank et al., 1998).

Table 4. Characteristics of the soil treatments and composted manure used in this study. Total carbon (TC), Total nitrogen (IN), phosphorus (Olsen-P), potassium (K₂O), Calcium (Ca), Magnesium (Mg), Zinc (Zn), Sulfur (S), and Sodium (Na).

Treatment†	тс	TN	P_2O_5	K ₂ O	Са	Mg	Zn	S	Na
	%		mg kg ⁻¹						
А	2.14	1820	16.0	282	9190	561.0	0.70	13.3	19.8
SP	1.94	635.0	7.83	161	4750	860.0	0.30	48.5	65.3
TDU	1.94	538.0	7.50	220	4720	607.0	0.70	38.5	76.8
SPA	2.13	1390	17.8	213	3970	640.0	0.60	23.8	32.8
TDA	1.99	1180	13.5	259	4260	565.0	0.70	17.0	43.5
Composted Manure	6.8	7000	2700	6000	11500	4400	45.0	1000	325

† Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).

Quantification of Mycorrhizal Colonization

A modified staining procedure was adopted from Koske and Gemma (1989) and Phillips and Hayman (1970) in order to estimate the percentage of microscope views of root segments containing AMF structures. Upon sampling, root color and texture were used to distinguish any dead roots from the live roots, as dark colors and rigidity may indicate dead roots (Bernaola et al., 2018). Live adventitious roots were cut from the aboveground plant mass with forceps, and preserved in FAA until they were ready to be processed. FAA contains formalin and is a compound commonly used to preserve cellular structure, and was chosen to retain root sample integrity over a certain period of time. After preservation, the roots were rinsed in deionized (DI) water to remove FAA, and roots \leq 1-mm were carefully removed from larger fibrous roots with forceps, and cut into 1-cm segments. Commonly, the primary, older roots are larger and contain more pigmentation, potentially requiring greater clearing time than smaller, younger roots (Phillip and Hayman, 1970). Roots greater than 1 mm in diameter were found to be too large to place on microscope slides with slide covers, and therefore cannot be examined for mycorrhiza correctly.

Segments were then placed in 40 mL test tubes with 10% potassium hydroxide (KOH; 10% weight/volume) aqueous solution and submerged in 90 °C water bath for 15 min for clearing. In this process, the pigmentation is removed from roots to allow for increased contrast between the plant root and fungal biomass (Phillips and Hayman, 1970). Next, segments were rinsed thoroughly with DI water and stained in lacto-glycerol trypan blue (by volume: 1-part lactic acid, 1-part glycerol, 1-part water, 0.00066-part trypan blue) for 15 min. Finally, the stained root segments were rinsed and suspended with DI water in a watch glass beaker cover. Random selection of root segments was accomplished by mixing the roots evenly, and allowing them to settle. After which one 1-cm root segment was extracted with tweezers. One root was randomly chosen after each subsequent mixing and settlement. The ten selected segments were mounted on 22x40 mm glass slides with glycerol for viewing.

The procedure for estimating percent root colonization was modified from Allen and Allen (1980). Under 40x magnification, five passes were taken across all ten root segments for a total of 50 observation points per slide, and 150 observation points for one treatment of a replicated block. In accordance to the procedure, each observation point was marked for the presence or absence of AMF structures including AMF hyphae, vesicles, or arbuscules. Finally, percent root colonization was determined as the total observation points with AMF structures present over the number of total observed views. No AMF species-specific structures or characteristics were recorded.

Microbial Biomarker Analysis

Phospholipid- and neutral lipid fatty acid (PLFA and NLFA) analysis offers a snapshot of the microbial community at the time of sampling, and was used to assess microbial group abundances of the remediated soils. The PLFA method of analysis reports data as estimates of broad taxonomic groups (actinomycetes, AMF, bacteria, fungi, and protists/eukaryotes), and is considered a useful method for microbial community analysis (Ramsey et al., 2006). Soil samples were prepared by freeze drying 10 g of the composite samples. After, samples were shipped and processed for phospholipid and neutral lipid

abundances by Microbial Identification Labs, Inc. (MIDI; Newark, DL). The MIDI lab follows the lipid extraction procedures following Buyer and Sasser (2012), and subsequent analysis using gas chromatography. The neutral lipid fatty acid (NFLA) analysis was included to provide a measure of AMF in the field soils to complement the PLFA biomarker associated with AMF (16:1w5c) (Sharma and Buyer, 2015). The NFLA extraction and quantification follow the PLFA methodology with the addition of an internal standard of 19:0 trinonadecanoin glyceride and collection of the neutral lipid fraction in chloroform elution (Sharma and Buyer, 2015). Peaks were identified by MIDI and the Sherlock Chromatographic Analysis System software and the PLFAD2 peak naming table. The abundance of each microbial group is considered in terms of absolute abundance (nmol fatty acid g⁻¹ soil) as opposed to relative terms. *Gram+ and Gram- Bacteria*

Gram+ to Gram- soil bacterial ratios were reported by MIDI labs using the respective biomarkers, included in Appendix A. These ratios have been found to exhibit dynamic population levels that fluctuate with SOC concentrations, and studies analyzing Gram+/Gram- ratios have reported such ratios can be used as indicators of SOC input quality and quantity entering the soil system (Kourtev et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2013). Because of the reduction of SOC that often occurs during remediation, scarce SOC may cause stress to microbial processes by limiting biomass accumulation, available water, and nutrient availability until adequate levels are restored. Therefore, analyzing Gram bacterial abundances may be a potential tool for suggesting stress in the reclaimed soil system and its recovery after four years of crop production.

Statistical Analyses

To answer the objectives of this study both manure and soil treatments were considered as factors in analysis. All response variable differences in means were calculated with a two-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA), using manure and soil treatment as factors, at α = 0.05, with Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference post-hoc test in SAS (SAS version 9.4, SAS Institute, Cary, NC) using Proc GLM. If the combined soil and manure model was not significant for a given variable, it was reported as such. Linear regression was used for observing the relationships between various biological and chemical data collected, and was reported with R² and confidence interval value. SAS Proc REG (SAS version 9.4, SAS

Institute, Cary, NC) was run for all regressions. The response variables analyzed were total microbial abundance-aboveground biomass yield.

Multivariate principal components analysis (PCA) was conducted on microbial group abundances and soil chemical data on correlations to explore how our multiple response variables varied across treatments using JMP 14.0.0 (SAS Institute, Inc.). Factor loadings were conducted on the principal components to find correlation coefficients between observed variables and common factors influencing them. Additionally, response variables were assessed for correlation with JMP 14.0.0's multivariate analysis tool, and correlations were recorded.

Results and Discussion

Sorghum Yield and Biomass

Grain yields were not significantly different among soil treatments, between composted manure treatments (with or without), or in the SxC interaction term (Table 5). Since grain sorghum is a new crop to this region no county or regional data was available for comparison. Past studies have reported wheat yields in the A topsoil reached the county average, indicating A is a suitable medium for reclamation and justifies its use for comparison of biological metrics. Lack of significant findings, and relatively large standard deviations were likely driven by the reoccurring cold stress soon after planting and aboveaverage growing season precipitation, which prohibited seed heads from reaching maturity in the 2019 growing season (Table 3), and should not be interpreted as crop yield recovery. Biomass production varied among soil treatments and between the composted manure, but not in the SxC interaction term. Blending remediated subsoil and non-contaminated topsoil 1:1 was successful in reaching the A topsoil, and agrees with past studies conducted on the study site. In the remediated subsoil treatments, our findings diverge from previous studies where TDU and SP produced similar grain and aboveground biomass production over three years (Croat et al., 2020). Biomass in 2019 was significantly least in treatment SP, producing 45% of biomass relative to all other treatments (11.1 Mg ha-1). Soil that received composted manure produced significantly more biomass than nontreated plots. Overall, these findings agree with multiple studies which reported the addition of topsoil to subsoil improved crop yields, and likely reflects the differences in SOC between treatments (Power et al., 1981; Roh et al., 2000; O'Brien et

al., 2017b; and Croat et al., 2020). However, this does not explain the increased biomass in TDU production for 2019.

Plant biomass production is positively associated with soil organic matter (plant material, microbial tissue) due to its associated SOC content, availability of nutrients, and water holding capacity regulation (Anderson et al., 2008). Yet, TDU yielded nearly double SP's biomass production despite similar SOC levels. Importantly, the past PHC contaminants were not likely a factor of biomass production. O'Brien et al. (2019) reported plots SP, SPA, TDU, and TDA contained initial (December 2015) PHC contents of 1394, 678, 229, and 110 mg kg⁻¹, respectively, with half-lives ranging from 455 to 573 days. Thus, for treatment SP, the predicted May 2019 PHC concentration would have been 208-308 mg kg⁻¹. Because PHC contamination has been observed to decrease sorghum growth at concentrations of \geq 1000 mg kg⁻¹ PHC (Banks et al., 2010; Iheme et al., 2017), primary cause of biomass production differences is likely a result of altered soil properties following thermal treatment.

Thermal desorption has been observed to increase soil P availability via conversion of organic P to inorganic forms (Yi et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2019; Croat et al., 2020b). In addition to increasing P availability in the topsoil and subsoil used in this study, TDU increased the amount of P sorption (S_{max}) and the affinity (bonding energy; k) P has for a soil surface (Croat et al., 2020b). Other factors affecting Pavailability such as pH or clay content were relatively unchanged from TD (O'Brien et al., 2016), but above ground biomass and P availability were moderately associated in 2019 (r = 0.31). The multivariate analysis in Figure 1 shows TDU samples were slightly more associated with bioavailable P (Olsen-P) and biomass production than treatment SP, and both positively associated with Principal components 1 and 2, which account for >75% of the data's variation. However, the flush of P availability from TDU is expected to happen only once, and the associated increase in k and Smax thresholds for TDU may risk the removal of P from plant and microbial pools via sorption to soil surfaces potentially leading to crop production decline without proper nutrient management (Croat et al., 2020b). In our study, Olsen-P values were not significantly different between subsoil treatments. Therefore, these results suggest 1) while the flush of available P has occurred, the legacy k and S_{max} values were not deleterious to crop production with adequate nutrient management/fertilization, and 2) other TD-related changes, such as soil-water relationships, may also be influencing biomass yields.

Table 5. Mean values (with standard deviation) of sorghum grain yield, aboveground biomass (AGB), AMF root colonization percentages, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) abundance, and soil organic carbon (SOC) for each treatment in 2019. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).

Effects	Level	Grain Yield	AGB	Root Colonization	AMF Abundance	SOC	Ρ
		Mg ha ⁻¹		%	nmol g ⁻¹ soil	g kg soil ⁻¹	
Soil (S)	А	0.89 (0.50)	27.0 (7.73) a ^b	50.8 (29.4) bc	3.63 (0.86) a	18.9 (0.28) a	16.0 (4.00) ab
	SP	0.44 (0.57)	11.1 (4.79) b	61.1 (28.4) a	1.86 (0.65) b	5.08 (0.08) c	7.83 (4.67) b
	TDU	1.06 (0.88)	22.1 (2.07) a	44.1 (27.8) c	2.43 (0.65) ab	3.95 (0.08) c	7.50 (2.26) b
	SPA	0.94 (0.42)	21.5 (3.12) a	53.3 (27.6) ab	3.00 (0.73) ab	12.2 (0.16) b	17.8 (7.30) a
	TDA	1.13 (0.57)	27.6 (7.49) a	58.7 (28.1) ab	3.01 (0.73) ab	10.3 (0.09) b	13.5 (8.09) ab
	P-value	ns ^a	***	***	*	***	*
Composted							
Manure (C)	40 Mg ha ⁻¹	1.03 (0.68)	24.0 (8.10) a	57.0 (11.3)	2.88 (0.78)	10.7 a	10.4 (5.37)
	0.0 Mg ha ⁻¹	0.76 (0.56)	19.7 (7.47) b	53.1 (7.80)	2.69 (1.05)	9.40 b	14.7 (7.56)
	P-value	ns	*	ns	ns	*	*
SxC		ns	ns	*	ns	ns	ns

38

*P<0.05

***p<0.001

^ans, not significant

^bValues not followed by a common letter within columns and effect are significantly different at α = 0.05 in a post-hoc Tukey's Honestly Different test.



Figure 1. Principle component analysis of biological and soil chemical data with loadings identified by arrow and text annotation. Amount of variance explained is 49.3% (component 1) and 20.1% (component 2). Samples are identified by soil treatments, which are native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA). [Note] Actino- Actinomycetes, AMF- Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, Eukary- Eukaryotes, Fungi- Saprophytic fungi, Gram- - Gram negative bacteria, Gram+ - Gram positive bacteria, AGB-Aboveground dry biomass, SOC- soil organic carbon.

AMF Root Colonization

Arbuscular mycorrhizal root colonization was similar among the soil treatments except the A and TDU (Table 5). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi colonization data in SPA and TDA similar to the A were likely a result of the SOC levels from the A topsoil, which can enhance some AMF activity (Yang et al, 2011). In the subsoil, greater colonization in SP compared to the control disagrees with previous studies where AMF colonization has been observed to be negatively associated with PHC contamination (Cabello,

1997; Franco-Ramirez et al., 2007). Importantly, the past crude oil contamination concentrations in this study were likely not inducing the AMF-sorghum response due to the half-life associated with the hydrocarbons (O'Brien et al., 2019). But, AMF root colonization between SP and TDU did not follow the same trends as SPA and TDA. This suggests the greater colonization percentages observed in SP were likely a result of altered S_{max} and k thresholds (Croat et al., 2020b), and water dynamics following TD.

Notably, O'Brien et al. (2016) reported a 400% increase in *K*_s values in thermally desorbed topsoil and subsoil, and a change in soil hydraulic properties that resulted in hydraulic characteristics more similar to a sandy loam than a loam soil. Infiltration, which is crucial for providing water to roots for photosynthesis, microbial respiration, and nutrient transport (Olsen and Kemper, 1968; Minasny and McBratney, 2017), is generally related to soil texture, among others (O'Brien et al., 2016). Not only could TDU have achieved greater downward water movement during periods of saturation, such as the intense precipitation in June through September, but TDU could also have had increased infiltration- regardless of the amount soil saturation. If greater quantities of water traveled through the rhizosphere, more P may have been able to reach the root-zone and influence AMF colonization. For example, composted manure applied at 44 Mg ha⁻¹ decreased AMF root colonization of wheat and corn by 20% compared to treatments that didn't receive compost and its added nutrients (Tarkalson et al., 1998). From a soil ecological perspective, this suggests translocation of nutrients in TDU may have reduced the competition between microbial species and plants when P was adequately available.

Conversely, SP soils in this experiment displayed lower K_s ,values and could be more prone to ponding and runoff during intensive precipitation events, and may have resulted in P transporting from the plots. Lower *k* values in SP may also further increase the risk of P solubilization and loss via runoff (Croat et al., 2020b). The runoff and transport of soluble P from the SP plots likely reduced the quantity of P fertilizer transported to the rootzone of the subsoils. As a result, AMF root colonization may have been positively influenced in SP compared to TDU to increase rhizosphere competition with other microbes (St. John et al., 1983; Bisht et a., 2015), while TDU experienced less runoff and greater transportation of P and other nutrients, and potentially produced greater sorghum growth in TDU than in SP. This notion is further supported in Nagahashi et al. (1996) and Gadkar et al. (2001) where P amendments applied to soil suppressed AMF hyphal growth and plant exudates which can encourage AMF spore germination, hyphal growth, and soil exploration. Inside the plant, genes regulating the expression of nutrient transportation from fungus to plant is usually related to plant nutrition, which can be affected by mycorrhizal-colonized roots (Burleigh and Bechmann, 2002). Specifically, gene expression was reported to be down-regulated by P-fertilization (Liu et al., 1998), suggesting that if plant nutrient demand is being met, the symbiosis is not as crucial for plant survival. Similarly, nutrient transfer from fungus to plant can also result in transporter gene expression to be lower in colonized roots.

Additionally, four years of greater infiltration in TDU soil compared to SP could have allowed for a greater reservoir of plant-available water at the start of the growing season (Data not collected). Total growing season precipitation (May–October) received at the study site in 2019 was 656 mm, and accounted for 59% of the previous four year's precipitation levels combined. While semi-arid climates can and do receive smaller, infrequent precipitation events, which may limit plant growth and ecosystem recovery (Miransari, 2010), semi-arid soil ecosystems can rapidly respond to precipitation events. Collins et al. (2005) modeled precipitation cycles in arid lands, reporting that while dry periods limited primary production, it led to a net accumulation of nutrients in the soil, and any precipitation events quickly stimulate biological activity and plant growth (Collins et al., 2005). Revealed is a dynamic biological response to precipitation in semi-arid soils, suggesting AMF colonization may have been influenced by both runoff in SP soil containing P, and altered soil water dynamics in TDU which potentially transported more P to the rootzone following greater-than-normal precipitation. Regardless, it can be concluded grain sorghum and AMF symbiotic relationships were not impacted by either remediation method or soil mixing, but it remains to be answered if AMF abundance played a role in root colonization.

The NFLA biomarker 16:1w5c was considered when assessing AMF biomarker abundance, and this fraction is useful in determining storage lipids, such as carbon transport systems and spores (Olsson and Johansen, 2000; Ngosong et al., 2012). The NLFA analysis did not vary among soil, composted manure, or SxC interaction term. The lack of variation in NFLA AMF biomarker abundance may suggest remediation disturbances and/or grain sorghum did not affect spore counts among treatments. Interaction of grain sorghum on NLFA marker abundance is expected to be relative across all treatments as spore density is generally associated with plant community (i.e. host plant versus non-host plant), and seasonal variation (Ngosong et al., 2012; Silva-Flores et al., 2019). Meanwhile, PLFA AMF biomarker abundance

only varied between treatment A and SP, with SP achieving 39% of treatment A abundance levels (3.63 nmol g⁻¹; p<0.05).The A's AMF abundance is similar to reclaimed and undisturbed soil in western North Dakota that was sampled in the same month of the year, and was 3.98 nmol g⁻¹ (Viall et al., 2014), suggesting A is an appropriate method to compare recovery for AMF.

Because host plants provide significant amounts of C to AMF for metabolism (Bago et al., 2000), the limited four-year plant growth in treatment SP likely decreased AMF populations compared to treatment A due to reduced photosynthesis. Because SP subsoil is not as suited to produce crops as topsoil, the reduced plant biomass production may have resulted in decreased transport of C to AMF symbiotes, whereas A carbon accumulation and transport was likely greater. Overall, increased AMF abundance could be used as a proxy for predicting crop yield potential in remediated subsoil, or perhaps in disturbed soils, based off the Tukey's post-hoc mean separations (Table 5). However, root colonization did not respond the same across the treatments, which was evident by low biomass production in SP despite greater colonization percentages compared to all other treatments. Ultimately, the findings of our study agree with Tarkalson et al. (1998), where wheat grown in subsoil contained greater AMF colonization but produced significantly less yields. A plant stress response in SP sorghum likely contributed to increased mycorrhizal colonization as well (Medina, et al., 2003).

Total Microbial Abundance

Total microbial abundance (as a sum of all biomarkers) varied among the soil treatments, but not between composted manure treatments or the SxC interaction term (Table 6). Expectedly, the A contained the overall greatest mean total microbial abundance of 74.3 nmol g⁻¹, and is slightly lower than the total microbial abundance reported in Vaill et al., (2014) of 80.6 nmol g⁻¹. Additionally, blending remediated subsoil with topsoil 1:1 produced similar total microbial abundance, and likely reflects the greater quality and quantity of SOC sources available for supporting greater microbial abundance (Kotroczó et al., 2014; O'Brien et al., 2017a). Total microbial abundance in our study was likely slightly lower due to the recent extraction, stockpiling, and replacement processes relative to Viall et al., (2014) or nearby undisturbed topsoil. Total abundance of all the various microbial groups were associated with SOC, as were the TDA and SPA soil treatments (Figure 1). Principal component 1 indicates that SP and TDU were more separated from the microbial groups and SOC than other treatments, which agrees with Block et al. (2020) where microbial abundance and SOC content was greatest in shallow stockpiled (25yr) topsoil rather than topsoil from the bottom of a stockpile, which was essentially functioning as subsoil.

Additionally, while SPA and TDA were separated on the biplot, mixing subsoil and topsoil allowed microbial populations to recover to levels comparable to the A alone after four years of crop production. This finding is supported by Dangi et al. (2005), who found that total biomarker abundance in a reclaimed semi-arid grassland soil was similar to undisturbed sites after five to 14 years. The greater SOC in treatments SPA and TDA likely helped biological communities recolonize over the subsoil-only treatments (Larney and Angers, 2012). Mixing A with TDU (1:1 ratio) resulted in a 25% reduction in total microbial abundance compared to the A alone (Table 5). Taylor et al. (2002) reported similar reductions in microbial biomass-C of 35% (silty clay loam), and 70% (sand) of subsoils at the 1.3-meter depth compared to the topsoil and was positively correlated with SOC content (r > 0.90). However, TDU, which contained the least microbial abundance (and similar to SP), yielded significantly higher plant production. This finding illuminates possible shortcomings that if reclamation success is assessed only on aboveground characteristics that soil function may not have yet fully recovered to reclaimed topsoil conditions.

With the exception of antagonistic microbial species, there is a positive association between soil microbial abundance and plant growth (Miransari, 2011). Total abundance was analyzed as a predictor in a regression with the harvested aboveground dry biomass as the response variable (Figure 2). Here, aboveground dry biomass production was positively related with total microbial abundance (R^2 =0.2609; p<0.01). While plant biomass production in TDU suggests reclamation success, PLFA results of TDU did not differ from SP. Instead, plant production in TDU may have been similar to the A because of appropriate nutrient management, (chemical fertilizer), above-normal precipitation received during the growing season, and altered P-dynamics and K_s values as a result of TD. For example, when precipitation was less than 656 mm year⁻¹, plant productivity in treatment TDU was similar to treatment SP, and statistically less than yields in treatments A, SPA, and TDA (Croat et al., 2020). This suggests inconsistencies in biological property recovery in TDU where microbial abundance might be limited by inherent soil properties, but the soil can support productive crops if the correct environmental conditions are met. Ultimately, the effects of TDU appear to be different for plants and microbes. Regardless, focusing resources on holistic reclamation strategies that consider biological activity recovery, such as

Table 6. Mean values (with standard deviation) of saprophytic fungi, actinomycetes, Gram positive (Gram+) bacteria, Gram negative (Gram-) bacteria, and eukaryotic biomarker abundances for each treatment in 2019. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).

Effects	Levels	Total Microbial Abundance	Saprophytic Fungi	Soil Bacteria	Gram+ to Gram- ratio	Eukaryotes	Actinomycetes
			nmc	ol g soil ⁻¹	-		
Soil (S)	А	74.3 (14.1) aª	2.69 (0.89)	55.0 (8.74) a	0.99 (0.09) a	2.63 (3.47)	10.4 (0.73) a
	SP	34.1 (11.2) b	2.18 (1.27)	26.0 (8.13) b	0.76 (0.04) c	0.78 (0.54)	5.74 (2.99) b
	TDU	34.2 (9.44) b	1.75 (0.35)	26.0 (6.88) b	0.80 (0.05) bc	0.81 (0.47)	4.96 (3.10) b
	SPA	55.9 (12.5) a	2.11 (1.02)	42.2 (9.56) a	0.92 (0.05) a	0.75 (0.14)	5.38 (1.65) b
	TDA	55.8 (10.3) a	2.42 (0.82)	42.1 (8.24) a	0.90 (0.05) ab	0.84 (0.19)	5.75 (2.17) b
	<i>P-</i> value	***	ns	***	***	ns	***
Composted							
Manure (M)	40 Mg ha ⁻¹	51.4 (22.9)	2.7 (1.00)	40.3 (11.1)	0.88 (0.11)	0.90 (0.43)	6.94 (2.56) a
	0.0 Mg ha ⁻¹	50.3 (14.7)	2.09 (0.82)	36.2 (16.0)	0.87 (0.09)	1.42 (2.31)	5.93 (3.27) b
	<i>P-</i> value	ns ^b	ns	ns	ns	ns	*
SxM		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	***

44

*P<0.05

***p<0.001

^aValues not followed by a common letter within columns and effect are significantly different at α = 0.05 in a post-hoc Tukey's Honestly Different test.

^bns, not significant



Aboveground dry biomass and total microbial biomarker abundance

Figure 2. Total microbial PLFA biomarker abundance (microbial abundance; x-axis) plotted against grain sorghum aboveground dry biomass yields from 2019. Data is from one growing season. Difference symbols indicate different soil treatments. The linear regression line (dashed black line) is displayed along with R² value and p-value from linear model. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).

blending subsoil or TDU with topsoil, may conserve resources while enhancing reclamation success

compared to subsoil or TDU alone.

Saprophytic Fungi

Saprophytic fungi biomarker abundance did not vary among any of the treatments or models

(Table 6). The fungal abundance in our study was more similar to reclaimed oil road (30-yr old) soil than

undisturbed prairie soil, which is expected due past disturbances and annual crop production (Viall et al.,

2014). Saprophytic fungi predominantly decompose SOM and plant litter and provide significant amounts

of C for plant growth (Talbot et al., 2013). Changes to plant community, land use, and other abiotic factors

can have profound effects on fungal community properties (Ngosong et al., 2012; Köhl et al., 2014; Bauer

et al., 2017; Shi et al., 2019). In our study saprophytic fungi was moderately associated with organic C (r

= 0.32) and NO₃-N percentage (r = 0.34), but not with P (r = -0.06), suggesting P was not a significant

limiting factor and fungi may be more limited by C/N ratios (Baer et al., 2003). Remediation activities certainly severely impacted native fungi across all soil treatments, but fungal biomarker abundance in all treatments were similar to the replaced A topsoil control after four years of no-till crop production. No-till agricultural practices lead to consistent accumulation of plant litter (i.e. crop residue) and provide energy sources for fungi (Karlen et al., 1994; Leichty et al., 2020). Therefore, it can be concluded that fungal communities have recovered to stable numbers, however, there is likely differences yet between what was observed in our study and nearby undisturbed topsoil. Follow-up investigations into the fungal recovery in remediated soils could include diversity assessments to observe redundancy or species richness.

Soil Bacteria

Total biomarker abundance of non-filamentous bacteria significantly varied among soil treatments only (Table 6). Abundance was similar between treatments A, SPA, and TDA. Meanwhile, SP and TDU subsoils had the least bacteria abundance. Over 70% of microbial biomass abundance was made up of bacterial biomarkers (data not shown), therefore further analyses of bacteria were done with Gram- and Gram+ biomarker abundances. Mean ratios of Gram+ to Gram- bacteria (G+:G- ratios) varied among soil treatments (*p*<0.001), but not between composted manure treatments or the SxC interaction term. Past studies have utilized G+:G- ratios as indicators for SOC inputs entering the soil system (Kourtev et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2013), and may help to assess how stressed our soil treatments are, as increased Gram- abundances can indicate soil system stress.

Overall, G+:G- ratios were most stable (i.e., closest to 1.0) where SOC was greater, as in the A topsoil. Our results agree with Viall et al., (2014), who observed a G+:G- ratio of 1.094 from undisturbed topsoil in western North Dakota. It is worth noting that because SPA soils were not subjected to TD, SOC levels were not further reduced, and may explain why SPA was statistically greater than TDU while TDA was statistically similar to TDU (Figure 3). Hence, focusing reclamation strategies on preserving or restoring SOC levels may quicken time to reclamation success by restoring these microbial groups to levels similar to the A.

Disturbed soils often result in the disruption and mineralization of more complex SOC protected in aggregates, reducing Gram+ populations, and lowering G+:G- ratios assuming more labile C inputs are



Soil Treatment

Figure 3. Gram positive (Gram+) and Gram negative (Gram-) bacteria ratios for the year 2019. Different letters within each pane indicate differences between soil types identified by Tukey's HSD test at α =0.05. Treatments are: native, non-contaminated topsoil (A); stockpiled contaminated, untreated subsoil (SP); stockpiled, contaminated subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (SPA); thermally desorbed contaminated subsoil (TDU); thermally desorbed subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume (TDA).

not lost (Zhang et al., 2013). Smaller G+:G- ratios in the contaminated subsoils (SP and TDU) are likely due to reduced complex SOC and greater simple C sources such as annual crop residue. While Gram+ bacteria have been reported to be more dependent on labile SOC complex, recalcitrant forms of SOC, Gram- bacteria have been found to depend more on sources, and have decreased by over 10% during a plant litter removal chronosequence study (Fanin et al., 2019). Conversely, A topsoil is relatively unaltered soil with adequate labile and recalcitrant C concentrations to support both Gram- and Gram+ bacteria, respectively. Fortunately, mixing non-contaminated subsoil with non-contaminated topsoil for

soil remediation purposes shows a potential method to restore bacterial community balances in remediated subsoil.

Actinomycetes

Mean actinomycetes abundance varied by soil and composted manure application, and the SxC interaction term- where abundances were similar in A, SP+m, and TDA+m. The addition of A in SPA and TDA improved biomarker abundance compared to the subsoil. Hydrocarbon contamination <1000 mg kg⁻¹ was determined to be nontoxic to actinomyces (Li et al., 2007), therefore the reduced abundance in actinomycetes could be reflecting changes in soil properties following the topsoil additions (Bolton et al., 1993). Nitrogen was strongly associated with actinomyces abundance (r =0.91), and is appropriate due to these microbes playing roles in degrading high C:N content materials such as cellulose and chitin, and thus being N-limited (Bhatti et al., 2017).

Conclusions

The goal of this study was to investigate the potential use of various biological metrics to quantify the status of recovery in soils remediated via TD relative to other remediation practices. Comprehensively, our results demonstrate the importance of using aboveground and belowground metrics in determining soil biological and ecological recovery, as aboveground indicators could incorrectly conclude TDU subsoils are overall more recovered than SP. In reality, soil biological characteristics in TDU were similar to SP in all but two metrics. Historically, SP and TDU were both recovering the slowest of all the soil treatments. While this was observed in our study, the increase in sorghum biomass suggests altered soil properties from TD may benefit potential plant production compared to SP when there is adequate fertilization and environmental conditions. Soil microbial communities were influenced more by topsoil and SOC than either remediation method, highlighting that the SP and TDU treatments were functioning similar ecologically, and are still recovering slowly four years after remediation. Recovery towards the A was more visible in treatments SPA and TDA, where the results were often statistically similar to treatment A, or intermediate to A and SP+TDU. Thus, showing soil blending is an appropriate method to mitigate impacts to soil biological properties from crude oil contamination and remediation disturbances. However, non-contaminated topsoil should always be the first choice during reclamation when available. Lastly, although compost or manure can improve crop yields and microbial biomass, the

application was likely too long ago or not enough initially applied to observe relic interactions in our study beyond SOC, sorghum biomass, and actinomycetes. It can be inferred from the strong correlation and association between microbial groups and SOC that biological metrics can be improved with the continued addition of composted manure or other organic amendments to improve soil biological recovery in remediated soils.

Literature Cited

- Allen, E.B., and M.F. Allen. 1980. Natural re-establishment of vesicular- arbuscular mycorrhizae following stripmine reclamation in Wyoming. J. Appl. Ecol. 17:139–147. doi:10.2307/2402969.
- Anderson, J.D., L.J. Ingram, and P.D. Stahl. 2008. Influence of reclamation management practices on microbial biomass carbon and soil organic carbon accumulation in semiarid mined lands in Wyoming. Applied Soil Ecology. 387-397. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2008.06.008.
- Baer, S.G., J.M. Blair, S.L. Collins, and A.K. Knapp. 2003. Soil resources regulate productivity and diversity in newly established tallgrass prairie. Ecology. 84(3):724-735.
- Bago, B., P.E. Pfeffer, and Y. Shachar-Hill. 2000. Carbon metabolism and transport in arbuscular mycorrhizas. Plant Physiology. 124:949-957. doi:10.1104/pp.124.3.949
- Banks, M.K., P. Kulakow, A.P. Schwab, Z. Chen, and K. Rathbone. 2010. Degradation of crude oil in the rhizosphere of *Sorghum bicolor*. International journal of Phytoremediation. 5(3): 225-234. doi:10.1080/7134779222
- Bauer, J.T., N. Blumenthal, A.J. Miller, J.K. Ferguson, and H.L. Reynolds. Effects of between-site variation in soil microbial communities and plant-soil feedbacks on the productivity and composition of plant communities. Journal of Applied Ecology. 54:1028-1039. doi:10.1111/1365-2664.12937.
- Bhatti, A.A., S. Haq, and R.A. Bhat. 2017. Actinomycetes benefaction role in soil and plant health. Microbial Pathogenesis. 111:458-467. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2017.09.036
- Bekele, A., J.L. Roy, and M.A. Young. 2015. Use of biochar and oxidized lignite for reconstructing functioning agronomic topsoil: Effects of soil properties in a greenhouse study. Canadian Journal of Soil Science. 95(3): 269-285. doi:10.4141/cjss-2014-008

- Bernaola, L., G. Cange, M.O Way, J. Gore, J. Hardke, and M. Stout. 2018. Natural colonization of rice by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in different production areas. Journal of Rice Science. 25(3): 169-174. doi:10.1016/j.rsci.2018.02.006
- Bisht, S., P. Pandey, B. Bhargava, S, Sharma, V. Kumar, and K.D. Sharma. 2015. Bioremediation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) using rhizospere technology. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology. 46(1):7-12. doi:10.1590/S1517-838246120131354.
- Block, P.R., C.K. Gasch, and R.F. Limb. 2020. Biological integrity of mixed-grass prairie topsoils subjected to long-term stockpiling. Appl. Soil Ecol. 145:103347. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.08.009.
- Bolton Jr., H., J.L Smith, S.O. Link. 1993. Soil microbial biomass and activity of a disturbed and undisturbed shrub-steppe ecosystem. Soil Biol. Biochem. 25, 545–552. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(93)90192-E
- Burleigh, S.H., and I.E. Bechmann. 2002. Plant nutrient transporter regulation in arbuscular mycorrhizas. Plant and Soil. 244:247-251.
- Buyer, J.S., and M. Sasser. 2012. High throughput phospholipid fatty acid analysis of soils. Appl. Soil Ecol. 61:127-130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2012.06.005.
- Cabello, M.N. 1997. Hydrocarbon pollution: its effect on native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF). FEMS Microbiology Ecology. 22(3):233-236. doi:10.1016/S0168-6496(96)00094-3.
- Cébron, A., J. Cortet, S. Criquet, A. Biza, V. Calvert, C. Caupert, C. Pernin, and C. Leyval. 2011.
 Biological functioning of PAH-polluted and thermal desorption- treated soils assessed by fauna and microbial bioindicators. Research Journal of Microbiology. 162:896–907.
 doi:10.1016/j.resmic.2011.02.011.
- Cho, H., M. Kim, B. Tripathi, and J. Adams. 2017. Changes in soil fungal community structure with increasing disturbance frequency. Microbial ecology. 74(1):62-77.
- Croat, S.J., P.L. O'Brien, C.K. Gasch, F.X.M. Casey, and T.M. DeSutter. 2020. Crop production on heavily disturbed soils following crude oil remediation. Agronomy Journal. 112:130-138. 10.1002/agj2.20077.

- Croat, S.J., T.M. DeSutter, F.X.M. Casey, and P.L. O'Brien. 2020b. Phosphorus sorption and desorption in soils treated by thermal desorption. Water, Air, Soil, and Pollution. 231:216. doi:10.1007/s11270-020-04579-x.
- Collins, S.L., R.L. Sinsabaugh, C. Crenshaw, L. Green, A. Porras-Alfaro, M Stursova, amd L.H. Zeglin.
 2005. Pulse dynamics and microbial processes in aridland ecosystems. Journal of Ecology.
 96(3):413-420. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01362.x.
- Daigh, A.L.M., K. Anderson, and F.X.M. Casey. 2016b. William Series: North Dakota State Soil. Soil Science Society of America. Jan, 2016. https://www.soils4teachers.org/files/s4t/k12outreach/ndstate-soil-booklet.pdf
- Dangi, S.R., P.D. Stahl, A.F. Wick, L.J. Ingram, and J.S. Buyer. 2012. Soil microbial community recovery in reclaimed soils on a surface coal mine site. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 76:915-924. doi:10.2136/sssaj 2011.0288.
- Deacon, L.J., E.J. Pryce-Miller, J.C. Frankland, B.W. Bainbridge, P.D. Moore, and C.H. Robinson. 2006.
 Diversity and function of decomposer fungi from a grassland soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 38(1):7-20. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.04.013
- Fierer, N., A.S. Allen, J.P. Schimel, and P.A. Holden. 2003. Controls on microbial CO₂ production: a comparison of surface and subsurface soil horizons. Global Change Biology. 9(9): 1322-1332. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2003.00663.x
- Fanin, N., S. Hättenschwiler, and N. Fromin. 2014. Litter fingerprint on microbial biomass, activity, and community structure in the underlying soil. Plant and Soil. 379:89-91. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2051-7.
- Fanin, N., P. Kardol, M. Farrell, M. Nilsson, M.J. Gundale, and D.A. Wardle. 2019. The ratio of Grampositive to Gram-negative bacterial PLFA markers as an indicator of carbon availability in organic soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 128:111-114. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.10.010.
- Franco-Ramírez, A., R. Ferrera-Cerrato, L. Varela-Fregoso, J. Pérez-Moreno, and A. Alarcón. 2007. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in chronically petroleum-contaminated soils in Mexico and the effects of petroleum hydrocarbons on spore germination. Journal of Basic Microbiology. 47:378-383. doi:10.1002/jobm.200610293.

- Frank, A.B., M.A. Liebig, and D.L. Tanaka. 2006. Management effects on soil CO₂ efflux in northern semiarid grassland and cropland. Soil and Tillage Research. 89:78-85. doi:10.1016/j.still.2005.06.009
- Frank, K., Beegle, D., & Denning, J. (1998). Phosphorus. In J. R. Brown (Ed.), Recommended chemical soil test procedures for the North Central region. NCR Publ. 221. Columbia, MO: Missouri Agric. Exp. Stn.
- Gadkar, V., R. David-Schwartz, T. Kunik, and Y. Kapulnik. 2001. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal colonization. Factors Involved in Host Recognition. Plant Physiology. 127:1493-1499. http://doi.org/10.1104/pp.010783.
- Gasch, C.K., S.V. Huzurbazar, and P. Stahl. 2014. Measuring soil disturbance effects and assessing soil restoration success by examining distributions of soil properties. Appl.Soil Ecol. 76:102-111. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2013.12.012
- Graham, C., and R. Beck. 2019. Determining sorghum seeding rate. South Dakota State University Extension. https://extension.sdstate.edu/determining-sorghum-seeding-rate. [Date accessed: 28 May, 2020]
- Green, A.W., M.A. Meehan, and T.M. DeSutter. 2020. Seed germination of selected crop and graminoid species in response to treatment with sodium chloride and oil-field brine solutions. Can. J. Plant Sci. 00:1-9. dx.dow.org/10.1139/cjps-2019-0261.
- Guebert, M.D., and Gardner, T.W., 2001. Macropore flow on a reclaimed surface mine: in- filtration and hillslope hydrology. Geomorphology 39, 151–169.
- Hayat, R. S. Ali, and I. Ahmed. 2010. Soil beneficial bacteria and their role in plant growth promotion: a review. Annals of Microbiology. 60:579-598. Hhtps://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-010-0117-1
- Iheme, P.O., M.O. Akinola, and K.L. Njoku. 2017. Evaluation on the growth response of peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) and sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) to crude oil contaminated soil. Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management. 21(6):1169-1173. doi:10.4314/jasem.v21i6.30
- Ingram, L.J., G.E. Schuman, P.D. Stahl, and L.K. Spackman. 2005. Microbial respiration and organic carbon indicate nutrient cycling recovery in reclaimed soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69:1737-1745. doi:10.2136/sssaj2004.0371.

- Karlen, D.L., N.C. Wollenhaupt, D.C. Erbach, E.C. Berry, J.B. Swan, N.S. Eash, and J.L. Jordahl. 1994.
 Crop residue effects on soil quality following 10-years of no-till corn. Soil and Tillage Research.
 31:149-167.
- Klamerus-Iwan, A., E. Blońska, J. Lasota, A. Kalandyk, and P. Waligórski. 2015. Influence of oil contamination on physical and biological properties of forest soil after chainsaw use. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution. 226(11): 389. doi:10.1007/s11270-015-2649-2.
- Khan, F., Husain, T., Hejazi, R., 2004. An overview and analysis of site remediation technologies. J. Environ. Manag. 71, 95-122. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2004.02.003.
- Köhl, L., F. Oehl, and M.G.A. van der Heijden. 2014. Agricultural practices indirectly influence plant productivity and ecosystem services through effects on soil biota. Ecological Applications. 24(7): 1842-1853.
- Koske, R.E., and J.N. Gemma. 1989. A modified procedure for staining roots to detect VA mycorrhizas. Mycological Research. 92(4): 486-488. doi:10.1016/S0953-7562(89)80195-9.
- Kotroczó, Z., Z. Veres, L. Fekete, Z.S. Krakomperger, J.A. Tóth, K. Lajtha, and B. Tóthmérész. 2014. Soil enzyme activity in response to long-term organic matter manipulation. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 70:237-243. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.12.028.
- Kourtev, P.S., J.G. Ehrenfeld, and M. Häggblom. 2002. Exotic plant species alter the microbial community structure and function in the soil. Ecology. 83(11):3152-3166.
- Larney, F.J., and D.A. Angers. 2012. The role of organic amendments in soil reclamation: a review. Canadian Journal of Soil Science. 92:19-38. doi:10.4141/CJSS2010-064.
- Leichty, S., M. Francesca Cotrufo, and C.E. Stewart. 2020. Less efficient residue-derived soil organic carbon formation under no-till irrigated corn. Soil and Water Management and Conservation. 84:1928-1942. doi:10.1002/saj2.20136.
- Lopez, E., M. Schuhmacher, and J.L. Domingo. 2007. Human health risks of petroleum-contaminated groundwater. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 15(3):276-288. https://dx.doi.org/10.1065/espr2007.02.390

- Li, Hui, Y. Zhang, I. Kravchenko, H. Xu, and C. Zhang. 2007. Dynamic changes in microbial activity and community structure during biodegradation of petroleum compounds: A laboratory experiment. Journal of Environmental Sciences. 19(8):1003-1013. doi:10.1016/S1001-0742(07)60163-6.
- Liu, H., A.T. Trieu, L.A. Baylock, and MJ Harrison. 1998. Cloning and characterization of two phosphate transporters from Medicago truncatula roots: regulation in response to phosphate and to colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions. 11(1): 14-22. doi:10.1094/MPMI.1998.11.1.14.
- Liu, H., J. Li, M. Zhao, Y. Li, and Y. Chen. 2019. Remediation of oil-based drill cuttings using lowtemperature thermal desorption: Performance and kinetics modeling. Chemosphere. 235:1081-1088. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.07.047.
- Medina, M.J.H., H. Gagnon, Y. Piché, J.A. Ocampo, J.M.G. Garrido, and H. Vierheilig. 2003. Root
 Colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi is affected by the salicylic acid content of the plant.
 Plant Science. 164(6):993-998. doi:10.1016/S0168-9452(03)00083-9
- Minasny, B., and A.B. McBratney. 2017. Limited effect of organic matter on soil available water capacity. European Journal of Soil Science. 69(1):39-47. doi:10.1111/ejss.12475.
- Miransari, M. 2010. Contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis to plant growth under different types of soil stress. Plant Biology. 12:563-569. doi:10.1111/j.1438-8677.2009.00308.x.
- Miransari, M. 2011. Soil microbes and plant fertilization. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 82:875-885. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3521-y.
- Mulvaney, R.L. 1996. Nitrogen: Inorganic forms. In D. L. Sparks, A. L. Page, P. A. Helmke, & R. H. Loeppert (Eds.), Methods of soil analysis part 3: Chemical methods. SSSA Book Ser. 5.3 (pp. 1123–1184). Madison, WI: SSSA, ASA.doi:10.2136/ sssabookser5.3.c38
- Mummey, D.L., P.D. Stahl, and J.S. Buyer. 2002. Microbial biomarkers as an indicator of ecosystem recovery following surface mine reclamation. Appl. Soil Ecol. 21:251–259. doi:10.1016/S0929-1393(02)00090-2.
- Nagahashi, G., D.D. Douds Jr., and G.D. Abney. 1996. Phophorus amendments inhibits hyphal branching of the VAM fungus *Gigaspora margarita* directly and indirectly through its effect on root exudation. *Mycorrhiza*. 6:403-408. doi:10.1007/s005720050139

- NDAWN (North Dakota Agricultural Weather Network). 2020. NDAWN Maps. North Dakota State University. https://ndawn.ndsu.nodak.edu/. Accessed [10/14/2019]. Fargo, ND.
- Ngosong, C., E. Gabriel, and L. Ruess. 2012. Use of the signature fatty acid 16:1ω5 as a tool to determine the distribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil. Journal of Lipids. Volume 2012:236807, 8 pages. doi:10.1155/2012/236807.
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, F.X.M. Casey, N.E. Derby, and A.F. Wick. 2016. Implications of using thermal desorption to remediate contaminated agricultural soil: physical characteristics and hydraulic processes. J. Environ. Qual. 45:1430-1436. doi:10.2134/jeq2015.12.0607.
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, S.S. Ritter, F.X.M. Casey, A.F. Wick, E. Khan. 2017. Wheat growth in soils treated by ex situ thermal desorption. Journal of Environmental Quality. 46(4): 897-905. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2017.03.0115.
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, S.S. Ritter, F.X.M. Casey, A.F. Wick, E. Khan, and H.L. Mathees. 2017b. A large-scale soil-mixing process for reclamation of heavily disturbed soils. Ecol. Eng. 109:84-91. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2017.09.015
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, F.X.M. Casey, E. Khan., and A.F. Wick. 2018. Thermal remediation alters soil properties- a review. J. Environ. Manage. 206:826-835. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.11.052.
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, and F.X.M. Casey. 2019. Natural degradation of low-level petroleum hydrocarbon contamination under crop management. J. Soil Sediment. 19:1367–1373. doi:10.1007/s11368-018-2153-6.
- Olsen, S.R., and W.D. Kemper. 1968. Movement of nutrients to plant roots. Advances in Agronomy. 20:91-151. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60855-X.
- Olsson, P.A., and A. Johansen. 2000. Lipid and fatty acid composition of hyphae and spores of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi at difference growth stages. Mycological Research. 104(4):429-434.
- de Oliveira, I.F., M.L.F.Simeone, C.C. de Guimarães, N.S. Garcia, R.E. Schaffert, and S.M. de Sousa.
 2020. Sorgoleone concentration influences mycorrhizal colonization in sorghum. Mycorrhiza.
 doi:10.1007/s00572-020-01006-1

- Peel, M.C., B.L. Finlayson, and T.A. McMahon. 2007. Updated world map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences. 11(5):1633-1644. doi:10.5194/hess-11-1633-2007.
- Phillips, J.M., and D.S. Hayman. 1970. Improved procedures for clearing roots and staining parasitic and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for rapid assessment of infection. Transactions of the British Mycological Society. 55:158-161, IN16-IN18. doi:10.1016/S0007-1536(70)80110-3.
- Pinto, A.P., A.M Mota, A. de Varennes, and F.C. Pinto. 2004. Influence of organic matter on the uptake of cadmium, zinc, copper and iron by sorghum plants. Science of the Total Environment. 326:239-247. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.01.004.
- Piña, J., J. Merino, A.F. Errazu, and V. Bucalá. 2002. Thermal treatment of soils contaminated with gas oil: influence of soil composition and treatment temperature. 94(3):273-290. doi:10.1016/S0304-3894(02)00081-X.
- Power, J.F., F.M. Sandoval, R.E. Ries, S.D. Merrill. 1981. Effects of topsoil and subsoil thickness on soil water content and crop production on a disturbed soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal. 45(1). doi:10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500010027x.
- Ramsey, P.W., M.C. Rillig, K.P. Feris, W.E. Holben, and J.E. Gannon. 2006. Choice of methods for soil microbial community analysis: PLFA maximizes power compared to CLPP and PCR-based approaches. Pedobiologia. 50:275-280. doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2006.03.003.
- Roh, Y., N.T. Edwards, S.Y. Lee, C.A. Stiles, S. Armes, and J.E. Foss. 2000. Thermal-treated soil for mercury removal: soil and phytotoxicity tests. Journal of Environmental Quality. 29:415-424. doi:10.2134/jeq2000.00472425002900020007x
- Rowe, L.D., J.W. Dollahite, B.J. Camp. 1973. Toxicity of two crude oils and of kerosine to cattle. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association. 162(1):61-66.
- Schloter, M., P. Nannipieri, S.J. Sorensen, J.D. van Elsas. 2018. Microbial indicators for soil quality. Biology and Fertility of Soils. 54(1):1-10. doi
- Sharma, M.P., and J. Buyer. 2015. Comparison of biochemical and microscopic methods for quantification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil and roots. Applied Soil Ecology. 95(11):89-89. https.//doi.org/10.1016/j.apsooil.2015.06.001

- Shi, L., G.G.O. Dossa, E. Paudel, H. Zang, J. Xu, and R. Harrison. 2019. Changes in fungal communities across a forest disturbance gradient. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 85(12):e00080-19. doi:10.1128/AEM.00080-19.
- Silva-Flores, P., C.G. Bueno, J. Neira, and G. Palfner. 2019. Factors affecting arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi spore density in the Chilean Mediterranean-Type Ecosystem. Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition. 19(1):42.50. doi:10.1007/s42729-018-0004-6
- Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture. 2020. Web Soil Survey. https://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov. Accessed [10/23/2019].
- St. John, T.V., D.C. Coleman, and C.P.P. Reid. 1983. Association of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal hyphae with soil organic particles. Ecology. 64(4):957-959.
- Talbot, J.M., T.D. Bruns, D.P. Smith, S. Branco, S.I. Glassman, S. Erlandson, et al. 2013. Independent roles of ectomycorrhizal and saprotrophic communities in soil organic matter decomposition. Soil Biology & Biochemistry. 57:282-291. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.10.004
- Tarkalson, D.D., V.D. Jolley, C.W. Robbins, and R.E. Terry. 1998. Mycorhizal colonization and nutrition of wheat and sweet corn grown in manure-treated and untreated topsoil and subsoil. Journal of Plant Nutrition. 21(9):1985-1999. doi:10.1080/01904169809365538.
- Taylor, J.P., B. Wilson, M.S. Mills, and R.G. Burns. 2002. Comparison of microbial numbers and enzymatic activities in surface soils and subsoils using various techniques. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34(3):387-401. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(01)00199-7.
- Thavamani, P., R.A. Samkumar, V. Satheesh, S.R. Subashchandrabose, K. Ramadass, R. Naidu, et al.
 2017. Microbes from mined sites: harnessing their potential for reclamation of derelict mine sites.
 J. Eviron. Polution. 230:495-505. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2017.06.056
- Townsend, G.T., R.C. Prince, and J.M. Suflita. 2003. Anaerobic oxidation of crude oil hydrocarbons by the resident microorganisms of a contaminated anoxic aquifer. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37:5213-5218. Htpps://doi.org/10.1021/es0264495.
- Viall, E.M., L.F.Gentry, D.G. Hopkins, A.C. Gangulli, and P. Stahl. 2014. Legacy effects of oil road reclamation on soil biology and plant community composition. Restoration Ecology. 22(5):625-632. doi:10.1111/rec.12115

- Vidonish, J.E., K. Zygourakis, C.A. Masiello, G. Sabadell, and P.J.J. Alvarez. 2016. Thermal treatment of hydrocarbon-impacted soils: A review of technology innovation for sustainable remediation. Engineering. doi:10.1016/J.ENG.2016.04.005.
- Wick, A.F., P.D. Stahl, L.J. Ingram, and L. Vicklund. 2009. Soil aggregation and organic carbon in shortterm stockpiles. Soils Use and Management. 25:311-319. doi:10.1111/j.1475-2743.2009.00227.x.
- Xu, J., H. Han, T. Ning, Z. Li, and R. Lal. 2019. Long-term effects of tillage and straw management on soil organic carbon, crop yield, and yield stability in a wheat-maize system. Field Crops Research. 233:33-40. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2018.12.016.
- Yang, H., Y. Yuan, Q. Zhang, J. Tang, Y. Liu, and X. Chen. 2011. Changes in soil organic carbon, total nitrogen, and abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi along a large-scale aridity gradient. Catena. 87:70-77. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2011.05.009
- Yi, M.Y., S. Park., C. Munster, G. Kim, and K. Sung. 2016. Changes in ecological properties of petroleum oil-contaminated soil after low-temperature thermal desorption treatment. Water Air Soil & Pollution. 227:108. doi:10.1007/s11270-016-2804-4.
- Zhang, B., H. Wang, S. Yao, and L. Bi. 2013. Litter quantity confers soil functional resilience through mediating soil biophysical habitat and microbial community structure on an eroded bare land restored with mono *Pinus massoniana*. Soil Biol. Biochem. 57:556-567. doi:pyrol10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.07.024.

CHAPTER 3. MICROBIAL ACTIVITY AND HARD RED SPRING WHEAT GROWTH IMPROVEMENT FOLLOWING BIOSTIMULANT APPLICATION

Abstract

Reclamation of oil and gas-disturbed soil is challenging due to diminished function (i.e. soil physical, chemical, and biological properties) from the loss of soil organic carbon (SOC) and potential mixing of topsoil and subsoil. Biostimulants are agro-products applied to soil to improve SOC formation, microbial nutrient cycling, and crop yields, suggesting their potential use in reclaiming oil and gas disturbed soils. However, studies on the ability of biostimulants to enhance reclamation in disturbed soils are limited. Therefore, research was conducted to determine if biological metrics were affected by biostimulant products in soil collected from an active pipeline installation project. The study was conducted in a greenhouse using pots consisting of the following soil treatments: TS100 (100% topsoil), TS50 (1:1 by-weight mixture of subsoil and topsoil), TS25 (3:1 by-weight mixture of subsoil and topsoil), TS12.5 (7:1 mixture of subsoil and topsoil), and TS0 (100% subsoil). Blended soil either received a liquid inoculant or biotic mulch biostimulant, and were planted with hard red spring wheat later on. Soil biological properties were generally influenced by topsoil concentration where TS50 consistently produced similar results to TS100, however, N and P were also influenced by biostimulant treatment. Additionally, wheat aboveground biomass was significantly greater in the liquid treatment while the biotic mulch stimulated greater microbial abundance and activity. Overall, these results indicate soil treatments were effective in restoring some biological properties relative to the control, but using biostimulants in mixed soils, regardless of topsoil concentration, can also improve soil biological property recovery.

Introduction

Intensive agricultural production dependent on chemical fertilizers to achieve optimal yields, and disturbance of soils for oil and gas production due to an ever-growing global population, are unique challenges facing some energy-extraction regions (Siirola, 2014; Lal, 2015; Fernando and Stika, 2021). Unfortunately, practices required to grow foodstuffs may result in the degradation of arable soil resources via accelerated erosion, depletion of soil organic carbon (SOC), and increasing salinization, all of which can lead to lowered soil microbial activity and plant growth (Tuttobene et al., 2009; Lal, 2015; Singh and Gupta, 2018; Kruger et al., 2020). Additionally, crude oil production activities have the potential to further

diminish plant growth and soil biological activity via soil mixing, pipeline installation, well pad construction and retirement, or accidental releases of crude oil or produced waters (Chapter 2; O'Brien et al., 2016; Dornbusch et al., 2020). In the Great Plains of the United States crude oil activities occur in or around the same land used for food crop production (Croat et al., 2020; O'Brien et al., 2016). For example, in addition to over 11,200 km of transmission pipeline, North Dakota has lost 9,300 ha of farmland due to development of 3,500+ well pads and access roads from 2005-2015, translating to about 2.61 ha per well pad (Fernando and Stika, 2021). Eventually, the soil will have to be reclaimed in order to restore the land back to farm productivity.

Due to declining soil productivities in many foodstuff-producing regions, there has been growing interest in crop production practices that conserve topsoil and mineral fertilizer by using relatively novel products called biostimulants (Nunes et al., 2018; Sigdal et al., 2021). Biostimulants are broadly described as agro-products containing microbes and/or naturally occurring substances employed to enhance plant growth and crop yield, reduce abiotic stress, and improve soil functioning, but do not directly provide fertilization to plants (US Environmental Protection Agency, 2020). Ingredients of biostimulants often include seaweed extracts, humic and fulvic acids, manure, industrial wastes, and living microbial cultures (Brown and Sea, 2015). Literature of specific ingredients in agricultural settings is vast and diverse, and overall these studies have reported improvement of plant growth and microbial activities, and sometimes accumulation of SOC (Kauffman et al., 2007; Calvo et al., 2014; Canellas et al., 2015; du Jardin, 2015; Van Oosten et al., 2017; Szparaga et al., 2019).

Biostimulants generally rely on bacteria, saprotrophic fungi, and other microbial groups to decompose and convert any organic materials into plant-available nutrient forms, and results in microbial CO₂ respiration (Pinto et al., 2004; Deacon et al., 2006; Hayat et al., 2010). Meanwhile, other biostimulants inoculate rhizospheres with symbiotic microorganisms, potentially improving plant root growth and quantifiable root CO₂ respiration (Thierron and Laudelout, 1996; du Jardin et al., 2015). Similarly, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) can aid in phosphorus (P) acquisition for plants, while also improving soil structure and SOC protection (Ingram et al., 2005; Thavamani et al., 2017). Nitrogen (N) fixing bacteria improve plant biomass production while restoring SOC into the soil system (Hayat et al., 2010). Characteristically, crop growth and soil reclamation in arid and semi-arid environments are

hindered by low SOC, nutrient availability, and sometimes lower microbial activity; suggesting biostimulants could not only help improve crop yield in degraded soils, but also improve reclamation success.

Understanding how (or if) biostimulants can enhance reclamation success and microbial recovery in soils disturbed from energy extraction (i.e. oil and gas) activities is needed. Accordingly, a two-factor greenhouse study was designed using five treatments of subsoil and topsoil in a gradient of 100% topsoil and 0% subsoil, to 0% topsoil and 100% subsoil. The soil blends were then treated with either a biotic fiber/mulch biostimulant, a liquid inoculant with no organic matter (OM) component, or nothing (control). The objectives of this study were to 1) evaluate biostimulant and soil blend effects on hard red spring wheat growth (*Triticum aestivum*), soil properties, and soil CO₂ efflux, 2) determine if AMF colonization and/or AMF abundance is influenced during P-deficit conditions, and 3) explore how the biostimulants may be influencing soil microbial abundance and percent community compositions of different microbial groups. Results from this study may serve as a baseline feasibility study for further investigations on biostimulant effectiveness in enhancing the physical, chemical, and biological properties of reclaimed or highly degraded soils.

Material and Methods

Soil Site Description and Soil Physical Properties

Native and historically undisturbed topsoil and subsoil samples were collected for use in this study from an active pipeline installation project in northwestern North Dakota (102.7639185°W, 48.2264081°N). The samples were transported overnight to North Dakota State University at Fargo, ND where they were stored in a climate-controlled greenhouse for less than 24 hr. Soil was then passed through a 10 mm sieve and air-dried at 25 °C before being stored in plastic totes in the same climate-controlled greenhouse until the start of the study. The sample location was within the Wabek-Appam sandy loams, 6 to 26 percent slopes map unit (Wabek: Sandy-skeletal, mixed, frigid Entic Haplustolls; Appam: Sandy, mixed, frigid Typic Haplustolls) (Soil Survey Staff, 2020). Soil characteristic data can be found in Table 7. Particle size analysis was conducted using an adapted hydrometer method (Gavlak et al., 2005). The topsoil was determined to be a loam and subsoil was determined to be a sandy loam. Soil samples for additional analysis were air-dried and passed through a 2-mm sieve. Field capacity (33 kPa)

values for watering purposes were determined using pressure plates (Soilmoisture Equipment Corp.,

Goleta, CA). Gravimetric water at field capacity was 0.18 g H₂O g⁻¹ in the topsoil and 0.15 g H₂O g⁻¹ in the

subsoil.

Table 7. Characteristics of the soil blends used in this study. Soil organic carbon (OC), total carbon (TC), Nitrate-N (NO₃-N), phosphorus (Olsen-P), potassium (K), electrical conductivity (EC), and gravimetric water content at field capacity (FCOg).

Soil Treatment†	SOC	тс	NO3-N	Olsen- P	к	EC	FCΘg
							g H₂O g⁻¹
	%		mg kg ⁻¹		dS m⁻¹	oven-dried soil	
TS100	2.03	2.48	34.0	10.0	309	0.50	0.18
TS50	1.62	3.11	38.0	7.50	252	0.53	0.17
TS25	1.22	3.24	40.0	6.25	223	0.53	0.16
TS12.5	1.04	3.15	41.0	5.63	208	0.54	0.15
TS0	1.04	3.99	42.0	5.00	194	0.53	0.15

† Treatments are: topsoil control, TS100; subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume, TS50; subsoil and topsoil mixed 3:1 by volume, TS25; subsoil and topsoil mixed 7:1 by volume, TS12.5; and 100% subsoil, TS0.

Experimental Design

A randomized complete block design was used for this study, and was conducted in a greenhouse The treatments used in the two-factor experiment were a series of soil mixtures comprising of the two different soil materials, (1) topsoil: native topsoil taken from ≤15 cm depth, and (2) subsoil: native subsoil taken from the same location from ≥15 cm depth, and two biostimulants (1) ProGanicsTM biotic mulch product (Profile[®], Buffalo Grove, IL), and (2) SSB[®] liquid inoculant (LiventiaTM, San Antonio, TX). The soil mixtures were composed, by weight, of soils as 100% topsoil (TS100), 50%% topsoil (TS50), 25% topsoil (TS25), 12.5% (TS12.5), and 0% topsoil (TS0). Table 8 serves as an overview of the composition of ingredients in each biostimulant product, including microbial species and product base.

Soil treatments were mixed for each pot using a 15.1 L two-shell dry blender (Patterson-Kelley Company, Buffalo, NY) and mixing for 5 min. Soil was mixed by quantity of subsoil in that mixtures, where treatments with greater quantities of subsoil were mixed first. Shells were cleaned in between mixings. There were 4 soil blending replications per biostimulant block (5 soil treatments x 4 replications = 20 experimental units per biostimulant block). The SSB[®] was administered via watering into the blended soil, in the pots, after blending. Meanwhile, the ProGanics[™] was administered by mixing it with the soil in the
two-shell dry blender. The control block received no biostimulant product. Importantly, the ProGanics[™] soils were mixed after the SSB[®] and control soils had been mixed to reduce the risk of cross contamination. Each pot (60 total) held 2.5 kg of soil, or a volume of approximately 1,515 cm³ and were lined with plastic bags prior to the addition of soil and water. After blending, pots were watered to field capacity with a molasses soil primer at a rate of 0.78 ml molasses L⁻¹ water (rate and product provided by individuals associated with Liventia[™]). Soil priming is the practice of applying substrates rich in labile carbon to soils to stimulate microbial biomass accumulation and accelerate the decomposition of native SOC (Liu et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2020). The priming was recommended by SSB[®] manufacturers to apply it, however, it was applied to all treatments to reduce sources of error during data analysis. The SSB[®] product was applied at a rate of 1.1 µl SSB[®] pot⁻¹. ProGanics[™] was mixed with the soil in the two-shell mixer at a rate of 0.5 g mulch g⁻¹ soil. The water content of the pots was watered 80% of the relative field capacity of the soil during the study and was adjusted every two days.

Table 8.	Biostimulant	product in	aredient b	preakdown	composition.
-					

Biostimulant	Liventia [™] SSB®	Profile ProGanics [™]
Product Base	Water	Bark and Wood Fibers
Microbial Inoculants	Acinetobacter calcoaceticus	Bacillus firmus
	Bacillus subtilis	Rhizophagus intraradices
	Bacillus licheniformis	
	Bacillus thuringiensis	
	Enterobacter cloacae	
	Glomus aggregatum	
	Glomas etunicatum	
	Glomus intraradices	
	Glomus mosseae	
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	
	Pseudomonas flourescens	
	Pseudomonas putida	
	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	
Inactive Ingredients	na	Wetting Agents

Cumulative CO₂ Efflux

Total CO₂ efflux rate (g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹) was quantified by measuring CO₂ using an environmental gas monitor (EGM-4, PPSystems, Amesbury, MA) along with a soil respiration chamber (SRC-1) inserted

into a PVC ring installed in each pot (O'Brien et al., 2017). The first CO₂ reading took place prior to the first watering and all treatments remained unseeded for 14 d to allow for microbial recolonization of the soil. According to O'Brien et al. (2017), the exposure of subsoil with low biological activity to soil with greater microbial activity likely caused rapid recolonization of the pot and microbial depletion of plant nutrients (i.e. C, N, P), which may directly compete with and reduce the plant growth. Additionally, the incubation period could allow any effects of biostimulants on microbial recolonization compared to the control to be observable through the soil CO₂ efflux rate, without root CO₂ respiration inclusion.

During the recolonization period, readings occurred every three days for one week as an attempt to measure the potential "spike" of CO₂ efflux (O'Brien et al., 2017; Breker et al., 2018), after which the readings occurred every seven days until the end of the study. Headspace in the pots and efflux monitor was adjusted by:

$$A_a = A_i \times \left(\frac{HS + V}{V}\right)$$

where A_a is the final adjusted reading value (g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹), A_i is the initial EGM-4 reading (g CO₂ m⁻² h⁻¹), *HS* is the volume headspace (99.8 cm³), and *V* is the SCR-1 volume (cm³). Cumulative CO₂ efflux was calculated by:

Cumulative Efflux =
$$\sum \left(\frac{A_a \times AW_c \times 24 \times n}{Aw_{co2}}\right)$$

where AW_c is the atomic weight of C (12.0 g mol⁻¹), 24 is hours in one day, *n* is the number of days before each reading, and AW_{CO2} is the atomic weight of CO₂ (44.0 g mol⁻¹).

Wheat Production

After a two-week incubation period 10 hard red spring wheat seeds were sowed in the pots after soaking overnight in a damp paper towel. N levels were normalized by applying 15 mg NH₄-NO₃ L⁻¹ to each wheat plant. Emergence was observed DOY 73, at which the seedlings were trimmed to 5 plants per pot (Al-Karaki and Al-Omoush, 2006). On DOY 88, 1.0 mg of an Iron (Fe) chelate solution (Soygreen, CHS, Inver Grove Heights, MN) was applied to pots prior to watering due to visible deficiency symptoms occurring on older plant leaves' tips and margins. Wheat plants were planned to be sampled at the 10-12

leaf stage but the study was terminated early due to P-deficiency symptoms and complications brought forth by the COVID-19 pandemic and thus no grain yield was recorded.

Biomass and Root Sampling

Final sampling was done at the 5-7 leaf stage on DOY 95, after adequate AMF root colonization was observed. First, the plastic bags were removed from the pots and were carefully placed on clean paper so as to not disturb intact roots. Loose soil was collected and placed in sealed bags while the wheat roots were gently cleaned of soil on a flat surface. Soil was stored in a large plastic bag overnight except for a 10mg subsample for PLFA analysis, which was frozen within 1 hr of sampling. Cleaned roots were washed with water over a 2 mm screen until all visible residual soil was gone, and laid to allow excess water to drip. Once excess water was removed, a metal forceps was used to cut the aboveground biomass from the roots at the crown of the roots. A scale was then used to record the final recoverable root biomass. Finally, the cleaned and weighed roots were cut and preserved in autoclave tubes with formaldehyde-acetic-acid (FAA; by volume: 2-parts formaldehyde, 1-part glacial acetic acid, 10-parts 95% ethanol, and 7-parts deionized water) until ready to stain and examine under a microscope (Phillips and Hayman, 1970). Above-soil leaf samples were dried in a forced air oven at 60 °C for 72 hours and biomass quantified.

Soil Sampling

After being separated from the recoverable root biomass, soil was stored in closed plastic bags overnight. For C, soil was air-dried and passed through a 0.25 mm sieve. Soil organic carbon (SOC) was determined via mass loss on ignition by quantifying soil OM and converting to SOC using the conversion of 58% as noted in Pribyl (2010). Inorganic C was determined following the methods based on the gravimetric loss of soil carbonates as CO₂ in the presence of excess HCI (US Salinity Laboratory Staff, 1954). Total C was calculated as the sum of SOC and IC. Soil nutrients were analyzed by NDSU Soil Testing Lab (Fargo, ND). Soil N was reported as NO₃-N by soil water extraction using K₂S₂O₈. Soil P was quantified by the Olsen method (Frank et al., 1998). Electrical conductivity (EC) was quantified using a 1:1 soil-water extraction (Watson and Brown, 1998).

Microbial Biomarker Analysis

Microbial biomarker numbers were determined at the lipid extraction procedures following Buyer and Sasser (2012), followed by analysis using gas chromatography and mass spectrometry by Microbial Identification Labs, Inc. (MIDI; Newark, DL). Phospholipid fatty acid samples were prepared by freeze drying 10 g of composite soil samples from each pot (n=60), before being shipped to MIDI Labs. The results were reported as estimates of basic soil microbial groups according to fatty acid chains (actinomycetes, AMF, bacteria, fungi, and protists/eukaryotes). The neutral lipid fatty acid (NFLA) analysis was included to provide a measure of AMF in the field soils to complement the PLFA biomarker associated with AMF (16:1w5c) (Sharma and Buyer, 2015). The NFLA extraction and quantification follow the PLFA methodology with the addition of an internal standard of 19:0 trinonadecanoin glyceride and collection of the neutral lipid fraction in chloroform elution (Sharma and Buyer, 2015). Peaks were identified using Sherlock Chromatographic Analysis System software and the PLFAD2 peak naming table (MIDI, 2021). The community composition of each microbial group is reported in terms relative abundance (nmol fatty acid g⁻¹ soil) as opposed to absolute terms.

Quantification of Mycorrhizal Colonization

Wheat root colonization percentages by AMF were estimated following a modified staining procedure adopted from Koske and Gemma (1989) and Phillips and Hayman (1970). As stated, roots were cut at the crown of the plant and were preserved in FAA immediately after separation from soil. After preservation, the roots were rinsed in deionized (DI) water to remove FAA, and roots \leq 1 mm were carefully cut from larger fibrous roots with metal forceps and cut into 1-cm segments. Commonly, the primary, older roots are larger and contain more pigmentation, potentially complicating the clearing process than smaller, younger roots (Phillip and Hayman, 1970). Roots greater than 1 mm in diameter are too large to place on microscope slides under the slide covers and were therefore not considered for examination.

Segments were then placed in 40 mL test tubes with 10% potassium hydroxide (KOH; 10% weight/volume) aqueous solution and submerged in 90 °C water bath for 15 min for clearing. In this process, the pigmentation is cleared/reduced from roots to allow for increased contrast between the plant root and fungal biomass when stained (Phillips and Hayman, 1970). Next, segments were rinsed

thoroughly with DI water and stained in lacto-glycerol trypan blue (by volume: 1-part lactic acid, 1-part glycerol, 1-part water, 0.00066-part trypan blue) for 15 min. Finally, the stained root segments were rinsed and placed in a watch glass beaker cover with DI water. Stained root segments were randomly selected by stirring the roots, and allowing them to settle. Once settled, a 1-cm root segment was extracted with tweezers. This was repeated 10 times. The 10 selected segments were mounted on 22x40 mm glass slides with glycerol for viewing.

The procedure for estimating percent root colonization was modified from Allen and Allen (1980). Under 40x magnification, five passes were taken across all ten root segments for a total of 50 observation points per slide and thus experimental unit. In accordance to the procedure, each observation point was marked for the presence (+) or absence (-) of AMF structures including AMF hyphae, vesicles, or arbuscules. Finally, percent root colonization was determined as the total observation points with a positive score over the number of total observed views. No AMF taxonomic information was determined. *Statistical Analysis*

Both the soil mixtures and biostimulant applications were each considered factors in data analyses. Accordingly, all response variable results were calculated with two-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA), with soil mixture and biostimulants as the factors at α = 0.05, and the combined model being *soil x biostimulant*). Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference post-hoc test was done on all response variable's differences in means. All ANOVA analyses was done in SAS (SAS version 9.4, SAS Institute, Cary, NC) using Proc GLM. Linear regression was used for observing the relationships between various biological and chemical data collected, reported as correlation coefficients " *r* ". SAS Proc REG (SAS version 9.4, SAS Institute, Cary, NC) was run for all regressions.

Results and Discussion

Soil Properties

Soil properties varied significantly among soil treatments except for EC (Table 9). However, only NO₃-N, P, and EC varied significantly in the biostimulant effect, and there were no statistical differences in the *soil x biostimulant* model for any variables tested. Expectedly, the concentration of SOC, NO₃-N, P, and K generally decreased as subsoil content increased, while pH increased with subsoil content. Similar mean values among some mixtures with low amounts of topsoil, such as TS25 and TS12.5 for SOC, or

TS25-TS0 for P, may have been a result of natural soil heterogeneity, or because the mixing ratio is too low to affect levels at the scale of this study despite initial levels being different. In the soil treatments, increases in SOC was likely evidence of accumulation of microbial biomass and unrecoverable plant root biomass (Table 10), and not formation of recalcitrant soil C as this study's timeframe may be too short to accurately observe significant stable SOC accumulation (Grandy and Robertson, 2007; Zanatta et al., 2007; Tejada et al., 2011b; Kallenbach et al., 2016). Soil organic carbon was also positively related to total microbial biomass and unrecoverable root biomass (p<0.05; Table 11). This suggests that soil blending may influence SOC greater than the examined biostimulants in the short-term, and may require longer-term studies to understand how these products influence SOC pools overtime.

In the biostimulant treatments, NO₃-N was greatest in the Control and SSB[®] and least in ProGanics[™] (Table 9). Interestingly, treatment with ProGanics[™] consistently resulted in reduced NO₃-N across all soil blends (Figure 4A), except in TS100 where NO₃-N was similar among biostimulants. This observation of reduced NO₃-N levels among soil treatments may suggest reduced nitrifying microbial activity and on-going recolonization of native nitrifying bacteria in ProGanics[™] (Prosser, 2005). Alternatively, it may also be direct evidence of greater microbial N-immobilization in the blended soils treated with ProGanics[™] (Table 10). Among biostimulant treatments within each soil blend, P was significantly greater in the SSB[®] than ProGanics[™] or the control (Figure B), which may have been a result of enhanced P-solubilization via AMF as SSB[®] contained three AMF inoculants (*Glomus (G.) aggregatum, G. etunicatum, and G. mosseae*). Ultimately, with the exception being N and P, chemical parameters were influenced by soil treatment and not biostimulant amendment, suggesting biostimulants can improve nutrient availability by enhancing microbial processes compared to the control, but they are not as capable at improving nutrient availability across the blended soil treatments alone. Table 9. ANOVA of selected soil properties (with standard deviation) for each treatment.

Treatment	Levels	SOC	TC	Ν	Р	K	EC	pН
		% by	weight		mg kg ⁻¹		dS m⁻¹	
Soil (S)	TS100 ª	2.17 (0.14) a ^b	2.60 (0.17) b	236 (32.5) a	5.75 (0.13) a	333 (19.2) a	0.48 (0.04)	7.88 (0.04) a
	TS50	1.58 (0.11) b	2.87 (0.27) ab	195 (25.0) b	5.08 (1.31) a	265 (14.7) b	0.49 (0.05)	8.08 (0.06) b
	TS25	1.35 (0.12) c	3.18 (0.14) a	173 (26.6) c	3.83 (0.72) b	236 (13.0) c	0.48 (0.04)	8.20 (0.06) c
	TS12.5	1.24 (0.80) cd	3.23 (0.47) a	159 (30.0) c	3.58 (0.79) b	216 (4.31) d	0.49 (0.03)	8.26 (0.07) c
	TS0	1.12 (0.13) d	3.29 (0.63) a	135 (37.0) d	3.33 (0.65) b	192 (11.3) e	0.49 (0.04)	8.34 (0.05) d
	<i>P</i> -value	***	*	***	***	***	ns	***
Biostimulant (B)	Control	1.46 (0.46)	2.90 (0.58)	197 (35.2) a	4.15 (1.50) b	245 (47.9)	0.51 (0.03) a	8.15 (0.18)
(-)	SSB®	1.52 (0.43)	3.12 (0.31)	196 (38.0) a	4.75 (0.85) a	250 (52.1)	0.51 (0.03) a	8.17 (0.16)
	ProGanics [™] <i>P</i> -value	1.50 (0.36) ns ^c	3.08 (0.42) ns	146 (43.2) b	4.05 (1.23) b *	251 (55.3) ns	0.45 (0.02) b	8.15 (0.17) ns
SxB		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns

*p<0.05, ***p<0.0001

^a Treatments are: topsoil control, TS100; topsoil and subsoil mixed 1:1 by volume, TS50; topsoil and subsoil mixed 3:1 by volume, TS25; topsoil and subsoil mixed 7:1 by volume, TS12.5; and 100% subsoil, TS0.

^b Values not followed by a common letter within columns and effect are significantly different at α = 0.05 in a post-hoc Tukey's Honestly Different test.

^cns, not significant

Table 10. ANOVA of biological properties (with standard deviation) for each treatment.

			Recoverable		
		Aboveground	Root	Cumulative	AMF Root
Effects	Levels	Dry Biomass	Biomass	CO ₂ Efflux	colonization
		g	g	g CO ₂ -C m ⁻²	%
Soil (S)	TS100 ª	0.66 (0.10) a ^b	2.72 (0.82) a	119 (27.8) a	70.0 (26.1) a
	TS50	0.58 (0.09) a	2.27 (0.51) ab	111 (37.1) a	65.8 (27.2) a
	TS25	0.45 (0.07) b	1.96 (0.35) b	99.8 (34.1) ab	55.2 (28.8) b
	TS12.5	0.47 (0.06) b	1.96 (0.63) b	100 (34.8) ab	60.5(30.4) ab
	TS0	0.40 (0.07) b	2.24 (0.56) ab	87.4 (34.5) b	64.2 (26.4) ab
	<i>P</i> -value	***	*	*	*
Biostimulant	Control	0.50 (0.11) b	2.29 (0.61)	81.3 (22.4) b	61.2 (28.5)
(B)	SSB®	0.55 (0.14) a	2.37 (0.66)	86.1 (15.9) b	61.9 (27.4)
	ProGanics™	0.49 (0.10) b	2.02 (0.62)	143 (21.0) a	66.3 (29.5)
	<i>P</i> -value	*	ns	ns	ns
S x B		ns ^c	ns	*	*

*p<0.05, ***p<0.0001

^a Treatments are: topsoil control, TS100; topsoil and subsoil mixed 1:1 by volume, TS50; topsoil and subsoil mixed 3:1 by volume, TS25; topsoil and subsoil mixed 7:1 by volume, TS12.5; and 100% subsoil, TS0.

^b Values not followed by a common letter within columns and effect are significantly different at α = 0.05 in a post-hoc Tukey's Honestly Different test.

^cns, not significant

Var	iable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	, 13	14	15
1	Ν	-														
2	Ρ	0.63 **	-													
3	К	0.72 **	0.71 **	-												
4	SOC	0.75 **	0.74 **	0.93 **	-											
5	Dry Biomass	0.60 **	0.59 **	0.71 **	0.75 **	-										
6	Recoverable Root Biomass	0.32 *	0.29 *	0.27 *	0.29 *	0.40 *	-									
7	Total Microbial Abundance	0.48 **	0.61 **	0.87 **	0.83 **	0.61 **	0.27 *	-								
8	AMF Abundance	0.09	0.02	0.07	0.11	0.00	0.05	0.03	-							
9	Percent Colonization	0.11	0.22	0.21	0.27	0.08	0.05	0.29	0.01	-						
10	Actinomycetes Abundance	-0.06	-0.15	-0.07	-0.13	-0.09	-0.10	-0.10	0.74 **	-0.18	-					
11	Gram+ Abundance	-0.08	-0.18	-0.11	-0.16	-0.11	-0.13	-0.13	0.71 **	-0.22	0.99 **	-				
12	Gram- Abundance	-0.07	-0.17	-0.11	-0.13	-0.11	-0.10	-0.13	0.83 **	-0.18	0.97 **	0.97 **	-			
13	Eukaryotic Abundance	-0.21	-0.17	-0.19	-0.24	-0.13	-0.10	-0.17	0.23	-0.28 *	0.53 **	0.62 **	0.55 **	-		
14	Saprotrophic Fungi Abundance	-0.18	-0.27 *	-0.23	-0.20	-0.17	-0.13	-0.20	0.58 **	-0.18	0.65 **	0.73 **	0.77 **	0.64 **	-	
15	CO ₂ Efflux	-0.20	0.07	0.34 **	0.30 *	0.09	-0.16	0.52 **	-0.11	0.12	-0.06	-0.05	-0.08	0.01	-0.06	-

Table 11. Correlation coefficients "*r*" for Nitrogen (N), Phosphorus (P), Potassium (K), Soil Organic Carbon (SOC), Dry Biomass, Recoverable Root Biomass, Total Microbial Abundance, *absolute* abundances of AMF, Percent Colonization (via AMF), *and absolute* abundances of Actinomycetes, Gram+ Bacteria (Gram+), Gram- Bacteria (Gram-), Eukarvotes, Saprotrophic Fungi, and CO₂ efflux (Cumulative).

*p<0.05, **p<0.01



Figure 4. Nitrate-N (NO3₃-N; panel A), Phosphorus (Olsen-P; panel B), Total Microbial Abundance (panel C), and Cumulative CO₂ efflux (panel D) across all biostimulant treatments and clustered according to soil blend ratio with error bars. Different letters indicate significant differences between values between biostimulant treatment Control, SSB[®], or ProGanics[™] in each soil blend. Soil Treatments are: topsoil control, TS100; topsoil and subsoil mixed 1:1 by volume, TS50; topsoil and subsoil mixed 3:1 by volume, TS25; topsoil and subsoil mixed 7:1 by volume, TS12.5; and 100% subsoil, TS0. Biostimulant treatments are: No biostimulant Control, Liventia SSB[®], and Profile ProGanics[™].

Biological Properties

Soil treatment, biostimulant amendment, and the *soil x biostimulant* model had significant effects on aboveground dry biomass production (p<0.0001; Table 10). Dry biomass was greatest in TS100 and TS50 compared to treatments TS25, TS12.5, and TS0. The 1:1 blended subsoil to topsoil produced more vegetative growth than TS0, and similar to TS100 agrees with the findings of Croat et al., (2020), and results previously reported in Chapter 2 of this thesis. On average, TS25, TS12.5, and TS0 achieved aboveground growth only 71% of TS100, which is slightly lower, but similar to, the findings of Power et al. (1981) where spring wheat grown in a 3:1 subsoil to topsoil mixture of reclaimed North Dakota soil postcoal extraction produced approximately 80% of the relative maximum yields. In our study, dry biomass production was positively influenced by to N, P, K, recoverable root biomass, total microbial abundance, and most strongly by SOC (p<0.01; Table 11). Meanwhile, treatment SSB® produced significantly greater dry biomass than the control (0.50 g) and ProGanicsTM (0.49 g). Additionally, SSB® soils were observed to contain significantly greater P-availability among treatment blocks, and could explain how SSB®-treated pots increased wheat biomass, and suggests SSB[®] was superior in enhancing plant growth due to increased P mobilization from its AMF inoculants.

Regardless, the addition of topsoil to subsoil only improved wheat growth when mixed at a 1:1 by weight ratio (Table 10). This mixing threshold was also reported in O'Brien et al. (2017), where wheat grown in 1:1 mixture of subsoil and topsoil produced significantly greater biomass than subsoil only, and is likely due to greater concentrations of SOM, and associated benefits OM has on nutrient cycling and availability (Mummey et al., 2005; Anderson et al., 2008; GIII et al., 2012; Table 10). O'Brien et al. (2017) also reported mixing ≤25% topsoil with subsoil reduced biomass production up to 40% due to nutrient competition in the rhizosphere, brought forth by microbial nutrient demand reducing plant growth. This trend was not observed in our study and demonstrates that the two-week incubation period before planting allowed sufficient time for microbial recolonization to avoid severe plant-nutrient stress (Breker et al., 2018). A possible explanation for the similar biomass observations from TS0, TS12.5, and TS25 was that they simply did not receive a large enough proportion of topsoil to noticeably improve crop growth. This finding could be useful for field-scale remediation projects where soil mixing occurs in order to allow sufficient microbial recolonization and avoid mixed subsoil to topsoil at ratios greater than 1:1. Bartsch et

al., (2022) reported even after crude oil contamination of subsoil, and subsequent remediation via thermal desorption and natural degradation, a 1:1 blend ratio produced crop yields similar to the topsoil control. However, root biomass analysis was not performed in that study.

Total recoverable root biomass significantly varied among the soil treatments, but was not different among the biostimulants or in the soil x biostimulant model (Table 10). Treatments TS25 and TS12.5 contained significantly less recoverable root biomass than TS100, which contained the greatest quantity of recoverable root biomass. Interestingly, both TS50 and TS0 were intermediate to the control, TS25, and TS12.5. Treatment TS50 may have had similar root biomass to TS100 because there were adequate levels of SOC in the 1:1 mixture to promote biological activity (O'Brien et al., 2017). Meanwhile, statistically similar root biomass levels in TS0 relative to TS100 could be attributed to nutrient deficiency from no topsoil. Nutrient deficiency has been reported to stimulate root growth and increase root-to-shoot ratios because of potential stress responses that lead to the accumulation of sugars in plant roots, stimulating root growth and soil exploration, but not shoot growth (Cakmak et al., 1994; Hermans et al., 2006). This could explain why TS0 root growth was similar to TS100 while biomass was not. Finally, TS12.5 and TS25 may either have contained just enough topsoil, plant nutrients, and biotic activity that stress-related root growth was inhibited, while still not having enough plant nutrients for aboveground biomass production. Nevertheless, despite TS12.5 and TS25 containing 12.5% and 25% topsoil, respectively, aboveground biomass production was not improved. Within the boundaries of this study the TS50 would be the most beneficial soil blending ratio to promote root growth and reduce stress-related root growth over TS25, TS12.5, and TS0 when topsoil is limited or not available.

Cumulative Soil CO₂ Efflux

During the 40-day laboratory study, cumulative soil CO₂ efflux significantly varied among soil blends and biostimulant treatments, but not in the *soil x biostimulant model* (Table 10). The greatest cumulative soil CO₂ efflux was observed in TS100 and TS50 with 119 and 111 g CO₂-C m⁻², respectively, and was significantly greater than TS0. Measuring CO₂ efflux is indicative of the rate of soil organic matter decomposition by soil microbes, and is influenced by land management and use, and contains a positive relationship with temperature, moisture, and aeration, until a certain point (Frank et al., 2006). Soil disturbances such as tillage or excavation can also stimulate CO₂ respiration due to increased aeration

and may suggest a net loss of C to the atmosphere (Reicosky et al., 1997). While topsoil addition benefitted CO₂ efflux in all blending ratios (Table 10), additional sources of soil CO₂ respiration may come from plant roots, or soil fauna, and alter interpretation (Kuzyakov, 2006). In our study, there was no soil macrofauna or aboveground plant biomass inside the respiration chamber during readings so contributions to cumulative efflux are assumed to be limited to wheat roots and soil microbes.

Additionally, increased soil respiration rates may suggest increased SOC accumulation and greater microbial abundance in undisturbed soil (Binet et al., 1998; Frank et al., 2006). In a North Dakota field study of wheat growing in silt loam soil, CO₂ efflux was 1.9 g CO₂-C m⁻² day⁻¹ and 2.8 g CO₂-C m⁻² day⁻¹ under a wheat-fallow and grassland land use, respectively (Frank et al., 2006). Our study achieved similar daily rates, averaging 3.0 g CO₂-C m⁻² day⁻¹ in TS100 and 2.0 g CO₂-C m⁻² day⁻¹ in the control. Since Frank et al. (2006) conducted efflux measurements continuously in summer and winter (where climatic conditions are not as conducive to soil microbial respiration, such as low soil temperature, soil water content, or certain land uses), the reported daily CO₂ efflux rate may have been slightly lower than our results (Wagai et al., 1998; Frank et al., 2006). Ultimately, the subsoil blending at any of the ratios in our study provide evidence that blended soils can facilitate microbial activity similar to topsoil at significantly lower total microbial abundances. Therefore, analyzing how CO₂ efflux responds to biostimulant treatments with various ingredients may be necessary to determine if biostimulants can further encourage organic matter degradation and SOC accumulation.

Among biostimulant treatments, ProGanics[™] respired significantly greater cumulative g CO₂-C m⁻² than SSB or the control, regardless of soil blend (Figure 4D). The control and SSB[®] treatments did not vary significantly (Table 10). ProGanics[™] produced a daily rate of 3.6 g CO₂-C m⁻² day⁻¹, which is greater than the TS100 alone. Kruger et al. (2020), reported respiration rates of 2.4 to 2.7 g CO₂-C m⁻² day⁻¹ in soil respiration chambers soil CO₂ efflux applied with ProGanics[™] and is near, but slightly less than our results. Greater daily efflux rates in this study may be due to the presence of plant roots and the microbial primer applied that contains labile C, which were absent in Kruger et al. (2020). No other studies with ProGanics[™] were identified. Overall, the inoculants *Bacillus firmus* and *Rhizophagus intraradices* when applied with seaweed extracts and polysaccharides (in ProGanics[™]), was the best method for encouraging CO₂ efflux. Conversely, SSB[®] may not have experienced increased CO₂ efflux due to the

lack of other ingredients which can provide soil organic matter for microbial decomposition. Lastly, the SSB[®] may not have improved the cumulative CO₂ efflux if the introduction the microbial species created a soil ecosystem where microbial activity was limited by resource competition. For example, four *Glomus sp*. (AMF), three Gram negative *Pseudomonas sp*. and three Gram positive *Bacillus sp*., which are all saprotrophic bacteria (Table 8).

Soil CO₂ efflux was positively related to K, SOC, and total microbial abundance (*p*<0.05), and may explain why soil respiration was greater in the ProGanics[™] soil than the control or SSB[®]. Approximately 94% of ProGanics[™] (by-weight) is OM including tree fibers, polysaccharides, seaweed extract, and humic acids, and have all been positively reported with microbial activity and plant growth (Battacharya et al., 2015; Canellas et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2018). Additionally, the product contained inorganic fertilizer and labile C materials that have been reported to increase soil CO₂ efflux by over 24% compared to non-fertilized soil (Rui et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017). Ultimately, Proganics[™] demonstrated potential for increasing microbial abundance, activity, and mineralization of C substrates in disturbed soils, however, the activity did not result in improved plant growth suggesting additional reclamation methods should be considered during soil reclamation if greater crop growth and yield is desired. *AMF Colonization*

Root colonization via AMF significantly varied among soil treatments and in the *soil x biostimulant* model, but not among biostimulant treatments (Table 10). Our study tested whether root colonization would be positively associated with subsoil content due to P scarcity (Liu et al., 2016; Deng et al., 2014; Chapter 2), however, P availability did not display any strong association with percent colonization (Table 11). Colonization was greatest in soil treatments TS100 and TS50, and least in TS25. Our results suggest similar colonization percentages in TS100 and TS50 were likely due to containing increased OM from the topsoil compared to the other blended treatments (Yang et al., 2011). Colonization percentages in TS12.5 and TS0 may have been a result of a P-deficiency response from the wheat that TS25 did no encounter from containing enough topsoil to avoid a stress response (Kahiluoto et al., 2001). Additionally, root colonization percentages were negatively related to eukaryotic abundance (*p*<0.05; Table 11). This may be from AMF reducing the amount of carbohydrates in root exudates which also reduces food sources for rhizosphere bacteria and their protist predators (Henkes et al., 2018). Ultimately, soil treatment and AMF

abundance did not directly reduce the ability of AMF-plant symbiotic relationships to form, and was consistent with Bartsch et al. (2022). Nutrient availability, and therefore topsoil concentration, may influence the overall success of the association in terms of plant biomass production and P uptake in greenhouse settings.

Biostimulant treatments did not significantly increase root colonization percentages compared to the control or SSB[®]. ProGanics[™] contained inorganic fertilizer in its product, which has been observed to decrease root colonization percent in various crops due to decreased AMF activity and increased P availability (Douds et al., 1993; Bakhshandeh, 2017; Shahabivand et al., 2018). Information about SSB[®] is not known, but generally AMF inoculation is reported to have inconsistent results on root colonization, as the symbiosis is driven by P dynamics and also dependent on host plant species and genotypes (Venegas et al., 2021). Thus, subsoil properties beyond P may be affecting the frequency and effectiveness AMF-plant mutualistic relationships that ProGanics[™] nor SSB[®] can ameliorate in this short-term study. Interestingly, root colonization in the *soil x biostimulant* model in TS25 Control and ProGanics[™] treatments were more statistically similar to TS0 despite containing 25% topsoil. Ultimately, AMF microbial species can continue to form symbiotic relationships with host plants in subsoil, in blended subsoil with topsoil, and were not negatively affected by AMF abundance.

AMF Community Composition

Mean AMF community composition percent (marker 16:1w5c) from the PLFA analysis varied among biostimulant treatments, but not among soil treatments or the *soil x biostimulant* model (Table 12). In the biostimulant treatments, AMF composition was significantly greatest in the control (4.99%), and least in the ProGanicsTM and SSB[®] treatments. Following a linear regression analysis, percent community composition of AMF, but not absolute AMF abundance (p>0.05; Table 11), contained a positive relationship with P-availability (R^2 = 0.23, p<0.0001), which disagrees with results in Chapter 2 of this thesis where absolute AMF abundance contained a positive relationship with P (Liu et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2020). Also, absolute AMF abundance was positively associated to other microbial groups (Table 11).

Comparing studies involving AMF inoculation is inherently complex due to differing inoculation rates and species of biostimulants, but similar studies have reported that AMF inoculation of soils increases soil AMF biomass. However, those effects were not observed in this study or other studies

(Alkan et al., 2006; Köhl et al., 2015). Additionally, Janoušková et al. (2013) observed *Glomus intraradices, Gl. claroideum*, and *Gl. mosseae* inoculum had inconsistent results on AMF abundance depending on what species were introduced and what species were already present in the soils. One explanation offered by the authors was competition between native AMF species and the inoculum resulted in a depletion of nutrients and a decline in AMF community composition percent. This suggests AMF abundances may have been lower in SSB[®] and ProGanics[™] compared to the control as a result of both soils receiving AMF inoculum, whereas, the control did not receive any additional AMF inoculants. Greater AMF composition in the control treatment could also be a result of residual mycelium biomass being assimilated into other microbes in the soil (Ngosong et al., 2012). Overall, AMF community composition percentage was not an accurate proxy for predicting crop yield potential in remediated soils, evident by variation in wheat biomass production in soil treatments despite similar AMF community composition values across the same treatments (Table 11). However, absolute AMF abundance had a positive relationship to aboveground biomass yield (Table 10), and may be used as a proxy for crop

Table 12. Mean microbial group percent composition actinomycetes, gram-positive bacteria, gram-negative	(and standa e bacteria, a	ard deviation) of arbund nd eukaryotes.	uscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), sapro	phytic fungi,
Total				

Effects	Levels	AMF	Microbial Abundance	Gram+ Bacteria	Gram- Eukaryotes Bacteria		Saprophyti c Fungi	Actinomycetes
		%	nmol g ⁻¹ soil			%		
Soil (S)	TS100 ª	3.96 (1.49)	77.4 (10.4) a	39.2 (2.02)	32.2 (1.56) a	1.02 (0.54) a	3.06 (1.44)	20.6 (1.68) c
	TS50	3.38 (2.00)	55.2 (10.9) b	40.3 (3.71)	30.9 (2.71) ab	0.41 (0.53) b	2.98 (2.00)	22.0 (2.39) bc
	TS25	3.27 (1.80)	40.8 (7.86) c	39.8 (3.10)	30.8 (2.33) ab	0.52 (0.79) b	3.09 (1.70)	22.5 (2.30) abc
	TS12.5	3.16 (2.02)	36.3 (7.13) c	40.0 (3.52)	30.2 (1.69) ab	0.60 (0.91) ab	3.01 (1.77)	23.1 (2.53) ab
	TS0	2.84 (1.88)	27.1 (7.60) d	40.1 (2.95)	28.7 (2.81) b	0.82 (1.25) ab	3.39 (2.08)	24.1 (3.34) a
	P-value	ns ^c	***	ns	*	***	ns	*
Bios-	Control	4.99 (0.42) a ^b	46.2 (19.8) b	37.8 (0.62) b	31.6 (1.40) a	0.20 (0.46) b	2.98 (0.67) b	22.4 (1.62) b
timulant	SSB®	2.47 (2.28) b	39.6 (16.8) c	42.0 (4.15) a	29.1 (3.23) b	0.26 (0.57) b	1.43 (1.36) c	24.7 (2.97) a
(B)	ProGanics™	2.51 (0.76) b	56.3 (19.4) a	39.8 (1.41) b	30.9 (1.80) a	1.56 (0.67) a	4.91 (0.95) a	20.3 (0.92) c
	P-value	***	***	*	*	***	***	***
S x B		ns	ns	ns	ns	*	ns	ns

79

*P<0.05, ***p<0.0001

^a Treatments are: topsoil control, TS100; subsoil and topsoil mixed 1:1 by volume, TS50; subsoil and topsoil mixed 3:1 by volume, TS25; subsoil and topsoil mixed 7:1 by volume, TS12.5; and 100% subsoil, TS0. ^b Values not followed by a common letter within columns and effect are significantly different at α = 0.05 in a post-hoc Tukey's

Honestly Different test.

^cns, not significant

Total Microbial Abundance

In the biostimulants effect, total microbial abundance was greatest in the ProGanicsTM, and least in SSB[®], while no differences in SOC were observed. ProGanics[™] consistently increased total microbial abundance within soil blends compared to SSB® and sometimes the control (Figure 4C), demonstrating the effectiveness of ProGanics[™] to encourage rapid soil microbial recolonization. Additionally, total microbial abundance was likely greatest in the ProGanics™ treatments after 40 d because of labile C sources in the amendment such as wood material, polysaccharides, seaweed extract, and humic acids. Labile C sources can quickly be assimilated into microbial biomass, and have all been positively reported with microbial biomass (de Graaff et al., 2012; Brackin et al., 2014; Francioli et al., 2016; Ramirez et al., 2020). Although some constituents of ProGanics[™] may have negative effects on certain microbial groups, such as mineral fertilizer on fungi (Gryndler et al., 2006), saprotrophic fungi in our study were only negatively related to P (*p*<0.05; Table 11). Therefore, the combined effects of the ProGanics[™] ingredients likely resulted in the increased total microbial abundance. In Brackin et al. (2014), sucrose addition to soil microcosms increased total microbial biomass 1.6 to 2.0-fold after 30 d, but declined after labile inputs were mineralized. Similarly, de Graaff et al. (2010) reported 1 to >4-fold increases of bacterial and fungal biomass after additions of labile C and plant residue, and overall agrees with our finding of a 1.2 to 1.4-fold increase of total microbial abundance in ProGanics[™] over the other two biostimulant treatments. While positively associated to above ground biomass production (Table 11), greater total microbial abundance did not reflect similar effects on aboveground wheat growth, notably in SSB[®].

Conversely, SSB[®] had the lowest total microbial abundance but produced similar soil CO₂ efflux as the control (Table 10). The SSB[®] inoculant product had five species of fungi (four arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi; one yeast), and eight species of bacteria including Gram- and Gram+, aerobic and anaerobic bacterium. Lower total microbial abundance is likely a response to soil ecosystem changes following soil inoculation of microbial species in different groups with different metabolic pathways, microbes in the same group with similar metabolic pathways, and intermixing soil nutrients thereby increasing resource competition between microbial species in scarce space (Ghoul and Mitri, 2016). Interspecies and inter-group competition also likely altered soil microbial group abundance, community

structure, and species diversity, however, community composition percentage may stabilize overtime (Ghoul and Mitri. 2016; Eldridge et al., 2017). Also, this study did not aim to analyze species diversity or taxonomy.

Unlike total abundance, community composition percentages (Table 12) demonstrate SSB[®] increased the content of soil actinomycetes and Gram-/+ bacteria compared to ProGanics[™] and the control. This was likely a result of the high proportion of bacterial species in SSB[®]. Gu et al. (2020) reported microbial inoculation of soil increased bacterial composition compared to mineral fertilizer and the control. Additionally, Gu et al. (2020) reported that the increased bacterial composition allowed for greater aboveground biomass in inoculated soils, while also increasing root growth in two of the three inoculation treatments. In our study, inoculation with SSB[®] was observed to increase aboveground dry biomass production (Table 11), suggesting inoculation can aid plant growth in disturbed soils from enhanced plant nutrient accumulation and perhaps increased exudation of beneficial enzymes or compounds (Hayat et al., 2010).

Soil Bacteria (Non-Filamentous)

Community composition percentage of Gram+ bacteria significantly varied among biostimulants but not among soil blends or in the *soil x biostimulant* model (Table 12). Treatment with SSB[®] contained the greatest percent community composition of Gram+ bacteria compared to ProGanics[™] and the control. Additionally, absolute abundance of Gram+ bacteria was positively related to AMF, Gram-bacteria, saprotrophic fungi, and actinomycetes (*p*<0.01; Table 11). Gram- bacteria percent community composition significantly varied in the soil and biostimulant treatments, but not in the *soil x biostimulant* model. In the soil treatments, Gram- percent composition was greatest in TS100, least in TS0, and intermediate among the other soil blends, suggesting bacterial total biomass is not greatly disturbed from topsoil and subsoil blending. What's more, absolute Gram- bacteria abundance was positively related with AMF, Gram+ bacteria, saprotrophic fungi, and actinomycetes (*p*<0.01; Table 11), while Gram-bacterial community composition was least in SSB[®] compared to ProGanics[™] and the control. Overall, Gram+ bacteria were greater in community composition percentage over Gram-, while both microbial groups were influenced more by biostimulant treatment than soils blend.

Notably, biostimulant treatment SSB[®] inoculated soils with three Gram+ bacterial species (*Bacillus (B.) subtilis, B. licheniformis, and B. thuringiensis*), and five Gram- bacterial species (*Acicetobacter calcoaceticus, Enterobacter cloacae, Pseudomonas (P.) aeruginosa, P. flourescens, and P. putida*). ProGanics[™] only contained one Gram+ bacterial inoculant (*B. firmus*). Bacterial inoculation is usually done to promote plant growth, but directly or indirectly, can result in shifts in bacterial group composition. For example, rhizospheres inoculated with Gram+ (*B. subtilis*) and Gram- bacteria (*P. flourescens*) have been observed to significantly alter the overall bacterial community composition, diversity, and significantly increase specific species abundances over others (Gadhave et al., 2018; Jiménez et al., 2020). Although no taxonomic analyses were conducted, the addition of these species may have altered native bacterial populations. Because ProGanics[™] and the control were similar, it could be inferred the addition of *B. firmus* did not result in any Gram+ bacterial community shifts. Similarly, the lack of Gram- bacteria inoculants in the ProGanics[™] biostimulant likely resulted in the community composition percentage to be similar to the control despite other ingredients. However, the addition of both Gram+ and Gram- bacteria in SSB[®] influenced community composition by altering C pools and substrate fluctuations (Zhang et al., 2013).

Eukaryotes

Eukaryotic community composition percentage, most commonly soil protists, significantly varied in the soil, biostimulant, and *soil x biostimulant* model (Table 12). Protist community composition was greatest in the TS100, and was least in TS50 and TS25. Among the biostimulants, protists were most abundance in the ProGanics[™] treatment with 1.65% composition, and least in the control and SSB[®] with 0.20 and 0.26% composition, respectively. It was also observed eukaryotes were positively related to all other soil microbial group abundances, likely reflecting topsoil's affinity for microbial activity and abundance (*p*<0.01; Table 11). Water availability and soil moisture have been shown to regulate soil eukaryotic diversity, abundance, and density (Kennedy, 1993; Geisen et al., 2014; Geisen et al., 2018), which suggests ProGanics[™] may have increased the water holding capacity and/or soil moisture of the soil treatments. However, gravimetric water content at field capacity (-33 kPa) nor wilting point (-1500 kPa) varied significantly among any soil treatments (data not shown) despite the already present SOC's ability to increase plant available water (O'Brien et al., 2016), or ProGanics[™] being reported to increase soil water-holding capacity \geq 900% (Kruger et al., 2020). Ultimately, further investigations into gravimetric pressures among soil treatments to determine plant available water could help further determine the effects of biostimulants containing OM on protists populations.

Saprotrophic Fungi

Saprophytic fungi percent composition varied in the biostimulant only (Table 12). Percent composition was greatest in ProGanics[™] and least in SSB[®]. Absolute saprotrophic fungi biomarker abundance was positively related to all other microbial groups, and negatively related to P (*p*<0.05; Table 11). Reduced fungal composition in SSB[®] may have been a result of intergroup competition following inoculation; where increased bacteria and actinomycetes abundance effectively lowered the composition of saprotrophic fungi; or by consumption of introduced yeasts and other fungi by soil bacteria and protists (Botha, 2011; Ballhausen and de Boer, 2017). ProGanics[™] may have had the greatest saprotrophic fungi due to the availability of suitable food sources compared to SSB[®], as wood fibers and other OM has been observed to enhance fungal species composition (Kubartivá et al. (2008), which would support increased colonization of the soil matrix and rhizosphere (Boddy and Hiscox, 2016). Biostimulant ingredients can therefore influence soil microbial composition, including microbial inoculants and/or non-living components.

Actinomycetes

Actinomycetes composition varied by soil and biostimulant treatment, but not the *soil x biostimulant* model (Table 12) where composition was significantly greater in TS0 and least in TS100. In the biostimulant treatments, actinomycetes composition was greatest SSB[®] and least in ProGanicsTM. The actinomycetes biomarker abundance was positively related to all other microbial groups (p<0.05; Table 11). Subsoil may have contained greater composition of actinomycetes as result of decreased percentages of other microbial groups, such as Gram- bacteria. Greater actinomycetes composition in SSB[®], may be due native actinomycetes filling in a soil niche where native and inoculated species with similar metabolic and environmental niches were competing for resources. Additionally, variability between actinomycetes and composition in the soil and biostimulant may have a been a result of a competitive edge in metabolizing soil C substrates, leading to actinomycetes out competing saprotrophic fungi (Lewandowski, et al., 2015).

Conclusions

The goal of this study was to determine the effects of two different biostimulant products on soil biological properties, wheat growth, and soil microbial communities in various blended topsoil and subsoil ratios in a greenhouse study. Topsoil concentration influenced soil biological properties and wheat responses more than biostimulants. Soils blended below a 1:1 ratio demonstrated low potential for reclamation success and soil productivity due to declines in microbial activity and ecosystem functioning. Fortunately, this study also demonstrates reclamation strategies may benefit from 1:1 soil blending when facing topsoil scarcity. While the studied biostimulants were not as effective as topsoil concentration in influencing soil biological properties, their use still influenced microbial-driven nutrient systems when compared to the control treatment. SSB® was effective at increasing P-availability and resulted in increased wheat dry biomass growth. Meanwhile, ProGanics[™] did not affect wheat growth but resulted in increased microbial N-immobilization, microbial biomass, and CO2 efflux. This phenomenon may explain why plant growth was not influenced in ProGanics[™] and should be considered where crops are being grown on treated soils. In regards to the soil ecosystem, biostimulants showed potential to benefit microbial recolonization of blended soils compared to the control, but individual microbial group responses were dependent on biostimulant components such as woody fibers high in recalcitrant C, or specific microbial inoculants which can shift microbial community composition. Overall, our greenhouse study reveals potential uses for biostimulants in improving microbial recolonization and processes in disturbed soils in the short-term, but choosing products that improve plant function, microbial activity, and soil properties, such as microbial diverse biostimulants, may be the best choice. Further field evaluations of biostimulant effects on soil properties and plant growth are needed to fully evaluate their potential use in reclamation.

Literature Cited

- Alkan N., Gadkar V., Yarden O. & Kapulnik Y. 2006. Analysis of quantitative interactions between two species of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, Glomus mosseae and G. intraradices, by real-time PCR. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72,4192–4199.
- Al-Karaki, G.N., A. Al-Raddad, and R.B. Clarck. 1998. Water stress and mycorrhizal Isolate Efects on Growth and Nutrient Acquisition of Wheat. Journal of Plant Nutrition. 21(5):891-902.

- Al-Karaki, G.N., and M. Al-Omoush. 2006. Wheat response to phosphogypsum and mycorrhizal fungi in alkaline soil. Journal of Plant Nutrition. 25(4):873-883. doi:10.1081/PLN-120002966.
- Allen, E.B., and M.F. Allen. 1980. Natural re-establishment of vesicular- arbuscular mycorrhizae following stripmine reclamation in Wyoming. J. Appl. Ecol. 17:139–147. doi:10.2307/2402969.
- Anderson, J.D., L.J. Ingram, and P.D. Stahl. 2008. Influence of reclamation management practices on microbial biomass carbon and soil organic carbon accumulation in semiarid mined lands in Wyoming. Applied Soil Ecology. 387-397. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2008.06.008.
- Atwell, B.J. 1990. The effect of soil compaction on wheat during early tillering. New Phytologist. 115:29-35. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1990.tb00918.x
- Awale, R., M.A. Emeson, and S. Machado. 2017. Soil organic carbon pools as early indicators for soil organic matter stock changes under different tillage practices in inland Pacific Northwest. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution. 5(1-13). doi:10.3389/fevo.2017.00096
- Bai, T., P. Wang, C. Ye, and S. Hu. 2021. Form of nitrogen input dominates N effects on root growth and soil aggregation: A meta-analysis. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 157:108251. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2021.108251
- Bakhshandeh, S., P. Corneo, P. Mariotte, M.A. Kertesz, and F.E. Dijkstra. 2017. Effect of crop rotation on mycorrhizal colonization and wheat yield under different fertilizer treatments. 247:130-136. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.06.027.
- Ballhausen, M.B., and W. de Boer. 2016. The sapro-rhizosphere: Carbon flow from saprotrophic fungi into fungus-feeding bacteria. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 102:14-17. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.06.014
- Bartlett, R.J., and J.L. McIntosh. 1969. pH-Dependent bonding of potassium by a spodosol. Soil Science Society of America Journal. 33(4):535-539. doi:10.2136/sssaj1969.03615995003300040016x
- Bartsch, Z.J., DeSutter, T.M., Gasch, C.K., and Casey, F.X.M. (2022). Plant growth, soil properties, and microbial community four years after thermal desorption. Agronomy. 1-16. doi:10.1002/agj2.21008
- Battacharyya, D., M.Z. Babgohari, P. Rathor, and B. Prithiviraj. 2015. Seaweed extracts as biostimulants in horticulture. Scientia Horticulturae. 196: 39-48. doi:10.1016/j.scientia.2015.09.012.

- Bian, M., M. Zhou, D. Sun, and L. Chengdao. 2013. Molecular approaches unravel the mechanism of acid soil tolerance of plants. The Crop Journal. 1:93-104. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cj.2013.08.002
- Binet, F., L. Fayolle, M. Pussard, J.J. Crawford, S.J. Traina, and O.H. Tuovinen. 1998. Significance of earthworms in stimulanting soil microbial activity. Biology and Fertility of Soils. 27:79-84. doi:10.1007/s003740050403
- Begum, N., C. Qin, M.A. Ahanger, S. Raza, M.I. Khan, M. Ashraf, N. Ahmed, and L. Zhang. 2019. Role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in plant growth regulation: implications in abiotic stress rolerance. Frontiers in Plant Science. 10:1068. doi:10.3389/fpls.2019.01068.
- Boddy, L., and J. Hiscox. 2017. Fungal ecology: principles and mechanisms of colonization and competition by saprotrophic fungi. Microbial Spectrum. 4(6):FUNK-0019-2016. doi:10.1128 /microbiolspec.FUNK-0019-2016.
- Botha, A. 2011. The importance and ecology of yeasts in soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 43:1-8. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.10.001
- Brackin, R., N. Robinson, P. Lakshmanan, and S. Schmidt. 2014. Soil microbial responses to labile carbon input differ in adjacent sugarcane and forest soils. Soil Research. 52:307-316. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/SR13276
- Breker, M.B., T.M. DeSutter, A. Chatterjee, and A.F. Wick. 2018. Microbial response to sodic soil amendments: flue-gas gypsum, by-product lime, and langbeinite. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis. 49:22. 2894-2904. doi:10.1080/00103624.2018.1547391
- Bremer, E., H. Janzen, and R. McKenzie. 2002. Short-term impact of fallow frequency and perennial grass on soil organic carbon in a Brown Chernozem in southern Alberta. Canadian Journal of Soil Science. 82(4):481-488. doi:10.4141/S02-007
- Buyer, J.S., and M. Sasser. 2012. High throughput phospholipid fatty acid analysis of soils. Appl. Soil Ecol. 61:127-130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2012.06.005.
- Cakmak, I., C. Hengeler, and H. Marschner.1994. Partitioning of shoot and root dry matter and carbohydrates in bean plants suffering from phosphorus, potassium and magnesium deficiency. Journal of Experimental Botany. 45:1245-1250. doi:10.1093/jxb/45.9.1245

- Calvo, P., L. Nelson, and J.W. Kloepper. 2014. Agricultural uses of plant biostimulants. Plant Soil. 383:3-41. doi:10.1007/s11104-014-2131-8
- Canellas, L.P., F.L. Olivares, N.O. Aguiar, D.L. Jones, A. Nebbioso, P. Mazzei, and A. Piccolo. 2015. Humic and fulvic acids as biostimulants in horticulture. Scientia Horticulturae. 196: 15-27. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2015.09.013
- Contosta, A.R., S.D. Frey, and A.B. Cooper. 2011. Seasonal dynamics of soil respiration and N mineralization in chronically warmed and fertilized soils. Ecosphere. 2(3):1-21. doi:10.1890/ES10-00133.1
- Costa, O.Y.A., J.M. Raaijmakers, E.E. Kuramae. 2018. Microbial Extracellular Polymeric Substances: Ecological Function and Impact on Soil Aggregation. Frontiers in Microbiology. 9:1-14. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2018.01636
- Cozzolino, V., V. Di Meo, and A. Piccolo. 2013. Impact of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi application on maize production and soil phosphorus availability. Journal of Geochemical Exploration. 129:40-44. doi:10.1016/j.gexplo.2013.02.006
- Croat, S.J., P.L. O'Brien, C.K. Gasch, F.X.M. Casey, and T.M. DeSutter. 2020. Crop production on heavily disturbed soils following crude oil remediation. Agronomy Journal. 112:130-138. doi:10.1002/agj2.20077.
- Davidson, E.A., K. Savage, L.V. Verchot, and R. Navarro. 2002. Minimizing artifacts and biases in chamber-based measurements of soil respiration. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology. 113:21-37. doi:10.1016/S0168-1923(02)00100-4
- Deacon, L.J., E.J. Pryce-Miller, J.C. Frankland, B.W. Bainbridge, P.D. Moore, C.H. Robinson. 2006.
 Diversity and function of decomposer. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 38(1): 7-20.
 doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.04.013
- De Graaff, M.A., A.T. Classen, H.F. Castro, and C.W. Schadt. 2010. Labile soil carbon inputs mediate the soil microbial community composition and plant residue decomposition rates. New Phytologist. 188(4):1055-1064. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03427.x

- Deng, Y., G. Feng, X. Chen, and C. Zou. 2017. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal colonization is considerable at optimal Olson-P levels for maximized yields in an intensive wheat-maize cropping system. Field Crops Research. 209:1-9. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2017.04.004
- Dornbusch, M.J., R.F. Limb, H.A.K. Tomlinson, A.L.M. Daigh, and K.K. Sedivec. 2020. Evaluation of soil treatment techniques on remediated brine spill sites in semi-arid rangelands. Journal of Environmental Management. 260: 110100. https://doi.ord/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110100.
- Douds, D.D. Jr, R.R. Janke, and S.E. Peters. 1993. VAM fungus spore populations and colonization of roots of maize and soybean under conventional and low-input sustainable agriculture. Agriculture, Ecosystem, and Environment. 43:325–335.
- du Jardin, P. Plant Biostimulants: Definition, concept, main categories and regulation. Scientia Horticulturae. 196:3-14. doi:10.1016/j.scienta.2015.09.021
- Eldridge, D.J., M. Delgado-Baquerizo, S.K. Travers, J. Val, I. Oliver, K. Hamonts, et al. 2017. Competition drives the response of soil microbial diversity to increased grazing by vertebrate herbivores. Ecology. 98(7):1922-1931. doi:10.1002/ecy.1879
- Fang, C., and J., Moncrieff. 2005. The variation of soil microbial respiration with depth in relation to soil carbon composition. Plant and Soil. 268:243-253. DOI 10.1007/s11104-004-0278-4.
- Fernando, F.N., and J.A. Stika. 2021. Exploration of unconventional oil and gas (UOAG) development on farmland: Findings from the Bakken shale of North Dakota. The Extractive Industries and Society. 8(1):400-412. doi:10.1016/j.exis.2021.01.001
- Franciolo, D., E. Schulz, G. Lentendu, T. Wubet, F. Buscot, and T. Reitz. 2016. Mineral vs. organic amendments: microbial community structure, activity and abundance of agriculturally relevant microbes are driven by long-term fertilization strategies. Frontiers in Microbiology. 7:1446. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.01446
- Frank, K., D. Beegle, and J. Denning. 1998. Phosphorus. p. 21-30. In J.R. Brown (ed) Recommended Chemical Soil Test Procedures for the North Central Region. North Central Reg. Res. Publ. No. 221 (revised).

- Frank, A.B., M.A. Lieberg, D.L. Tanaka. 2006. Management effects on soil CO2 efflux in northern semiarid grassland and cropland. Soil and Tillage Research. 89:78-85. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2005.06.009
- Gavlak, R., D. Horneck, and R. Miller. 2005. Plant, soil and water reference methods for the Western Region. Western Regional Extension Publication (WREP) 125, WERA-103 Techincal Committee. http://www.naptprogram.org/files/napt/western-states-method-manual-2005.pdf.
- Geisen, S., C. Bandow, J. Römbke, and M. Bonkowski. 2014. Soil water availability strongly alters the community composition of soil protists. 57:205-213. doi:10.1016/j.pedobi.2014.10.001
- Geisen, S., E.A.D. Mitchell, S. Adl, M. Bonkowski, M. Dunthorn, F. Ekelund, et al. 2018. Soil protists: a fertile frontier in soil biology research. FEMS Microbiology Reivews. 42(3):293-323. doi:10.1093/femsre/fuy006
- Ghosh, M., W. Ashiq, H.B. Vasava, D.N. Vidana Gamage, P.K. Patra, and A. Biswas. 2021. Short-term carbon sequestration and changes of soil organic carbon pools in rice under integrated nutrient management in India. Agriculture. 11:348. doi:10.3390/agriculture11040348
- Ghoul, M., and S. Mitri. 2016. The ecology and evolution of microbial competition. Trends in Microbiology. 24(10):833-845. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.06.011.
- Gill, J.S., G.J. Clark, P.W. Sale, R.R. Peries, and C. Tang. 2012. Deep placement of organic amendments in dense sodic subsoil increases summer fallow efficiency and the use of deep soil water by crops. Plant and Soil. 359:57-69. doi:10.1007/s11104-012-1126-6
- Grandy, A.S., and G.P. Robertson. 2007. Land-use intensity effects on soil organic carbon accumulation rates and mechanisms. Ecosystems. 10:58-73. doi:10.1007/s10021-006-9010-y
- Gryndler, M., J. Larsen, H. Hrselovac, V. Rezaccovac, H. Gryndlerovac, and J. Kubact. 2006. Organic and mineral fertilization, respectively, increase and decrease the development of external mycelium of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a long- term field experiment. Mycorrhiza 16:159-166. doi:10.1007/s00572-005-0027-4
- Gu, Y., K. Dong, S. Geisen, W. Yang, Y. Yan, D. Gu, et al. 2020. The effect of microbial inoculant origin on the rhizosphere bacterial community composition and plant growth-promotion. Plant and Soil. 452(1-2):105-117. doi: 10.1007/s11104-020-04545-w

- Hayat, R., S. Ali, U. Amara, R. Khalid, and I. Ahmed. 2010. Soil beneficial bacteria and their role in plant growth promotion: a review. Annals of Microbiology. 60(4):579-598. doi:10.1007/s13213-010-0117-1
- Henkes, G.J., E. Kandeler, S. Marhan, S. Scheu, and M. Bonkowski. 2018. Interactions of mycorrhiza and protists in the rhizospere systemically alter microbial community composition, plant shoot-to-root ratio and within-root system nitrogen allocation. Frontiers in Environmental Science. 6:17. doi:10.3389/fenvs.2018.00117
- Hermans, C., J. Hammond, P. White, N. Verbruggen. 2006. How do plants respond to nutrient shortage by biomass allocation? Trends in Plant Science. 11(12):610-617. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2006.10.007
- Hu, Y., D. Xiang, S.D. Veresoglou, F. Chen, Y. Chen, Z. Hao, et al. 2014. Soil organic carbon and soil structure are driving microbial abundance and community composition across the arid and semiarid grasslands in northern China. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 77:51-57. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.06.014
- Hussain, Z., H.M. Rehman, T. Akhtar, H. Alsamadany, B.T. Hamooh, T. Mujtaba, et al. 2018. Humic substances: determining potential molecular regulatory processes in plants. Frontiers in Plant Science. 9:263. doi:10.3389/fpls.2018.00263
- Ingram, L.J., G.E. Schuman, P.D. Stahl, and L.K. Spackman. 2005. Microbial respiration and organic carbon indicate nutrient cycling recovery in reclaimed soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69:1737-1745. doi:10.2136/sssaj2004.0371.
- Janoušková, M., K. Krak, C. Wagg, H. Štorchová, P. Caklová, and M. Vosátkaa. 2013. Effects of inoculum additions in the presence of a preestablished arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community.
 Journal of Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 76(20):6507-6515. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02135-13
- Jaeger, C.H. III, R.K. Monson, M.C. Fisk, and S.K. Schmidt. 1999. Seasonal partitioning of nitrogen between plants and soil microorganisms in an alpine ecosystem. *Ecology* 80:1883-1891. doi:10.1890/0012-9658(1999)080[1883:SPONBP]2.0.CO;2

- Kahiluoto, H., E. Ketoja, M. Vestberg, and I. Saarela. 2001. Promotion of AM utilization through reduced P fertilization 2. Field studies. Plant and Soil. 231:65-79. doi: 10.1023/A:1010366400009.
- Kauffman, G.L., D.P. Kneivel, and T.L. Watshke. 2007. Effects of biostimulants on the heat tolerance associated with photosynthetic capacity, membrane thermostability, and polphenal production of perennial ryegrass. Crop Sci. 197: 409-417. doi:10.2135/cropsci2006.03.0171
- Khakpour, O., and J. Khara. 2012. Spore density and root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in some species in the northwest of Iran. International Research Journal of Applied and basic Sciences. 3(5):977-982.
- Kennedy, A.D. 1993. Water as a limiting factor in the Antarctic terrestrial environment: a biogeographical synthesis. Arctic and Alpine Research. 25:308–15. doi:10.1080/00040851.1993.12003017
- Köhl, L., C. Lukasiewicz, and M. Van der Heijden. 2016. Establishment and effectiveness of inoculated arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in agricultural soils. Plant, Cell and Environment. 39:136-146. doi: 10.1111/pce.12600
- Koske, R.E., and J.N. Gemma. 1989. A modified procedure for staining roots to detect VA mycorrhizas. Mycological Research. 92(4): 486-488. doi:10.1016/S0953-7562(89)80195-9.
- Kruger, M., S. Sigdel, C. Gasch, T. DeSutter, J. Harmon, and A. Chatterjee. 2020. Soil carbon dioxide efflux from amended saline and thermally desorbed oil-contaminated subsoil. Agrosystems, Geosciences, & Environment. 3:1-11. doi:10.1002/agg2.20100
- Kubartová, A., J. Ranger, J. Berthelin, and T. Beguiristain. 2009. Diversity and decomposing ability of saprophytic fungi from temperate forest litter. Microbial Ecology. 58:98-107. doi:10.1007/s00248-008-9458-8
- Kuzyakov, Y., P.W. Hill, D.L. Jones. 2006. Root exudate components change litter decomposition in a simulated rhizosphere depending on temperature. Plant and Soil. 290(1):293-305. doi:10.1007/s11104-006-9162-8
- Lal, R. 2015. Restoring soil quality to mitigate soil degradation. Sustainability. 7: 5875-5895. doi:10.3390/su7055875.
- Larney, F.J., and D.A. Angers. 2012. The role of organic amendments in soil reclamation: a review. Canadian Journal of Soil Science. 92:19-38. doi:10.4141/CJSS2010-064.

- Lewandowski, T.E., J.A. Forrester, D.J. Mladenoff, J.L. Stoffel, S.T. Gower, A.W. D'Amato, et al. 2015. Soil microbial community response and recovery following group selection harvest: Temporal patterns from an experimental harvest in a US northern hardwood forest. Forest Ecology and Management. 340:82-94. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.12.012
- Liu, W., Y. Zhang, S. Jiang, Y. Deng, P. Christie, P.J. Murray, et al. 2016. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil and roots respond differently to phosphorus inputs in an intensively managed calcareous agricultural soil. Scientific Reports. 6:24902. doi: 10.1038/srep24902
- Mawodza, T., M. Menon, H. Brooks, O.V. Magdysyuk, G. Burca, and S. Casson. 2021. Preferential wheat (Triticum aestivum. L cv. Fielder) root growth in difference sized aggregates. Soil & Tillage Research. 105054. doi:10.1016/j.still.2021.105054.
- Mummey, D.L., P.D. Stahl, and J.S. Buyer. 2002. Microbial biomarkers as an indicator of ecosystem recovery following surface mine reclamation. Appl. Soil Ecol. 21:251–259. doi:10.1016/S0929-1393(02)00090-2.
- Ngosong, C., E. Gabriel, and L. Ruess. 2012. Use of the signature fatty acid 16:1ω5 as a tool to determine the distribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil. Journal of Lipids. Volume 2012:236807, 8 pages. doi:10.1155/2012/236807.
- Nunes, M.R., H.M. van Es, R. Schindelback, A.J. Ristow, and M. Ryan. 2018. No-till and cropping system diversification improve soil health and crop yield. Geoderma. 328: 30-43. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.04.031
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, F.X.M. Casey, N.E. Derby, and A.F. Wick. 2016. Implications of using thermal desorption to remediate contaminated agricultural soil: Physical Characteristics and Hydraulic Processes. Journal of Environmental Quality. 45(4):1430-1436. Doi:10.2134/jeg2015.12.0607
- O'Brien, P.L., T.M. DeSutter, S.S. Ritter, F.X.M. Casey, A.F. Wick, E. Khan. 2017. Wheat growth in soils treated by ex situ thermal desorption. Journal of Environmental Quality. 46(4): 897-905. DOI: 10.2134/jeq2017.03.0115.

- Olsson, P.A., and A. Johansen. 2000. Lipid and fatty acid composition of hyphae and spores of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi at different growth stages. Mycological Research. 104(4):429-434. doi:10.1017/S0953756299001410
- Phillips, J.M., and D.S. Hayman. 1970. Improved procedures for clearing roots and staining parasitic and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for rapid assessment of infection. Transactions of the British Mycological Society. 55:158-161, IN16-IN18. doi:10.1016/S0007-1536(70)80110-3.
- Pinto, A.P., A.M. Mota, A. de Varennes, and F.C. Pinto. 2004. Influence of organic matter on the uptake of cadmium, zinc, copper and iron by sorghum plants. 326: 239-247. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.01.004
- Power, J.F., F.M. Sandoval, R.E. Ries, S.D. Merrill. 1981. Effects of topsoil and subsoil thickness on soil water content and crop production on a disturbed soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal. 45(1). doi:10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500010027x.
- Pribyl, D.W. 2010. A critical review of the conventional SOC to SOM conversion factor. Geoderma. 156: 75-83. doi:10.1016/j. geoderma.2010.02.003
- Prosser, J.I. 2005. Nitrogen in Soils | Nitrification. Encyclopedia of Soils in the Environment. Elsevier. doi:10.1016/BO-12-348530-4/00512-9.
- Ramirez, P., S. Fuentes-Alburquenue, B. Dietz, I. Vargas, and C.A. Bonilla. 2020. Soil microbial community responses to labile organic carbon fractions in relation to soil type and land use along a climate gradient. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 141:107692. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.107692
- Reicosky, D.C. 1997. Tillage-induced CO₂ emissions from soil. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems. 49:273-285. doi:10.1023/A:1009766510274
- Rui, Y., D.V. Murphy, X. Wang, and F.C. Hoyle. 2016. Microbial respiration, but not biomass, responded linearly to increasing light fraction organic matter input: Consequences for carbon sequestration. Scientific Reports. 6:1-9. doi:10.1038/srep35496.
- SAS Institute Inc. 2011. Base SAS® 9.4 Procedures Guide. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Shahabivand, S., A. Padash, A. Aghaee, Y. Nasiri, and P.F. Rezaei. 2018. Plant biostimulants (Funneliformis mosseae and humic substances) rather than chemical fertilizer improved biochemical responses in peppermint. 8(2):2333-2344. doi: 10.22034/ijpp.2018.539109

- Sigdal, S., A. Chatterjee, M. Berti, A. Wick, and C. Gasch. 2021. Interseeding cover crops in sugar beet. Field Crops Research. 263: 1080179. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2021.108079.
- Silva-Flores, P., C.G. Bueno, J. Neira, and G. Palfner. 2019. Factors affecting arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi spore density in the Chilean Mediterranean-type ecosystem. Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition. 19(1):42.50. doi:10.1007/s42729-018-0004-6
- Singh, J.S., and V.K. Gupta. 2018.Soil microbial biomass: a key soil driver in management of ecosystem functioning. Science of the Total Environment. 634: 497-500. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.373
- Sirrola, J.J. 2014. Speculations on global energy demand and supply going forward. Current Opinions in Chemical Engineering. 5: 96-100. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2014.07.002
- Smith, S.E., A.D. Robson, and L.K. Abbott. The involvement of mycorrhizas in assessment of genetically dependent efficiency of nutrient uptake and use. Plant and Soil. 146:169-179. doi: doi:10.1007/BF00012010
- Smith, S.E., I. Jakobsen, M. Grønlund, and F.A. Smith. 2011. Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant phosphorus nutrition: interactions between pathways of phosphorus uptake in arbuscular mycorrhizal roots have important implications for understanding and manipulating plant phosphorus acquisition. Plant physiology. 156(3):1050-1057. doi:10.1104/pp.111.174581
- Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture. 2020. Web Soil Survey. https://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov. Accessed [10/23/2019].
- Szparaga, A., M. Kubón, S. Kocira, E. Czerwi´nska, A. Pawłowska, P. Hara, et al. 2019. Towards sustainable agriculture-agronomic and economic effects of biostimulant use in common bean cultivation. Sustainability. 11(17). doi:10.3390/su11174575.
- Tejada, M., C. Benítez, I. Gómez, and J. Parrado. 2011b. Use of biostimulants on soil restoration: Effects on soil biochemical properties and microbial community. Applied Soil Ecology. 49:11-17. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2011.07.009
- Tejada, M., C. Benítez, and J. Parrado. 2011a. Application of biostimulants in benzo(α)pyrene polluted soils: Short-time effects on soil biochemical properties. Applied Soil Ecology. 50:21-26. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2011.08.002

- Thavamani, P., R.A. Samkumar, V. Satheesh, S.R. Subashchandrabose, K. Ramadass, R. Naidu, et al.
 2017. Microbes from mined sites: harnessing their potential for reclamation of derelict mine sites.
 J. Eviron. Polution. 230:495-505. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2017.06.056
- Thierron, V., and H. Laudelout. 1996. Contributions of root respiration to total CO₂ efflux from the soil of a deciduous. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 26(7): 1142-1148. doi:10.1139/x26-127
- Tuttobene, R., G. Avola, F. Gresta, and V. Abbate. Industrial orange waste as organic fertililzer in durum wheat. Agronomy for Sustainable Development. 29: 557-563. doi:10.1051/agro/2009014.
- US Environmental Protection Agency. EPA seeking comments on updated plant biostimulants guidance. Office of Chemical Safety and Pollution Prevention: Washington, DC, 2020. https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2020-11/documents/pbs-guidance-updated-draft-guidancedocument-2020-11-13_0.pdf
- US Salinity Laboritory Staff. 1954. Diagnosis and improvement of saline and alkali soils. US Department of Agriculture Handbook 60. Washington, DC.

https://www.ars.usda.gov/ARSUserFiles/20360500/hb60_pdf/hb60complete.pdf

- Van Oosten, M.J., O. Pepe, S. De Pascale, S. Silletti, and A. Maggio. 2017. The role of biostimulants and bioeffectors as alleviators of abiotic stress in crop plants. Chemical and Biological Technologies in Agriculture. 4(1):1-12. doi:10.1186/s40538-017-0089-5
- Wagai, R., K.R. Brye, S.T. Gower, J.M. Norman, and L.G. Bundy. 1998. Land use and environmental factors influencing soil surface CO2 flux and microbial biomass in natural and managed ecosystems in southern Wisconsin. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 30(12):1501-1509. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(98)00041-8.
- Watson, M.E., and Brown, J.R. 1998. pH and lime requirement. In J. R. Brown. Recommended chemical soil test procedures for the North Central region. NCR Publ. 221. Columbia, MO: Missouri Agric. Exp. Stn
- Yang, H., Y. Yuan, Q. Zhang, J. Tang, Y. Liu, and X. Chen. 2011. Changes in soil organic carbon, total nitrogen, and abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi along a large-scale aridity gradient. Catena. 87:70-77. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2011.05.009

- Yang, M., Y. Le, Y. Li, S.X. Change, T. Yue, W. Fu, et al. 2017. Effects of inorganic and organic fertilizers on soil CO2 efflux and labile organic carbon pools in an intensively managed moso bamboo (Phyllostachys pubescens) plantation in subtropical China. Soil Science and Plant Analysis. 48(3):332-344. doi:10.1080/00103624.2016.1269802
- Zanatta, J.A., C. Buyer, J. Dieckow, F.C.B. Vieira, and J. Mielniczuk. 2007. Soil organic carbon accumulation and carbon costs related to tillage, cropping systems and nitrogen fertilization in a subtropical Acrisol. Soil and Tillage Research. 94(2):510-519. https:/doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2006.10.003
- Zhang, B., H. Wang, S. Yao, and L. Bi. 2013. Litter quantity confers soil functional resilience through mediating soil biophysical habitat and microbial community structure on an eroded bare land restored with mono *Pinus massoniana*. Soil Biol. Biochem. 57:556-567. doi:pyrol10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.07.024.

OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

The objective of this research was to 1) investigate how thermal remediation vs natural degradation influenced soil biological recovery following crude oil-contamination and 2) observe the effects of biostimulant products on soil biological properties in disturbed soils. The findings suggest topsoil and/or SOC concentrations in reclaimed soil drives soil biological recovery greater than either remediation method. Additionally, blending topsoil and subsoil (1:1) was successful in significantly improving soil biological function recovery, which is important because soil biological processes are necessary to restore to rebuild nutrient pools, SOC, and sustainable land uses. However, although thermally treated and naturally degraded soils may be similar from a soil ecological perspective, the alteration of subsoil properties following TD allowed for greater sorghum growth compared to the contaminated subsoil when environmental conditions were met, and may not be observed if different crops are produced. Further, although biostimulants likely do not influence soil biological properties as significantly as topsoil concentration, their use still significantly influenced nutrient pools, plant growth, and soil microbial abundance compared to the control. Biostimulants may play a vital role in improving reclamation success by encouraging microbial function and plant growth, but further field evaluations of biostimulants in reclamation settings are needed to fully validate their potential use (or economical feasibility) in reclamation, and to determine how different ingredient mixtures or rates can be utilized for a desired outcome. From this research, a best-case scenario for reclamation may include the application of biostimulants to blended topsoil and subsoil to enable greater short-term biological property recovery, and not only does this present an opportunity to conserve fragile topsoil resources by reducing the quantity of topsoil entering landfills and the cost being acquiring new topsoil by allowing degraded or less-ideal subsoils to be utilized, but it may allow greater long-term soil function.

APPENDIX

Table A1. List of fatty acid chain biomarkers used for Gram positive (Gram+) and Gram negative (Gram-) bacteria abundances and the Gram+ : Gram- ratio.

Gram	ן+	Gram-					
11:0 iso	18:0 10-methyl	10:0 2OH	16:0 2OH	19:1 w7c			
11:0 anteiso	19:1 w7c 10-methyl	10:0 3OH	18:1 w8c	19:1 w6c			
12:0 iso	20:0 10-methyl	12:1 w8c	16:1 w9c	19:0 cyclo w7c			
12:0 anteiso	17:1 iso w9c	12:1 w5c	16:1 w7c	19:0 cyclo w6c			
13:0 iso	17:0 iso	13:1 w5c	14:0 3OH	20:1 w9c			
13:0 anteiso	17:0 anteiso	13:1 w4c	16:1 w6c	20:1 w8c			
14:1 iso w7c	18:0 iso	13:1 w3c	16:1 w4c	20:1 w6c			
14:0 iso	17:1 iso w10c	12:0 2OH	16:1 w3c	20:1 w4c			
14:0 anteiso	17:1 anteiso w9c	14:1 w9c	17:1 w9c	20:0 cyclo w6c			
15:1 iso w9c	17:1 anteiso w7c	14:1 w8c	17:1 w8c	21:1 w9c			
15:1 iso w6c	19:0 cyclo w9c	14:1 w7c	17:1 w7c	21:1 w8c			
15:1 anteiso w9c	19:0 iso	14:1 w5c	17:1 w6c	21:1 w6c			
15:0 iso 15:0 anteiso	19:0 anteiso	15:1 w9c	17:0 cyclo w7c	21:1 w5c			
17:0 10-methyl	20:0 iso	15:1 w8c	17:1 w5c	21:1 w4c			
22:0 10-methyl	22:0 iso	15:1 w7c	18:1 w7c	21:1 w3c			
18:1 w7c 10-methyl		15:1 w6c	18:1 w6c	22:1 w9c			
17:0 10-methyl		15:1 w5c	18:1 w5c	22:1 w8c			
22:0 10-methyl		14:0 2OH	18:1 w3c	22:1 w6c			
18:1 w7c 10-methyl		17:1 w4c	19:1 w9c	22:1 w5c			
		17:1 w3c	19:1 w8c				